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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024
or
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number 001-34018

GRAN TIERRA ENERGY INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
Delaware 98-0479924

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
500 Centre Street S.E.
Calgary, Alberta Canada T2G 1A6

(Address of principal executive offices, including zip code)

(403) 265-3221
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Trading Symbol(s) Name of each exchange on which registered

Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share GTE NYSE American

Toronto Stock Exchange

London Stock Exchange

Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.
Yes (0 No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act.
Yes O No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12
months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes X No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this
chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files).
Yes X No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company or an emerging growth
company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer”, “smaller reporting company” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer O Accelerated filer
Non-accelerated filer O Smaller reporting company O
Emerging growth company O
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If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial
accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange
Act. O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting
under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report.

If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included in the filing reflect the correction of
an error to previously issued financial statements. O

Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation received by any of the
registrant’s executive officers during the relevant recovery period pursuant
to §240.10D-1(b). ]}

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).  Yes [ No

The aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates as of June 30, 2023 June 30, 2024, the last business day of the registrant’s most
recently completed second fiscal quarter, was approximately $158.9 million $291.5 million.

On February 15, 2024 February 20, 2025, 32,246,501 35,888,773 shares of the registrant's Common Stock with $0.001 par value were outstanding.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
The information required by Part Ill of this report, to the extent not set forth herein, is incorporated by reference from the registrant’s definitive proxy statement relating to the

2024 2025 annual meeting of stockholders, which definitive proxy statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after December 31,
2023 December 31, 2024.

Auditor Name: KPMG LLP Auditor Location: Calgary, Canada Auditor Firm ID: 85
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Year Ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024
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CAUTIONARY LANGUAGE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act’). All statements other than statements of historical facts included in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K regarding our financial position, estimated quantities and net present values of reserves, business strategy, plans and objectives of our management for future
operations, covenant compliance, capital spending plans and benefits of the changes in our capital program or expenditures, our liquidity and financial condition and those
statements preceded by, followed by or that otherwise include the words “believe”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “intend”, “estimate”, “project”, “target”, “goal”, “plan”, “budget”, “objective”,
“should”, “outlook” or similar expressions or variations on these expressions are forward-looking statements. We can give no assurances that the assumptions upon which the
forward-looking statements are based will prove to be correct or that, even if correct, intervening circumstances will not occur to cause actual results to be different than expected.
Because forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties, actual results may differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements.
There are a number of risks, uncertainties and other important factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements, including, but not
limited to, our ability to successfully integrate the assets and operations of i3 Energy Plc (“i3Energy”) and realize the anticipated benefits and operating synergies expected from the
acquisition of i3 Energy; certain our operations are located in South America and unexpected problems can arise due to guerilla activity, strikes, local blockades or protests;
technical difficulties and operational difficulties may arise which impact the production, transport or sale of our products; other disruptions to local operations; global health events;
global and regional changes in the demand, supply, prices, differentials or other market conditions affecting oil and natural gas, including inflation and changes resulting from a
global health crisis, geopolitical events, including the ongoing conflicts in Ukraine and the Gaza region, or from the imposition or lifting of crude oil production quotas or other actions
that might be imposed by OPEC, such as its decision in June 2023 to cut production and other producing countries and the resulting company or third-party actions in response to
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such changes; changes in commodity prices, including volatility or a prolonged decline in these prices relative to historical or future expected levels; the risk that current global
economic and credit conditions may impact oil prices and oil consumption more than we currently predict which could cause further modification of our strategy and capital spending
program; prices and markets for oil and natural gas are unpredictable and volatile; the effect of hedges; the accuracy of productive capacity of any particular field; geographic,
political and weather conditions can impact the production, transport or sale of our products; our ability to execute its our business plan, which may include acquisitions and realize
expected benefits from current or future initiatives; the risk that unexpected delays and difficulties in developing currently owned properties may occur; the ability to replace reserves
and production and develop and manage reserves on an economically viable basis; the accuracy of testing and production results and seismic data, pricing and cost estimates
(including with respect to commodity pricing and exchange rates); the risk profile of planned exploration activities; the effects of drilling down-dip; the effects of waterflood and multi-
stage fracture stimulation operations, the extent and effect of delivery disruptions, equipment performance and costs; actions by third parties; the timely receipt of regulatory or other
required approvals for our operating activities; the failure of exploratory drilling to result in commercial wells; unexpected delays due to the limited availability of drilling equipment
and personnel; volatility or declines in the trading price of our common stock or bonds; the risk that we do not receive the anticipated benefits of government programs, including
government tax refunds; our ability to access debt or equity capital markets from time to time to raise additional capital, increase liquidity, fund acquisitions or refinance debt; our
ability to comply with financial covenants in our indentures and make borrowings under any future credit agreement; and those factors set out in Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors” in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. The information included herein is given as of the filing date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”) and, except as otherwise required by the securities laws, we disclaim any obligation or undertaking to publicly release any updates or revisions to, or to withdraw, any
forward-looking statement contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to reflect any change in our expectations with regard thereto or any change in events, conditions or
circumstances on which any forward-looking statement is based.

GLOSSARY OF OIL AND GAS TERMS

In this report, the abbreviations set forth below have the following meanings:

bbl barrel Mcf thousand cubic feet
Mbbl thousand barrels MMcf million cubic feet
MMbbl million barrels Bcf billion cubic feet
BOE barrels of oil equivalent BOPD barrels of oil per day
MMBOE million barrels of oil equivalent NAR net after royalty
BOEPD barrels of oil equivalent per day NGL natural gas liquids

Sales volumes represent production NAR adjusted for inventory changes and losses. Our oil and natural gas reserves are reported NAR. Our production is also reported NAR,
except as otherwise specifically noted as “working interest production

before royalties”. Gas Natural gas volumes are converted to BOE at the rate of 6 Mcf of natural gas per bbl of oil, based upon the approximate relative energy

content of gas and oil. The rate is not necessarily indicative of the relationship between oil and natural gas prices. BOEs may be misleading, particularly if used in isolation. A BOE
conversion ratio of 6 Mcf:1 bbl is based on an energy equivalency conversion method primarily applicable at the burner tip and does not represent a value equivalency at the
wellhead.

Below are explanations of some commonly used terms in the oil and natural gas business and in this report.

Developed acres. The number of acres that are allocated or assignable to producing wells or wells capable of production.

Development well. A well drilled within the proved area of an oil or natural gas reservoir to the depth of a stratigraphic horizon known to be productive.
Dry hole. Exploratory or development well that does not produce oil or natural gas in commercial quantities.

Exploitation activities. The process of the recovery of fluids from reservoirs and drilling and development of oil and natural gas reserves.

Exploration well. An exploration well is a well drilled to find a new field or new reservoir in a field previously found to be productive of oil or natural gas in another reservoir.
Generally, an exploratory well is any well that is not a development well, an extension well, a service well, or a stratigraphic test well.

Field. An area consisting of a single reservoir or multiple reservoirs all grouped on or related to the same individual geological structural feature and/or stratigraphic condition.
Gross acres or gross wells. The total acres or wells in which we own a working interest.
Net acres or net wells. The sum of the fractional working interests we own in gross acres or gross wells expressed as whole numbers and fractions of whole numbers.

Possible reserves. Possible reserves are those additional reserves that are less certain to be recovered than probable reserves. The SEC provides a complete definition of possible
reserves in Rule 4-10(a)(17) of Regulation S-X.
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Probable reserves. Probable reserves are those additional reserves that are less certain to be recovered than proved reserves but that, together with proved reserves, are as likely
as not to be recovered. The SEC provides a complete definition of probable reserves in Rule 4-10(a)(18) of Regulation S-X.

Productive well. A well that is found to be capable of producing hydrocarbons in sufficient quantities such that proceeds from the sale of such production exceed production
expenses and taxes.

Proved developed reserves. In general, reserves that can be expected to be recovered from existing wells with existing equipment and operating methods. The SEC provides a
complete definition of developed oil and natural gas reserves in Rule 4-10(a)(6) of Regulation S-X.

Proved reserves. Those quantities of oil and natural gas, which, by analysis of geoscience and engineering data, can be estimated with reasonable certainty to be economically
producible from a given date forward, from known reservoirs and under existing economic conditions, operating methods and government regulations prior to the time at which
contracts providing the right to operate expire, unless evidence indicates that renewal is reasonably certain, regardless of whether deterministic or probabilistic methods are used for
the estimation. The project to extract the hydrocarbons must have commenced or the operator must be reasonably certain that it will commence the project within a reasonable time.
(i) The area of the reservoir considered as proved includes:

(A) The area identified by drilling and limited by fluid contacts, if any, and

(B) Adjacent undrilled portions of the reservoir that can, with reasonable certainty, be judged to be continuous with it and to contain economically producible oil or natural gas on

the basis of available geoscience and engineering data.

(i) In the absence of data on fluid contacts, proved quantities in a reservoir are limited by the lowest known hydrocarbons (“LKH") as seen in a well penetration unless geoscience,

engineering, or performance data and reliable technology establishes a lower contact with reasonable certainty.

(iii) Where direct observation from well penetrations has defined a highest known oil (‘HKO") elevation and the potential exists for an associated natural gas cap, proved oil reserves
may be assigned in the structurally higher portions of the reservoir only

if geoscience, engineering, or performance data and reliable technology establish the higher contact with reasonable certainty.

(iv) Reserves which can be produced economically through the application of improved recovery techniques (including, but not limited to, fluid injection) are included in the proved
classification when:

(A) Successful testing by a pilot project in an area of the reservoir with properties no more favorable than in the reservoir as a whole, the operation of an installed program in the
reservoir or an analogous reservoir, or other evidence using reliable technology establishes the reasonable certainty of the engineering analysis on which the project or
program was based; and

(B) The project has been approved for development by all necessary parties and entities, including governmental entities.

(v) Existing economic conditions include prices and costs at which economic producibility from a reservoir is to be determined. The price shall be the average price during the 12-
month period prior to the ending date of the period covered by the report, determined as an unweighted arithmetic average of the first-day-of-the month price for each month
within such period, unless prices are defined by contractual arrangements, excluding escalations based upon future conditions.

Proved undeveloped reserves. In general, reserves that are expected to be recovered from new wells on undrilled acreage or from existing wells where a relatively major
expenditure is required for recompletion. The SEC provides a complete definition of undeveloped oil and natural gas reserves in Rule 4-10(a)(31) of Regulation S-X.

Reserves. Reserves are estimated remaining quantities of oil and natural gas and related substances anticipated to be economically producible, as of a given date, by application of
development projects to known accumulations. In addition, there must exist, or there must be a reasonable expectation that there will exist, the legal right to produce or a revenue
interest in the production, installed means of delivering oil and natural gas or related substances to market, and all permits and financing required to implement the project.

Undeveloped acreage. Lease acreage on which wells have not been drilled or completed to a point that would permit the production of economic quantities of oil and natural gas
regardless of whether such acreage contains proved reserves.

Working interest. The operating interest that gives the owner the right to drill, produce and conduct operating activities on the property and a share of production and requires the
owner to pay a share of the costs of drilling and production operations.

PART |
Items 1 and 2. Business and Properties
General
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Gran Tierra Energy Inc., together with its subsidiaries (“Gran Tierra”, “the Company”, “us”, “our”, or “we"), is a company focused on oil and gas exploration and production, with
assets currently in Colombia, Canada and Ecuador. Our Colombian properties represented 94% 47%, our Canadian properties represented 46% and our Ecuadorian properties
represented 7% of our proved reserves NAR at December 31, 2023. For December 31, 2024 and for the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 97% (2022 93% (2023
- 100% 97%, 2022 -100%) of our revenue was generated in Colombia. Colombia, 3% of our revenue was generated in Canada (2023 and 2022 - nil) and 4% (2023 - 3%, 2022 - nil)
of our revenue was generated in Ecuador.

We were incorporated under the laws of the State of Nevada in June 2008 2003 and changed our state of incorporation to the State of Delaware in October 2016.

All dollar ($) amounts referred to in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are United States (U.S.) dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

On May 5, 2023, the Company completed a 1-for-10 reverse stock split of the Company’s Common Stock. As a result of the reverse stock split, every ten of the Company’s issued
shares of Common Stock were automatically combined into one issued share of Common Stock, without any change to the par value per share. All share and per share numbers in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K have been adjusted to reflect the reverse stock split.

20232024 Operational Highlights

During the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we drilled 2530 wells (17 (23 development, and eight water injectors) seven exploration), all 14 in Colombia, nine in
Canada (six net) and seven in Ecuador and incurred capital expenditures of $218.9234.2 million, the majority of which$141.6 million were incurred in Colombia. Colombia, $79.4
million in Ecuador and $12.5 million in Canada with remainder comprised of administrative assets incurred by the corporate entity.

We drilled eightseven development and five one water injector wells in Midas Block and nine three development and three water injector wells in Chaza Block. Block in Colombia,
seven exploration wells in Ecuador and nine gross (six net) development wells in Canada. As at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, of the 17 development wells drilled during
the year, two seven (four net) were in-progress and the remainder were producing.

20242025 Outlook

Our Colombian, Canadian and Ecuadorian development operation isoperations are expected to represent approximately 5293%%, 37% and 11% of our production and
approximately 60% - 70% of our 2024 capital budget, with the remainder allocated to exploration activities. 2025 production.

The table below shows the break-down of our 2024 2025 capital program:

Number of Wells Number of Wells 2024 Capital Budget
(Gross) (Net) ($ million)

Development - Colombia 13-17 12-16 130 - 140

Exploration - Colombia and Ecuador 6-9 6-9 80 - 100

19-26 18-25 210 - 240

Number of Wells Number of Wells 2025 Capital Budget
(Gross) (Net) ($ million)

Development - Colombia 4-6 2-3 105 - 120
Development - Ecuador 2 2 35-45
Development - Canada 4-6 2-3 35-45
Exploration, Colombia and Ecuador 6-8 6-8 65-70
16 - 22 12-16 240 - 280

Our base capital program for 2024 2025 is $210 million $240 million to $240 million $280 million for exploration and development activities. Based on the mid-point of the 2024 2025
guidance, the capital budget is forecasted to be approximately 60% - 70% 75% directed to development activities and 40% - 30% 25% directed to exploration activities.
Approximately 20% 30% of the development activities included in the 2024 2025 capital program are expected to be directed to facilities to support future production growth and
enhance recovery factors.

We expect our 2024 2025 capital program to be fully funded by cash flows from operations. Funding this program from cash flows from operations relies in part on average Brent oil
prices being $70 of $75.00 per bblboe, WTI oil prices of $71.00 per boe and average AECO natural gas prices of C$2.50 per mcf for 2024. 2025.

Business Strategy
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We are an international exploration and production company focused on hydrocarbon development in proven, under-explored conventional basins which have access to established
infrastructure and competitive fiscal regimes. Our mandate is to develop high-value resource opportunities to deliver top-quartile returns. We intend to continue to high-grade our
portfolio, with a continued focus on operational excellence, safety, and stakeholder returns. The senior management team has a proven track record in developing technically
difficult reservoirs, enhanced oil recovery, and operating in remote locations in demanding jurisdictions. We aim to have a meaningful and sustainable impact through social
investments within the communities we operate. Our “Beyond Compliance Policy” focuses on our commitments to environmental, social, and governance excellence.

Oil and Gas Properties - Colombia and Ecuador

l#.2024 10K South America.jpg

As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, excluding blocks subject to relinquishment, we had interests in 22 blocks in Colombia, three blocks in Ecuador, and are the operator
of 24 of these blocks.

Oil and Natural Gas Properties - Canada
l#.GTE Alberta Canada Map February 2025 HALF MAP jpg.jpg

As of December 31, 2024, we had interests in 12 blocks in Canada and are the operator on average 63% across all areas of operations.

Exploration Blocks & Commitments

The following table provides a summary of our exploration commitments for certain blocks as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024:
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Basin Block Current Phase Remaining Commitments, Current Phase

Colombia
Putumayo Alea N/A** exploration area evaluation program
1848-A
Putumayo PUT-1 2* two exploration wells
Putumayo PUT-4 1* one exploration well
Putumayo PUT-7 2 two exploration wells
Putumayo PUT-10 1* 73 km 2D seismic, two exploration wells
Putumayo PUT-31 1* 201.9 km 2D seismic, one exploration well
Putumayo NBM N/A** two exploration wells
Llanos LLA-1 1* 98 kmz 3D seismic, one exploration well
Llanos LLA-22 1&2* 85 kmz 3D seismic, one exploration well (45% working interest)
Llanos LLA-70 1* 163 kmz 3D seismic, one exploration well
Llanos LLA-85 1 one exploration well
MMV VMM-24 1 50 kmz 3D seismic, 100 km 2D sei.smic reprocessing, 100 km aerogeophysics, 100 kmz remote
sensing, 80 kmz surface geochemistry, one exploration well
Ecuador
Oriente Charapa 1 20 km 2D seismic, 238 km2 3D seismic, five two exploration wells wells***
Oriente Chanangue 1 four exploration wells exploratory commitments fulfilled ****
Oriente Iguana 1 two exploration wells

«As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, exploration has been suspended due to licensing restrictions, security issues or social reasons.
= As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, exploration commitments in the exploration block are not subject to phasing.

*** 20km 2D seismic, 238kmz2 3D seismic acquired in 2024 and three exploration wells drilled in 2024 (Charapa B56, Charapa B7 and Charapa i8).
**+% Four exploration wells drilled in 2024: Arawana J1, Bocachico Norte J1, Zabaleta K1, Zabaleta Oeste K1.

Royalties

Colombian royalties are regulated under Colombia Law 756 of 2002, as modified by Law 1530 of 2012. All discoveries made subsequent to the enactment of Law 756 of 2002 have
the sliding scale royalty described below. Discoveries made before the enactment of Law 756 of 2002 have a royalty of 20% and in the case of such discoveries under association
contracts reverted to the national government, an additional 12% applies for a total royalty of 32%.

The Agencia Nacional de Hidrocarburos (National Hydrocarbons Agency) (“ANH") contracts have royalties that are based on a sliding scale described in Law 756 of 2002. These
royalties work on an individual oil field basis starting with a base royalty rate of 8% for gross production of less than 5,000 BOPD, BOEPD, increasing in a linear fashion from 8% to
20% for gross production between 5,000 and 125,000 BOPD BOEPD and is fixed at 20% for gross production between 125,000 and 400,000 BOPD. BOEPD. For gross production
between 400,000 and 600,000 BOPD BOEPD the rate increases in a linear fashion from 20% to 25%. For gross production

in excess of 600,000 BOPDBOEPD the royalty rate is fixed at 25%. The Santana and Nancy-Burdine-Maxine Blocks have fixed rates for existing production of 32% and 20%,
respectively. New discoveries and incremental production are subject to sliding scale royalties duly approved by the ANH. In addition to the sliding scale royalty, there are additional
x-factor economic rights of 1%

for Llanos-22, Putumayo-4, Putumayo-7, Putumayo-21 and VMM-24; 2% for Llanos-85; 3% for VMM-2, 5% for Putumayo-1; 12% for Putumayo-31; 31% for Llanos-1 and Llanos-70.

For natural gas fields, the royalty is based on an individual natural gas field basis starting with a base royalty rate of 6.4% for gross production of less than 28.5 MMcf of natural gas
per day. The royalty increases in a linear fashion from 6.4% to 16% for gross production between 28.5 MMcf of natural gas per day and 712.5 MMcf of natural gas per day and is
stable at 16% for gross production between 712.5 to 2,280 MMcf of natural gas per day, and then increases in a linear fashion from 16% to 20% for gross production between 2,280
to 3,420 MMcf of natural gas per day. For gross production in excess of 3,420 MMcf of natural gas per day the royalty rate is fixed at 20%.

Additional high price rights (“HPR") are applicable to exploration and production contracts signed under the new ANH oil regulatory regime in 2004 and onwards when cumulative
gross production (net of royalty) from an Exploitation Area is greater than 5 MMbbls of oil and WTI reference price exceeds the trigger price defined in the contract. The HPR is
calculated using the associated production multiplied by the Q factor, which is calculated as follows:

Q factor = (WT]I price - Base Price (1))/WTI Price * S
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) Base Price is determined annually by the ANH, based on a formula defined in the contract. For 2023 2024 and 2022, 2023, the base price was set as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022

2024 2023
Quality (Oil API) Quality (Oil API) Base Price ($/bbl) Quality (Oil API) Base Price ($/boe)
<100 <100 Nil Nil <100 Nil Nil
100 to 150 100 to 150 64.54 58.67 100 to 150 68.69 64.54
150 to 220 150 to 220 45.18 41.07 150 to 220 48.08 45.18
220 t0 29 220 t0 2% 43.56 39.60 220 t0 29 46.36 43.56
> 2% > 2% 41.93 38.12 > 2% 44.62 41.93

At December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, HPR was applicable to our production from the Costayaco and Moqueta Exploitation Areas in the Chaza Block and the Acordionero
Exploitation Area in the Midas Block. In January 2023, Llanos-22 reached accumulated production of 5 MMbbls which triggered its HPR.

(2 S percentage of HPR participation is 30% flat for Chaza and Midas Blocks. For Llanos-22, the percentage is variable compared to WTI price as per below:

S percentage

Base Price < WTI < 2x Base Price 30%
2x Base Price < WTI < 3x Base Price 35%
3x Base Price < WTI < 4x Base Price 40%
4x Base Price < WTI < 5x Base Price 45%
5x Base Price < WTI 50%

In addition to these government royalties and rights, our original interests in the Guayuyaco and Chaza Blocks acquired on our entry into Colombia in 2006 are subject to a third
party royalty. The additional interests in Guayuyaco and Chaza that we acquired on the acquisition of Solana in 2008 are not subject to this third party royalty. The overriding royalty
rights start with a 2% rate on working interest production less government royalties. For new commercial fields discovered within 10 years of the agreement date and after a
prescribed threshold is reached, Crosby Capital, LLC (“Crosby”) reserves the right to convert the overriding royalty rights to a net profit interest (“NPI”). This NPI ranges from 7.5% to
10% of working interest production less sliding scale government royalties, as described above, and operating and overhead costs. No adjustment is made for the HPR. On certain
pre-existing fields, Crosby does not have the right to convert its overriding royalty rights to a NPI. In addition, there
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are conditional overriding royalty rights that apply only to the pre-existing fields. Currently, we are subject to a 10% NPI on 50% of our working interest production from the
Costayaco and Moqueta fields in the Chaza Block and 35% of our working interest production from the Juanambu field in the Guayuyaco Block and overriding royalties on our
working interest production from the Guayuyaco field in the Guayuyaco Block.

The Putumayo-7 and Putumayo-1 Blocks are also subject to a third party royalty in addition to the government royalties and rights. Pursuant to the terms of the agreement by which
the interests in the Putumayo-7 Block were acquired, a 10% royalty on production from the Putumayo-7 Block is payable to a third party. The terms of the royalty allow for
transportation costs, marketing and handling fees, government royalties (including royalties payable to the ANH pursuant to Section 39 of the contract for the Putumayo-7 Block -
the “Rights Due to High Prices”) and taxes, other than taxes measured by the income of any party, value-added tax (“VAT”") or any equivalent, to be paid in cash or kind to the
Government of Colombia (or any federal, state, regional or local government agency) and ANH, and a 1% ‘X’ factor payment to be deducted from production revenue prior to the
royalty being paid to a third party. Pursuant to the terms of the agreement by which the interests in the Putumayo-1 Block were acquired, a 3% royalty on production from the
Putumayo-1 Block is payable to a third party. The terms of the royalty do not allow for any costs, royalties, and taxes to be deducted from production revenue.

We currently hold Participation Sharing Contracts (“PSC”) for the three Blocks (Charapa, Chanangue and Iguana) in the Oriente Basin in Ecuador. Unlike traditional PSCs, these
contracts do not include cost oil or royalties. Instead, the entire production is placed into a profit-sharing pool that is split between the Company and the government based on a
percentage derived from a biddable price component and a production component. The biddable price component is a sliding scale that is based on the Oriente oil price ranging
from $30 per bblboe to $120 per bbl, boe, with the Company’s production share varying between 87.5% and 40%, respectively. The Company’s share in production would only drop
below 50% if the Oriente oil prices exceed $100 per bbl. boe. The production component is a tier-based mechanic increasing from 0% to 6% based on the PSC's daily production.
For the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, the share of production retained by the government of Ecuador was recorded as royalties in-kind.

The royalty calculation in Canada is a significant factor in the profitability of Canadian oil and natural gas production. Oil and natural gas crown royalties are determined by provincial
and territorial government regulation and are generally calculated as a percentage of the value of the gross production, net of allowed deductions. The royalty rate is dependent in
part on prescribed reference prices, well productivity, geographical locations, recovery methods, as well as type and quality of the hydrocarbon produced. For pre-payout oil and
natural gas projects, the regulations prescribe lower royalty rates for oil and natural gas projects until allowable incentive programs have been depleted and capital costs have been
recovered. The calculation for wells post payout is based on a percentage of production net of allowed deductions and varies with commodity price.
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The Alberta royalty regime governs the compensation oil and natural gas producers pay to the provincial government for extracting resources, ensuring revenues for the province
while promoting industry investment and competitiveness. For conventional oil and natural gas, royalties are calculated using a sliding scale that considers commaodity prices,
production volumes, and well characteristics such as depth and density. Higher prices and production levels result in higher royalty rates, while lower production or market prices
trigger reduced rates. Conventional oil royalties can range from 0% to 40%, while natural gas royalties are similarly adjusted based on productivity, price, and natural gas
composition. Newly drilled wells benefit from an initial flat 5% royalty rate for the first 12 months or until they reach a specified production cap, enabling quicker cost recovery. The
Modernized Royalty Framework, introduced in 2017, applies to wells drilled on or after January 1, 2017. Under this system, producers initially pay a flat 5% royalty rate until
cumulative revenues equal standardized well drilling and completion costs, known as the "C* cost allowance." Once these costs are recovered, royalties increase on a sliding scale
based on commodity prices and production levels, ensuring the system adjusts to economic conditions while maintaining a stable revenue stream for the province. To further
encourage resource development, Alberta’s regime includes targeted incentives, such as royalty reductions for enhanced oil recovery projects and credits for deep drilling,
particularly in natural gas exploration. These measures balance the province’s economic interests with the need to attract ongoing investment and maintain competitiveness in the
energy sector. All of the Company’s Canadian production is in Alberta and all wells drilled in 2024 were in Alberta.

Administrative Facilities

Our principal executive office is located in Calgary, Alberta, Canada. The Our principle Calgary office lease leases will expire on November 30, 2028. As part of acquisition of i3
Energy Plc we assumed an office lease for our Canadian operations in Calgary, Alberta, Canada which has an expiration date of December 31, 2025. Our Office leases in Colombia
and Ecuador will expire on February 28, 2026, and June 30, 2025 May 31, 2029, respectively.
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Estimated Reserves

Our 20232024 reserves were independently prepared by McDaniel & Associates (“McDaniel”). McDaniel was established in 1955 as an independent Canadian consulting firm and
has been providing oil and natural gas reserves evaluation services to the world’s petroleum industry for the past 6070 years. They have internationally recognized expertise in
reserves evaluations, resource assessments, geological studies, and acquisition and disposition advisory services. McDaniel's office is located in Calgary, Canada. The technical
person primarily responsible for the preparation of our reserves estimates at McDaniel meets the requirements regarding qualifications, independence, objectivity, and confidentiality
set forth in the Standards Pertaining to the Estimating and Auditing of Oil and Natural Gas Reserves Information promulgated by the Society of Petroleum Engineers.

The primary internal technical person in charge of overseeing the preparation of our reserve estimates is the Vice President, Asset Management. Chief Operating Officer. He has a
Bachelor of Geological Engineering, graduating with Great Distinction, from University of Waterloo and a Masters of Chemical Engineering (petroleum). He is responsible for our
engineering activities, including reserves reporting, asset evaluation, reservoir management, and field development. He has over 30 20 years of experience in the oil and natural gas
industry with extensive experience in reservoir management, production, and operations.

All of our reserves are evaluated by an independent reservoir engineering firm, at least annually. We have developed internal controls over estimation and evaluation of reserves.
Our internal controls over reserve estimates include an independent internal review of assumptions used for reserve estimates and presentation of the results of this internal review
to our reserves committee. Calculations and data are reviewed at several levels of the Company to ensure consistent and appropriate standards and procedures. Our policies are
applied to all staff involved in generating and reporting reserve estimates including geological, engineering and finance personnel.

The process of estimating oil and natural gas reserves is complex and requires significant judgment, as discussed in Item 1A “Risk Factors”. The reserve estimation process
requires us to use significant decisions and assumptions in the evaluation of available geological, geophysical, engineering, and economic data for each property. Therefore, the
accuracy of the reserve estimates is dependent on the quality of the data, the accuracy of the assumptions based on the data, and the interpretations and judgment related to the
data.

Proved reserves are reserves which, by analysis of geoscience and engineering data, can be estimated with reasonable certainty to be economically producible from a given date
forward from known reservoirs under existing economic conditions, operating methods, and government regulations prior to the time at which contracts providing the right to operate
expires, unless evidence indicates that renewal is reasonably certain. The term “reasonable certainty” implies a high degree of confidence that the quantities of oil or natural gas
actually recovered will equal or exceed the estimate. To achieve reasonable certainty, we and the independent reserve engineers employed technologies that have been
demonstrated to yield results with consistency and repeatability. Estimates of proved reserves are generated through the integration of relevant geological, engineering, and
production data, utilizing technologies that have been demonstrated in the field to yield repeatable and consistent results as defined by the SEC regulations. Data used in these
integrated assessments included information obtained directly from the subsurface through wellbores, such as well logs, reservoir core samples, fluid samples, static and dynamic
pressure information, production test data, and surveillance and performance information. The data utilized also included subsurface information obtained through indirect
measurements, such as seismic data. The tools used to interpret the data included proprietary and commercially available seismic processing software and commercially available
reservoir modeling and simulation software. Reservoir parameters from analogous reservoirs were used to increase the quality of and confidence in the reserves estimates when
available. The method or combination of methods used to estimate the reserves of each reservoir was based on the unique circumstances of each reservoir and the dataset
available at the time of the estimate. Probable reserves are reserves that are less certain to be recovered than proved reserves but which, together with proved reserves, are as
likely as not to be recovered. Estimates of probable reserves which may potentially be recoverable through additional drilling or recovery techniques are by nature more uncertain
than estimates of proved reserves and accordingly are subject to substantially greater risk of not actually being realized by us. The probable reserves that have been assigned as of
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, were based on both the greater percentage of recovery of the hydrocarbons in place than assumed for proved reserves, as well as the
areas of a reservoir adjacent to proved reserves where data control or interpretations of available data are less certain. Possible reserves are reserves that are less certain to be
recovered than probable reserves. Estimates of possible reserves are also inherently imprecise. Estimates of probable and possible reserves are also continually subject to
revisions based on production history, results of additional exploration and development, price changes, and other factors. The possible reserves that have been assigned as of
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December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, were based on both the greater percentage of recovery of the hydrocarbons in place than assumed for probable reserves as well as to
areas of a reservoir adjacent to probable reserves where data control or interpretations of available data are less certain.
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The following table sets forth our estimated reserves NAR located in Colombia, Ecuador and Ecuador which were 100% oil Canada as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024:
oil
Reserves Category (Mbbl)
Proved
Total proved developed reserves 39,599
Total proved undeveloped reserves 34,697
Total proved reserves () 74,296
Probable ()
Total probable developed reserves 12,139
Total probable undeveloped reserves 34,109
Total probable reserves (3) 46,248
Possible (1)
Total possible developed reserves 11,362
Total possible undeveloped reserves ) 37,144
Total possible reserves 48,506
Oil Natural Gas NGL Total
Reserves Category (Mbbl) (MMcf) (Mboe) (Mbboe)
Proved
Colombia 34,151 — — 34,151
Ecuador 1,752 — — 1,752
Canada 5,730 93,028 10,938 32,173
Total proved developed reserves 41,633 93,028 10,938 68,076
Colombia 29,546 — — 29,546
Ecuador 7,740 — — 7,740
Canada 4,178 89,268 10,589 29,645
Total proved undeveloped reserves 41,464 89,268 10,589 66,931
Total proved reserves 83,097 182,296 21,527 135,007
Probable ()
Colombia 8,860 — — 8,860
Ecuador 455 — — 455
Canada 1,512 29,791 3,323 9,800
Total probable developed reserves 10,827 29,791 3,323 19,115
Colombia 25,195 — — 25,195
Ecuador 8,135 — — 8,135
Canada 7,665 170,053 17,408 53,415
Total probable undeveloped reserves 40,995 170,053 17,408 86,745
Total probable reserves 51,822 199,844 20,731 105,860
Possible (1)
Colombia 7,228 — — 7,228
Ecuador 563 — — 563
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Canada 1,983 31,880 3,555 10,851

Total possible developed reserves 9,774 31,880 3,555 18,642
Colombia 27,382 — — 27,382
Ecuador 8,517 — — 8,517
Canada 2,967 64,599 6,350 20,084

Total possible undeveloped reserves 38,866 64,599 6,350 55,983

Total possible reserves 48,640 96,479 9,905 74,625

) Estimates of probable and possible reserves are more uncertain than proved reserves, but have not been adjusted for risk due to that uncertainty. Accordingly, estimates of probable and possible
reserves are not comparable and have not been, or should not be, summed arithmetically with each other or with estimates of proved reserves.

@ Includes proved developed oil reserves of 0.7 MMbbl and proved undeveloped oil reserves of 4.0 MMbbl related to Ecuador.

3 Includes probable developed oil reserves of 0.1 MMbbl and probable undeveloped oil reserves of 5.9 MMbbl related to Ecuador.

@ Includes possible developed oil reserves of 0.2 MMbbl and possible undeveloped oil reserves of 6.9 MMbbl related to Ecuador.

Product Prices Used in Reserves Estimates
The product prices that were used to determine the future gross revenue for each property reflect adjustments to the benchmark prices for gravity, quality, local conditions and/or

distance from market. The average realized prices for reserves in the report are based on unweighted arithmetic average ICE Brent price, as of the first-day-of-the-month, for the 12-
month period ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024:

13
Oil ($/bbl) boe) - Colombia $ 69.9168.07
Oil ($/bbl) boe) - Ecuador $ 77.4474.85
Oil ($/boe) - Canada $ 67.16
Natural Gas ($/Mcf) - Canada $ 0.93
Condensate ($/boe) - Canada $ 72.55
NGLs ($/boe) - Canada $ 21.94
ICE Brent - average of the first day of each month price for the 12-month period $ 82.5180.42

These prices should not be interpreted as a prediction of future prices. We do not represent that this data is the fair value of our oil and natural gas properties or a fair estimate of
the present value of cash flows to be obtained from their development and production.

Proved Undeveloped Reserves

As at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we had total proved undeveloped reserves NAR of 34.766.9 MMBOE (December 31, 2022 2023 - 25.034.7 MMBOE), which were
89% 44% in Colombia, 44% in Canada with the remainder in Ecuador (December 31, 2022 2023 — 92% 89% in Colombia with the remainder in Ecuador). Approximately 33%, 20%,
and 19% for a total of 72% 62% of proved undeveloped reserves are located in our Acordionero, Costayaco fields and Suroriente Block, respectively, in Colombia. None of our
proved undeveloped reserves at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, have remained undeveloped for five years or more since initial disclosure as proved reserves, and we
have adopted a development plan which indicates that the proved undeveloped reserves are scheduled to be drilled within five years of initial disclosure as proved reserves.

Changes in proved undeveloped reserves during the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 are shown in the table below:
Total Company - Oil Equivalent

(MMBOE)
Balance, December 31, 2022 25.0
Converted to proved producing (5.5)
Technical revisions 1.0
Extensions and discoveries 14.2
Balance, December 31, 2023 34.7

Total Company - Oil

Colombia - Oil Equivalent Ecuador - Oil Equivalent Canada - Oil Equivalent Equivalent
(MMBOE) (MMBOE) (MMBOE) (MMBOE)
REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 13/137

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

©2025 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

Balance, December 31, 2023 30.7 4.0 — 34.7

Acquisitions — — 29.6 29.6
Converted to proved producing (3.9) 2.7) — (5.6)
Technical revisions (0.4) 1.2 — 0.8
Extensions and discoveries 3.1 4.3 — 7.4

Improved recovery — — — —

Balance, December 31, 2024 29.5 7.8 29.6 66.9

Changes in proved undeveloped reserves during the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, shown in the table above primarily resulted from the following significant
factors:

Acquisitions
In2024, we acquired 29.6 MMBOE of proved undeveloped reserves in Canada (22.5 MMBOE in Central, 6.0 MMBOE in Simonette and 1.1 MMBOE in Wapiti) through the
acquisition of i3 Energy with an effective date on October 31, 2024.

Converted to Proved Producing. Producing

In 2023, 2024, we converted 5.55.6 MMBOE, or 22% 16% of 2022 2023 proved undeveloped reserves to developed status (1.7 (1.6 MMBOE in the Acordionero field in Colombia,
2.3 MMBOE in the Costayaco field in Colombia and 1.51.7 MMBOE in the Moqueta fields) Ecuador). In 2023,2024, the conversion of proved producing volumes was a result of
capital expenditures of $67.3 million $38.3 million in Colombia and $37.7 million in Ecuador associated with drilling eightsix wells in Midas Block, and nine five wells in Chaza
Block. Block and four wells in Ecuador

Technical and Economic Revisions.Revisions

During the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, there were additions of 1.00.8 MMBOE proved undeveloped reserves, of which 1.2 MMBOE were added in Ecuador
blocks associated with 0.3 production type curve improvements in the Charapa Block and 0.4 MMBOE added deducted in Colombia primarily due to continued waterflood
performance underperformance of the wells drilled in 2024 in the Acordionero forelimb and Costayaco and Acordionero fields and 0.7 MMBOE added in Ecuador Blocks due to
production type curve changes in the Chanangue and Charapa Blocks. South areas.

Extensions and Discoveries.Discoveries
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We added 14.27.4 MMBOE to proved undeveloped reserves during the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, of which 13.03.1 MMBOE were in Colombia and
1.24.3 MMBOE in Ecuador. In Colombia, we had extensions of 1.21.1 MMBOE 3.5 MMBOE, and 2.0 MMBOE and 6.3 MMBOE in the Costayaco and Acordionero Costayaco,
Moqueta fields, and the Suroriente Block, respectively. In Ecuador, we had a discovery discoveries of 1.2 3.8 MMBOE in the Chanangue Block due to successful testing results from
a newly productive zone and 0.5 MMBOE in the existing well. Charapa Block.

Production, Revenue and Price History

Certain information concerning production, prices, revenues, and operating expenses for the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2022,2023, and 2021 2022 is set
forth in ltem 7 “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and in the “Supplementary Data (Unaudited)” provided following our
Financial Statements in Item 8, which information is incorporated by reference here.

The following table presents NAR oil, natural gas and NGL production, average sales prices, and operating expenses over NAR oil production from our major fields (Acordionero,
Costayaco, Moqueta, Cohembi) in Colombia and total for all our properties for the three years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2022,2023, and 2021,2022,
respectively:

Total for all

Acordionero (1) Costayaco (1) Moqueta (1) Cohembi properties (2)
Year Ended December 31, 2023
Oil production NAR bbl 4,924,313 1,690,718 666,827 1,069,585 9,526,270
Average sales price of oil per bbl $ 67.82 $ 66.41 $ 66.57 $ 65.23 $ 66.86
Operating expenses of oil per bbl () $ 13.68 $ 17.22 $ 2434 $ 32.02 $ 21.14
Year Ended December 31, 2022
Oil production NAR bbl 4,491,574 1,621,073 542,796 1,105,451 8,692,689
Average sales price of oil per bbl $ 83.65 $ 81.85 $ 80.38 $ 80.87 $ 81.84
Operating expenses of oil per bbl (3 $ 15.07 $ 1830 $ 2410 $ 2510 $ 19.85
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Year Ended December 31, 2021

Oil production NAR bbl 4,183,773 1,435,434 605,926 797,196 7,879,794
Average sales price of oil per bbl 62.17 $ 59.93 $ 58.80 55.01 $ 60.12
Operating expenses of oil per bbl (@) 1335 $ 2012 $ 24.91 20.14 $ 18.70
Total for all
Acordionero (1) Costayaco (1) Moqueta (1) Cohembi 1) properties (2)
Year Ended December 31, 2024
Oil, natural gas and NGL production NAR boe 4,439,201 2,191,332 564,288 824,546 10,207,636
Average sales price of oil per boe 67.58 64.17 65.97 $ 64.55 $ 60.92
Operating expenses of oil per boe (3) 18.19 16.47 2912 $ 34.08 $ 21.63
Year Ended December 31, 2023
Oil, natural gas and NGL production NAR boe 4,924,313 1,690,718 666,827 1,069,585 9,526,270
Average sales price of oil per boe 67.82 66.41 66.57 $ 6523 $ 66.86
Operating expenses of oil per boe (3) 13.68 17.22 2434 % 32.02 $ 21.14
Year Ended December 31, 2022
Oil, natural gas and NGL production NAR boe 4,491,574 1,621,073 542,796 1,105,451 8,692,689
Average sales price of oil per boe 83.65 81.85 80.38 80.87 $ 81.84
Operating expenses of oil per boe @) 15.07 18.30 24.10 2510 $ 19.85

(1) 100% of product sales were oil

@ Includes natural gas production from Canada operations of 2,781,141 Mcf (463,524 boe) for the year ended December 31, 2024and de minimis natural gas production from non-core properties from
Colombia of 9,682 Mcf (1,614 boe) and 119,046 Mcf (19,841 boe) for each of the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. There was no gas production for the year ended December
31, 2023 December 31, 2022.

(3 Operating expenses include operating and transportation expenses

@ Covid-19 costs per bbl, which were presented separately for the year ended December 31, 2021, were re-classified back to operating and transportation costs to conform with December 31, 2023
and 2022 presentation

We prepared the estimate of a standardized measure of proved reserves in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB") Accounting Standards Codification
932, “Extractive Activities — Oil and Gas.”

Drilling Activities

The following table summarizes the results of our exploration and development drilling activity for the past three years. Wells labeled as “In Progress” for a year were in progress as
of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2022,2023, or 2021.2022. This information should not be considered indicative of future performance, nor should it be assumed that
there was any correlation between the number of productive wells drilled and the oil and natural gas reserves generated thereby or the costs to Gran Tierra of productive wells
compared to the costs of dry holes.

2023 2022 2021
Gross and Net Gross and Net Gross and Net
Colombia
Exploration
Productive — 2 —
2024 2023 2022
Dry — 2 —
Gross Net Gross and Net Gross and Net
DReksloipment
Productive 15 20 18
Explogagicn 2 — 1
Productive — — — 2
BFer|ce _ _ _ 2
Water injectors 8 8 3
Development 25 32 22
Productive 10 10.0 15 20
Ecuador
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In-progress — — 2 —
Exploration

Beydicdive — 2 —

Water injectors 4 70 3 B

Total 14 o % 3
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Ecuador

Exploration

Productive 6 6.0 — 2

In-progress 1 1.0 — —
7 7.0 — 2

Canada

Development

Productive 2 1.3 — —

In-progress 7 4.2 — —
9 5.5 — —

Total 30 26.5 25 34

Well Statistics

The following table sets forth our productive wells as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024:

Oil Wells Oil Wells Oil Wells Natural Gas Wells
Gross Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net

Colombia (1)

Canada (2)

Ecuador

305
1,652

@ Includes 8093 gross and 7587 net water injector wells and 104 99 gross and 102 97 net wells with multiple completions.
@ Includes 333 gross and 123 net water injector wells.

@ Includes one gross and net well with multiple completions
We commenced the execution of our 2024 2025 capital program as planned, and as of February 15, 2024 February 20, 2025, have drilled three we are currently drilling the first

development wells well in the Chaza Suroriente Block in Colombia and six one exploration well in the Midas Block. Iguana Block in Ecuador.

16

Developed and Undeveloped Acreage

At December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, our acreage was located 91% 52% in Colombia, 43% in Canada and 9% 5% in Ecuador. The following table sets forth our developed
and undeveloped oil and natural gas lease and mineral acreage as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024:

Developed Developed Undeveloped (2 Total Developed Undeveloped (2 Total

Gross Gross Net Gross Net Gross  Net Gross Net Gross Net Gross  Net
Colombia @) 2
Ecuador (3
Canadaw)
Total

1) Excludes our interest in one Block with a total of 0.1 million net acres for which government approval of relinquishment or sale was pending at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024
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(2 As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, the exploration phase for 0.5 million gross and net undeveloped acres expires within the next three years, with
an option to extend the exploration phase for 50% of the expired area

3 During the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we started production in Ecuador which is executed under the evaluation permits of exploration phase, and therefore the entire
acreage for Ecuador is reported as undeveloped

@ Acres in Canada were acquired through the acquisition of i3 Energy on October 31, 2024
Marketing and Major Customers

Colombia represents approximately 97% 85% of our production with oil reserves and production located in the Middle Magdalena Valley (“MMV”) and Putumayo Basin. In MMV, our
largest field is the Acordionero field, where we produce approximately 17° API oil, which represented 52% 44% of the total Company Company’s production for the year ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024. The Putumayo production is approximately 27° API for the Chaza Block and 18° API for the Suroriente Block, representing 25% 27% and
13% 9%, respectively, of the total Company Company’s production for the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024.

We have entered into numerous sales agreements for our production from MMV and the Putumayo Basin with domestic customers selling crude oil for export purposes. These
agreements are subject to renegotiation terms between twelve and thirty months and generally contain mutual termination provisions with 90 days’ notice. months. The volume of
crude oil contemplated in these sales agreements does not include the volume of oil corresponding to royalties taken in-kind and since October 2022 does include volumes relating
to HPR royalties.

All of our Putumayo production is sold at the wellhead. The oil is picked up by the customer at the Company-operated truck loading stations located at our Costayaco battery or
Santana station facilities in Putumayo North and at our Cohembi and Cumplidor fields in Putumayo South. In order to capture the best market value and optimize our netback, our
marketing strategy is to sell a blend “Chaza Heavy” of the entire Putumayo production with an average quality of 25°23-25° API. Production from the Acordionero field in MMV is
trucked and sold at various terminals or pipeline inlets and various distances from the Acordionero field, depending on our marketing strategy to optimize the value. Production from
MMV minor fields is sold at wellhead.

In 2023, 2024, all of our MMV and Putumayo production was sold to one domestic marketer. The sales agreements agreement for Putumayo production expires on March 31, 2025
and for MMV production expire expires on March 31, 2025March 31, 2026. The loss of any individual sales customer will not have a material adverse impact on our Company as
customers can be substituted or we could market the crude directly ourselves.

During the fourth quarter of 2022, we commenced production inIn Ecuador, which contributed 3% of the total production for the year ended December 31, 2023. Bocachico
produces approximately 19° API oil and Charapa produces approximately 28° API oil. All of Ecuador production was sold to two one international marketers marketer and is sold at
port of shipment. For the year ended December 31, 2024, Ecuador contributed 6% of the total Company’s production.

For our Canadian operations, marketing activities are focused on maximizing the value of production from our core assets, including the Simonette, Central Alberta, Wapiti, and
Clearwater regions. Our Canadian oil production is approximately 40° API. Our strategy prioritizes minimizing production curtailments, maximizing realized commaodity prices, and
managing credit risk exposure across our customer base. Our production, consisting of crude oil, natural gas, and NGLs, is primarily sold to marketers and aggregators. Prices
realized are based on prevailing regional market indices, influenced by supply-demand fundamentals, transportation infrastructure, and competing energy sources. Our Canadian
sales were 9% of the total Company’s production for the year ended December 31, 2024.

To manage commodity price risks, we employ financial hedging instruments to stabilize future cash flows, protect against price volatility, and support operational planning.
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We expect to fulfill our delivery commitments primarily with production from our proved developed reserves. Longer-term delivery obligations will be satisfied through production
from proved undeveloped reserves. For long-term transportation and processing agreements, we anticipate utilizing future resource developments that are not yet classified as
proved reserves.

Production from our reserves is not subject to priorities, curtailments, or regulatory price limitations that could impact quantities delivered to customers.

We receive revenues for our Colombian and Ecuador Ecuadorian oil sales in U.S. dollars and for our Canadian oil, natural gas and NGL sales in Canadian dollars. Oil prices for
sales of our crude oil are defined by agreements with the purchasers of the oil. They are based generally on an average price for crude oil, natural gas and NGLs, referenced to ICE
Brent, WTI, Mixed Sweet Blend (“MSW") and AECO natural gas, with adjustments for differences in quality, specified fees, transportation fees, and transportation tax. Pipeline tariffs
are denominated in U.S. dollars for Colombia and Ecuador and Canadian dollars for Canada, while trucking costs are in Colombian Pesos in Colombia and U.S. dollars in Ecuador.
100% of transportation in Canada is performed via pipelines.

Competition
The oil and natural gas industry is highly competitive. We face competition from both local and multinational companies. This competition impacts our ability to acquire properties,
contract drilling and other oil field equipment, and secure trained personnel. Many competitors, such as Colombian and Ecuadorian national oil companies and independent oil and

natural gas companies in Canada, have greater financial and technical resources. Our larger or more integrated competitors may be able to absorb the burden of existing, and any
changes to, federal, state and local laws and regulations more easily than we can, which could adversely affect our competitive position. Our ability to acquire additional properties
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and to discover reserves in the future will depend on our ability to evaluate and select suitable properties and consummate transactions in a highly competitive environment. There is
substantial competition for land contracts, prospects, and resources in the oil and gas industry, and we compete to develop and produce those reserves cost-effectively. The oil and
natural gas industry also competes with other industries focused on providing alternative forms of energy to consumers. Competitive forces can lead to cost increases or result in an
oversupply of oil, natural gas or NGLs. In addition, we compete to monetize our oil production: for transportation capacity and infrastructure to deliver our products, maintain a skilled
workforce, and obtain quality services and materials.

Geographic Information

Based We have three reportable segments based on the geographic organization, organization: Colombia, is the only reportable segment. We also have Participation Sharing
Contracts (“PSCs") for the three Blocks in Ecuador. For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 Ecuador and 2021, the Ecuador business unit was not significant and was
included in our Colombia reportable segment. Canada. Long-lived assets are Property, Plant and Equipment, which include all oil, natural gas and gas NGL assets, furniture and
fixtures, automobiles, computer equipment, and capitalized leases. No long-lived assets are held in our country of domicile, which is the United States of America. Assets held by
our corporate head office in Calgary, Alberta, Canada, were not significant as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, and 20222023 and were included in the Colombia
reportable segment under “other” category. “Other” category which represents the Company’s corporate activities. Because all of our exploration and development operations are in
Colombia, Ecuador and

Ecuador, Canada, we face many risks associated with these operations. See Item 1A “Risk Factors” for risks associated with our foreign operations.
Regulation

The oil and gas industry in both Colombia, Ecuador and Ecuador Canada is heavily regulated. Rights and obligations relating to exploration, development, and production activities
are explicit for each project; economics is governed by a royalty and tax regime. Various government approvals are required for property acquisitions and transfers, including, but
not limited to, meeting financial and technical qualification criteria in order to be certified as an oil and gas company in the country. Oil and gas concessions are typically granted for
fixed terms with an opportunity for extension. In Alberta, the Alberta Energy Regulator (“AER") is the single regulator of oil and gas development in Alberta and oversees all aspects
of the regulatory process, including related to exploration, construction and development, abandonment, reclamation, and remediation activities. The AER oversees compliance with
the Oil and Gas Conservation Act, Public Lands Act, Mines and Minerals Act, Water Act and the Environmental Protection and Enhancement Act by oil and gas operators. The AER
operates in conjunction with Alberta Environment and Parks to ensure the province's environmental, social and economic targets are met. Alberta Environment and Parks is also
responsible for climate change-related regulations such as the Alberta Technology Innovation and Emissions Reduction program.

Colombia Administration

We operate in Colombia through Colombian branches of the following entities: Gran Tierra Energy Colombia GmbH, Gran Tierra Operations Colombia GmbH, and Gran Tierra
Energy Resources Inc. These entities are currently qualified as operators
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of oil and gas properties by the ANH. The entities operate under a special regime for hydrocarbon companies in Colombia that entitle them to collect proceeds from oil sales abroad
in U.S. dollars. dollars and import such into Colombia for payments in local currency.

In Colombia, the ANH is the administrator of the hydrocarbons in the country, as delegated by the Ministry of Mining and Energy, and therefore is responsible for the administration
of Colombian oil and natural gas contracts and managing all of the nation’s exploration and exploitation lands. Ecopetrol, the Colombian national oil company, is a public company
listed in the Colombian and United States stock markets, owned in majority by the state with the main purpose of exploring and producing hydrocarbons similar to any other
integrated oil company. In addition, Ecopetrol is a major purchaser and marketer of oil in Colombia and directly or through its subsidiaries operates most of the oil pipeline
transportation and refining infrastructure in the country. Ecopetrol Group also owns a majority stake in the Colombian energy transmission sector. Companies can also have joint
exploration and exploitation contracts with Ecopetrol.

The ANH uses various forms of contracts, which provide full risk/reward benefits for the contractor. Under the terms of these contracts, the operator retains the right to produce all
reserves, production, and income from any new exploration and evaluation block, subject to existing royalty and tax regulations. Each contract contains an exploration and a
production periods. The exploration period contains a number of exploration phases, and each phase has an associated work commitment. The production period usually lasts 24
years from the declaration of a commercial hydrocarbon discovery. Such contracts may be terminated at election of the ANH on the failure of the contract holder to comply with
certain material terms of the contract, such as failure to perform committed exploration operations or investments in accordance with the contract. Ecopetrol uses various forms of
contracts, which contain exploration and development phases. Duration of contracts can be life of field or up to a specific date and the terms of such contracts vary depending on
the type of contract. Under the Ecopetrol contract, the partner retains its working interest rights to produce all reserves, production and income from any new exploration and
evaluation block, subject to existing royalty and tax regulations during the duration of such contract.

When operating under the ANH contract, the contractor is the owner of the hydrocarbons extracted from the contract area during the performance of operations, except for royalty
volumes which are collected by the ANH (or its designee). The contractor can market the hydrocarbons in any manner whatsoever, subject to a limitation in the case of natural
emergencies where the law specifies the manner of sale. Under the Ecopetrol contract, each party owns its working interest of the hydrocarbons extracted.

The contracts in place with ANH and Ecopetrol are agreements among both parties duly protected by regulation and, therefore, cannot be unilaterally adjusted at election of the
Government. Contracts include the instances for remediation, arbitration and other protection measures. In addition, investment protection treaties and Colombian regulation protect
the sanctity of the existing contract.

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 18/137
©2025 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

Ecuador Administration
We operate in Ecuador through the Ecuadorian branch of Gran Tierra Energy Colombia, GmbH.

In Ecuador, the Ministry of Energy and Mines (“MEM”) is responsible for signing oil and natural gas contracts and regulating the Ecuadorian oil and gas industry through the Agency
for Regulation and Control of Energy and Non-Renewable Natural Resources.

The MEM uses service and participation contracts for the exploration and/or exploitation of hydrocarbons (“Participation Contracts”). We currently hold three Participation Contracts
which provide for full risk for the contractor and production sharing with the MEM and contain an exploration and exploitation periods. The exploration period has an associated work

commitment and lasts typically 4 four years. The participation contracts include a provision to extend the exploration period for up to two years, on the grounds of, among others,
delays caused by the Ecuadorian government in the environmental licensing procedures. In the second quarter of 2021, we received a two-year extension of the exploration period
for all three Participation Contracts, under the aforementioned provision. The exploitation period usually lasts 20 years from the approval of the development plan for one of several
commercial hydrocarbon discoveries. Such contracts may be terminated at the election of the MEM on the failure of the contract holder to comply with certain material terms of the
contract, such as failure to perform committed exploration operations in accordance with the contract.

When operating under a participation contract, the contractor is the owner of the hydrocarbons extracted from the contract area during the performance of operations, except for the
share of volumes owned by the MEM agreed under each contract.
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Canada Administration

We operate in Canada through the Canadian subsidiary Gran Tierra Canada Ltd. registered in Alberta. In Canada, oil and natural gas mineral rights may be held by individuals,
corporations or governments that have jurisdiction over the area in which such mineral rights are located. Generally, parties holding these mineral rights grant licenses or leases to
third parties to facilitate the exploration and development of these mineral rights. The terms of these leases and licenses are generally established to require timely development.
Notwithstanding the ownership of mineral rights, the government of the jurisdiction in which the mineral rights are located generally retains authority over the drilling and operation of
oil and natural gas wells.

Environmental Compliance

Our activities are subject to laws and regulations governing environmental compliance quality, waste and pollution control in the countries where we maintain operations. Our
activities with respect to exploration, drilling, production facilities, including the operation and construction of pipelines, plants and other facilities for transporting, processing, treating
or storing oil and other products, are subject to stringent environmental regulation by regional and federal authorities in Colombia, Ecuador and Ecuador. Canada. Such regulations
relate to mandatory environmental impact studies, the discharge of pollutants into air and water, water use and management, the management of non-hazardous and hazardous
waste, including its transportation, storage and disposal permitting for the construction of facilities, recycling requirements and reclamation standards, and the protection of certain
plants and animal species as well as cultural resources and areas inhabited by indigenous people, among others. Risks are inherent in oil and gas exploration, development and
production operations. These risks include blowouts, fires, or spills. Significant costs and liabilities may be incurred in connection with environmental compliance issues. Licenses
and permits required for our exploration and production activities may not be obtainable on reasonable terms or inon a timely basis, which could result in delays and have an
adverse effect on our operations. Spills and releases of petroleum products into the environment can result in remediation costs and liability for damages. The costs of remedying
such conditions may be significant, and remediation obligations could adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Moreover, violations of
environmental laws and regulations can result in the issuance of administrative, civil or criminal fines and penalties, as well as orders or injunctions prohibiting some or all of our
operations in affected areas. In addition, indigenous groups or other local organizations could oppose our operations in their communities, potentially resulting in delays which could
adversely affect new developments. Governmental or judicial actions may influence the interpretation and enforcement of environmental laws and regulations and may thereby
increase licensing and compliance costs. We do not expect that the cost of compliance with regional and federal provisions, which have been enacted regulating the discharge of
materials into the environment, or otherwise relating to the protection of the environment or natural resources, will be material to us.

We have implemented a company wide web-based reporting system which allows us to track incidents and respective corrective actions and associated costs. We have a Corporate
Health, Safety, and Environmental Management Policy and Plan as well as a Corporate Environmental Management Plan (“‘EMP”). The EMP is based on the environmental
performance standards of the World Bank International Finance Corporation and reflects best industry practices. We have an Environmental Management System which is
1SO14001:2015 certified representing compliance with internationally recognized industry best practice, as well as the environmental risk management program and robust waste
management procedures. Air, soil and water testing occurs regularly and environmental contingency plans have been prepared for all sites and transportation of oil. We have a
regular quarterly reporting system, reporting to executive management as well as the Health Safety and Environment Committee of the Board of Directors. We have a schedule of
internal and external audits and routine checking of practices and procedures and conduct emergency response exercises.

Human Capital Management
At December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we had 351431 full-time employees (December 31, 2022 2023 - 336) 351): 94 146 located in the Canada (142 staff in Calgary corporate

office, 234 and four field personnel), 243 in Colombia (166 (176 staff in Bogota and 68 67 field personnel), 2342 in Ecuador (three (14 staff in Quito and 20 28 field personnel). None
of our employees are represented by labor unions, and we consider our employee relations to be good.
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Health and Safety

Safety is our top priority, and we We have implemented safety management systems, procedures, and tools to protect our employees and contractors. As part of our Health and
Safety Management System, we identify potential risks associated with the workplace and develop measures to
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mitigate possible hazards. We support our employees with general safety training and implement specific programs for those working in all our operations, such as equipment and
machinery safety, chemical management, and electrical safety.

Workplace Practices and Policies

Gran Tierra is an equal opportunity employer committed to equality and sourcing local employees, contractors, and suppliers. We have a program to increase gender and diversity
representation, including guidelines to prevent gender discrimination in selection and recruitment by contractors, incentives to promote the recruitment of women throughout the
supply chain, training to increase the competitiveness of female employees and candidates, and guarantees of fair working conditions including schedules and salaries.

We are committed to enabling employees and contractors to grow within their roles to advance by offering coaching and mentoring programs. An example of this is our Te Ensefia
(Learn with Gran Tierra) program. It involves independent training sessions across several departments, where participants improve internal knowledge and further develop their
skill sets. We also offer employee-led virtual training sessions that promote individual growth and create a space to learn from their peers. These programs have fostered
interdepartmental connections between employees and contractors providing the ability to work remotely.

Compensation
We believe that all employees deserve competitive compensation and standard short and long-term incentives that enable employees to share success of the Company.
Engagement

We believe that open, honest, and transparent communication among the team members, managers, and senior management promotes company engagement and offers a strong
understanding of our business’s big picture. We regularly encourage employees to learn about the organization’s strategic objectives and understand company’s decisions and how
those decisions impact them specifically. We undertake quarterly reviews to inform our team about the Company’s performance and future goals. We believe these key strategies
have led to strategic alignment across the organization.

Available Information

We file or furnish annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other documents with the SEC. We make available free of charge through our website at
www.grantierra.com our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably
practicable after such material is electronically filed or furnished with the SEC. Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, our Corporate Governance Guidelines, our Audit
Committee Charter, our Compensation Committee Charter, and our Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee Charter, our Reserve Committee Charter, and other
Company policies and guidelines are also posted to the governance section of our website. Our website address is provided solely for informational purposes. Information on our
website is not incorporated into this Annual Report or otherwise made part of this Annual Report. We intend to use our website as means for distributing information to the public for
purposes of compliance with Regulation Fair Disclosure.

In addition, the SEC maintains a website (www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with
the SEC, including us.

Item 1A. Risk Factors
Risks Related to our Business

Prices and markets for oil and natural gas are unpredictable and tend to fluctuate significantly, which could cause temporary suspension of production and reduce our
value

Substantially all of our revenues are derived from We generate revenue through the production and sale of oil. The currentoil, natural gas and NGLs. Current and forward contract
oil price is natural gas prices are based on world demand, supply, weather, pipeline capacity constraints, inventory storage levels, geopolitical unrest, world health events and other
factors, all of which are beyond our control. Historically, the market for oil and natural gas has been volatile and is expected to remain so. Furthermore, prices which we receive for
our oil and natural gas sales, while based on international oil prices, are established by contracts with purchasers and include the deductions for quality differentials and
transportation. The differentials and transportation costs can change over time and have a detrimental impact on realized prices.
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Future decreases in the prices of oil or natural gas, sustained low prices, periods of extended pricing volatility, and increasing borrowing costs may have a material adverse effect on
our financial condition, the future results of our operations (including rendering existing projects unprofitable or requiring temporary suspension of fields), financing available to us,
and quantities of reserves recoverable on an economic basis, as well as the market price for our securities.

We may be adversely affected by global epidemics or public health crises

Global epidemics and public health crises and fear of such events may adversely impact our operations and the global economy, including the worldwide demand for oil and natural
gas. The extent to which our business, results of operations and financial condition will be affected by such events depend on future developments, many of which are outside of our
control, such as the duration, severity, and sustained geographic spread of the virus, and the impact and effectiveness of governmental actions to contain and treat outbreaks,
including government policies and restrictions; vaccine hesitancy, vaccine mandates, and voluntary or mandatory quarantines; and the global response surrounding such
uncertainties. To the extent any global epidemic or public health crisis may adversely affect our business, operations, financial condition and operating results, it may also have the
effect of heightening the other risks described herein.

Estimates of oil and natural gas reserves may be inaccurate and our actual revenues may be lower than estimated

We make estimates of oil and natural gas reserves, upon which we base our financial projections and capital expenditure plans. We make these reserve estimates using various
assumptions, including assumptions as to oil and natural gas prices, drilling and operating expenses, capital expenditures, taxes and availability of funds. Some of these
assumptions are inherently subjective, and the accuracy of our reserve estimates relies in part on the ability of our management team, engineers and other advisors to make
accurate assumptions. Wells that are drilled may not achieve the results expected. Economic factors beyond our control, such as world oil and natural gas prices, interest rates,
inflation, and exchange rates, will also impact the quantity and value of our reserves.

The process of estimating oil and natural gas reserves is complex and requires us to use significant decisions and assumptions in the evaluation of available geological,
geophysical, engineering and economic data for each property. As a result, our reserves estimates are inherently imprecise. All categories of reserves are continually subject to
revisions based on production history, results of additional exploration and development, price changes and other factors. When producing an estimate of the amount of oil or
natural gas that is recoverable from a particular reservoir, probable reserves are those additional reserves that are less certain to be recovered than proved reserves but which,
together with proved reserves, are as likely as not to be recovered. Possible reserves are even less certain and generally require only a 10% or greater probability of being
recovered. Estimates of probable and possible reserves are by their nature much more speculative than estimates of proved reserves and are subject to greater uncertainties, and
accordingly the likelihood of recovering those reserves is subject to substantially greater risk. Actual future production, oil and natural gas prices, revenues, taxes, exploration and
development expenditures, operating expenses and quantities of recoverable oil and natural gas reserves may vary substantially from those we estimate. Such changes could
materially reduce our revenues and result in the impairment of our oil and natural gas interests.

Unless we are able to replace our reserves and production, and develop and manage oil and natural gas reserves and production on an economically viable basis, our
financial condition and results of operations will be adversely impacted

Our future success depends on our ability to find, develop and acquire additional oil and natural gas reserves that are economically recoverable. Producing oil and natural gas
reservoirs generally are characterized by declining production rates that vary depending upon reservoir characteristics and other factors. Our future oil and natural gas reserves and
production, and therefore our cash flows and results of operations, are highly dependent on our success in efficiently developing and exploiting our current reserves and
economically finding or acquiring additional recoverable reserves. The value of our securities and our ability to raise capital will be adversely impacted if we are not able to replace
our reserves that are depleted by production. We may not be able to develop, exploit, find or acquire sufficient additional reserves to replace our current and future production.

Exploration, development and production costs (including operating and transportation costs), marketing costs (including distribution costs) and regulatory compliance costs
(including taxes) will substantially impact the net revenues we derive from the oil and natural gas that we produce. These costs are subject to fluctuations and variations in the areas
in which we operate, and we may not be able to predict or control these costs. If these costs exceed our expectations, this may adversely affect our results of operations.

Our future reserves will depend not only on our ability to develop and effectively manage then-existing properties, but also on our ability to identify, acquire and acquire successfully
integrate additional suitable producing properties or prospects, to identify and retain responsible service providers and contractors to efficiently drill and complete our wells and to
find markets for the oil and natural gas we develop and to effectively distribute our production into our markets.

Exploration for oil and natural gas, and development of new formations, is risky

Oil and natural gas exploration involves a high degree of operational and financial risk. These risks are more acute in the early stages of exploration, appraisal and development. It
is difficult to predict the results and project the costs of implementing an exploratory drilling program due to the inherent uncertainties and costs of drilling in unknown formations and
encountering various drilling conditions, such as unexpected formations or pressures, premature decline of reservoirs, the invasion of water into producing formations, tools lost in
the hole, and changes in drilling plans and locations as a result of prior exploratory wells or additional seismic data and interpretations thereof. Future oil and natural gas exploration

may involve unprofitable
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efforts, not only from dry wells, but from wells that are productive but do not produce sufficient net revenues to return a profit after drilling, operating and other costs.
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Oil and natural gas exploration, development and production operations are subject to the risks and hazards typically associated with such operations, including, but not limited to,
fire, explosion, blowouts, cratering, sour gas releases, spills and other environmental hazards. Such risks and hazards could result in substantial damage to oil and natural gas
wells, production facilities, other property or the environment, as well as personal injury to our employees, contractors or members of the public.

Losses resulting from the occurrence of any of these risks may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Although we maintain well control and liability insurance in an amount that we consider prudent and consistent with industry practice, liabilities associated with certain risks could
exceed policy limits or not be covered. In either event we could incur significant costs.

Drilling activities may encounter sour gas

A significant portion of the natural gas produced in Alberta originates as sour gas. With the inclusion of wellhead treatment facilities, our infrastructure may, from time to time,
encounter concentrations of sour gas. If a well encounters a high concentration of sour gas it would have to be shut-in due to the lack of existing sour gas handling infrastructure.
Sour gas leaks or other exposure to sour gas produced from our properties in Alberta may result in damage to equipment, liability to third parties, adverse effects to humans,
animals or the environment, or the shutdown of operations. Special equipment and operating procedures are deployed by the industry in Canada for the production of sour gas in
accordance with applicable regulatory requirements.

Possible shortage of fresh water and surface and groundwater licenses

Drilling and completion operations require a large amount of water. The surface water resources of some of the regions in Canada where we aspire to operate may be insufficient for
the full commercial-scale development of the region at a pace matching the industry's ambitions. Thus, limitations on water access may present a ceiling on the allowed pace of
development. This ceiling may take the form of a physical ceiling supported by scientific investigation, or it may be a limitation we choose to accept to abate public concerns despite
contradicting scientific evidence of the carrying capacity of the surface water resources. Drought and low water levels could impact the year-round availability and associated costs
of fresh water for our Canadian operations such as drilling fluid, completions fluid and power or hydrogen plant cooling water. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that our
Canadian governmental licenses to withdraw water will not be rescinded or that additional conditions will not be added to these licenses. Further, there can be no assurance that we
will not have to pay a fee for the use of water in the future or that any such fees will be reasonable. Finally, new projects or the expansion of existing projects may be dependent on
securing licenses for additional water withdrawal, and there can be no assurance that these licenses will be granted on favorable terms, or at all, or that such additional water will in
fact be available to divert under such licenses.

Crown land tenure obligations, interpretations and freehold offset royalty obligations

Our Canadian resources are held in leases, mostly owned by Alberta. There is a risk that the Government of Alberta imposes the strictest interpretation of land tenure regulations
and terminates a high percentage of leases on expiry. The leases have defined terms and conditions upon which they are granted and renewed. The Government of Alberta has the
power to unilaterally change the royalty charged or the conditions of renewal. We are at risk of loss of value due to revision in royalty or lease renewal provisions. We also risk losing
leases if they are not drilled and brought on to production within the terms of the relevant lease. We may fail to bring leases on to production because limited capital may be
allocated to other higher return priorities or because surface access to a point where wells can be drilled to access a lease may be impaired by surface conditions, such as swamps,
steep valleys, or there may be protected species access restrictions.

Furthermore, on the freehold side, as we develop our land positions in Alberta, we may be required to pay offset royalties to owners of adjacent land without wells. In addition,
drilling of wells adjacent to undrilled freehold leases can trigger an obligation to drill the undrilled lands or pay a royalty on those lands equivalent to what would be expected if a well
was operating on those lands, or alternatively we may allow the freehold leases to expire. As such, royalty estimates may significantly change in the future.
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Unforeseen title defects

Ownership of some of our properties could be subject to prior undetected claims or interests. We plan to conduct title reviews from time to time according to industry practice prior to
the purchase of most of our crude oil and natural gas producing properties or the commencement of drilling wells. However, title reviews, if conducted, do not guarantee that an
unforeseen defect in the chain of title will not arise to defeat a claim by us. If any such defect were to arise, our entitlement to the production and reserves associated with such
properties could be jeopardized, and could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and our ability to timely execute our business plan.
Indigenous peoples have claimed title and rights to portions of Western Canada. We are not aware of any claims that have been made in respect of our property and assets in
Western Canada; however, if a claim arose and was successful, this could have an adverse effect on our operations.

Indigenous rights and stakeholder opposition in Canada

Indigenous peoples have established and claimed Indigenous rights and title in portions of Western Canada. Claims of Indigenous peoples and protests and demonstrations
pertaining to Indigenous rights and title may disrupt or delay third-party operations or new development on our Canadian properties. Requirements relating to the federal
implementation of the United Nations Declaration of Rights for Indigenous Peoples, including the concept of free, prior and informed consent before adopting measures or approving
projects that may affect Indigenous peoples, have the potential to adversely affect our ability to obtain permits, leases, licenses and other approvals in Canada, or to meet the terms
and conditions of those approvals. We are not aware that any claims have been made by Indigenous peoples in respect of our assets in Canada; however, if a claim arose and was
successful this could have an adverse effect on our operations. Additionally, opposition may occur from stakeholders, or there may be an expectation of compensation or
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consideration associated with a project beyond historical levels. Our ability to access land, develop and operate our business may be subject to general social opposition, negative
sentiment or litigation which may result in delays or restrictions on the ability to advance through the environmental consultative process.

The process of addressing Indigenous and stakeholder claims, regardless of the outcome, can be expensive and time-consuming and could result in delays which could have a
negative effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects, which negative effect could prove to be material over time.

Restrictions on development activities to protect wildlife

Crude oil and natural gas operations in our operating areas in Canada can be adversely affected by seasonal or permanent restrictions on development activities designed to
protect identified wildlife. There is a risk that our activities will be seen to adversely affect protected species, leading to an inability to access planned facility sites or, if already built,
some kind of restriction on operations.

Seasonal restrictions may limit our ability to operate in protected areas and can intensify competition for drilling rigs, oilfield equipment, services, supplies and qualified personnel,
which may lead to periodic shortages when drilling is allowed. These constraints and the resulting shortages or high costs could delay our operations and materially increase
operating and capital costs. Permanent restrictions imposed to protect endangered species could prohibit drilling in certain areas or require the implementation of expensive
mitigation measures. The designation of previously unprotected species in areas where we operate as threatened or endangered could cause us to incur increased costs arising
from species protection measures or could result in limitations on our exploration and production activities that could have an adverse impact on our ability to develop and produce
our reserves.

Additionally, some of our producing areas in Canada are or will be located in areas that may become inaccessible due to environmental protection requirements. This includes, but
is not limited to, protected caribou habitat on a seasonal basis.

Joint Venture partner alignment

We have operated and non operated interests in Colombia and Canada. In the areas where the Company operates as non-operating partner it may have limited control over the
day-to-day management or operations of these assets. A third-party mismanagement of an asset may result in significant delays, materially increased costs or liabilities to the
Company over which the Company is joint and severally liable. There is no guarantee that the third-party’s environmental standards are aligned with those of the Company. The
Company continually engages with its operating partners and closely monitors the operation of its assets, thorough reviews are conducted before entering into joint venture
arrangements to ensure that our operational objectives are aligned with potential joint venture partner.
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Our business is subject to local legal, social, security, political and economic factors that are beyond our control, which could impair or delay our ability to expand our
operations or operate profitably

All of our proved reserves and production are currently located in Colombia, Ecuador and Ecuador; Canada; however, we may eventually expand to other countries. Exploration and
production operations are subject to legal, social, security, political and economic uncertainties, including terrorism, social unrest and activism, illegal blockades, strikes by local or
national labor groups, interference with private contract rights, extreme fluctuations in currency exchange rates, high rates of inflation, exchange controls, changes in tax rates, tariff
and import/export regulations and sanctions by the United States or other countries, changes in laws or policies affecting environmental issues (including land use and water use),
workplace safety, foreign investment, foreign trade, investment or taxation, as well as restrictions imposed on the oil and natural gas industry, such as restrictions on production,
price controls and export controls. When such disruptions occur, they may adversely impact our operations and threaten the economic viability of our projects or our ability to meet
our production targets.

Both Colombia and Ecuador may experience future political and economic instability. Colombia has experienced social, economic and security turmoil related to security, guerilla
and narcotrafficking. Political changes because of future electoral processes could result in new governments or the adoption of new policies, laws or regulations that might assume
a substantially more hostile attitude toward foreign investment, including but not limited to: the imposition of additional taxes as was the case in 2022; nationalization; changes in
energy or environmental policies or the personnel administering them; changes in oil and natural gas pricing policies; and royalty changes or increases. In an extreme case, such a
change could result in termination of contract rights and expropriation of foreign-owned assets or renegotiation or nullification of existing concessions and contracts. Any changes in
the oil and gas or investment regulations and policies or a shift in political attitudes in Colombia or Ecuador are beyond our control and may significantly hamper our ability to expand
our operations in the region or operate our business at a profit. Colombia has investment protection treaties in place with the United States and Canada as well as a history of
sanctity of contracts.

Oil production in Ecuador has recently been impacted by outages experienced by the nation’s two major pipelines (the Sistema de Oleoductos Trans Ecuadoriano (“SOTE”) and the
Oleoducto de Crudos Pesados (“OCP”) pipelines) caused by physical damage from significant soil erosion in areas along the Coca river. While these pipelines have now been
rerouted and are back in service, there remains some risk to our ability to transport oil to market through these systems from future, unforeseen natural events that could again
generate outages in the OCP and SOTE pipelines. Such events could include, but are not limited to, earthquakes, volcanic eruptions and additional significant soil erosion. GTE
mitigates this risk through the maintenance of surplus storage capacity at its facilities (typically 3-days by design) and the optionality of trucking oil to points of sale.

We are vulnerable to risks associated with geographically concentrated operations

The vast majority of our production comes from four fields located in Colombia. For the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, the Acordionero, Costayaco, Moqueta
and Cohembi fields collectively generated 88% 79% of our production and at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, these four fields accounted for 84% 42% of our proved
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reserves. As a result of this concentration, we may be disproportionately exposed to the impact of, among other things, regional supply and demand factors including limitations on
our ability to most profitably sell or market our oil and natural gas to a smaller pool of potential buyers, delays or interruptions of production from wells in these areas caused by
governmental regulation, community protests, guerrilla activities, processing or transportation capacity constraints, continued authorization by the government to explore and drill in
these areas, severe weather events and the availability of drilling rigs and related equipment, facilities, personnel or services. Due to the concentrated nature of our portfolio of
properties, a number of our properties could experience any of the same conditions at the same time, resulting in a relatively greater impact on our results of operations than they
might have on other companies that have a more diversified portfolio of properties.

We rely on local infrastructure and the availability of transportation for storage and shipment of our products. This The infrastructure in Colombia and Ecuador, including storage and
transportation facilities, is less developed than that in North America and may be insufficient for our needs at commercially acceptable terms in the localities in which we operate.
Further, we operate in remote areas in both South America and Canada and may rely on helicopters, boats or other transportation methods. Some of these transport methods may
result in increased levels of risk, including the risk of accidents involving serious injury or loss of life, and could lead to operational delays which could affect our ability to add to our
reserve base or produce oil or natural gas and could have a significant impact on our reputation or cash flow. Additionally, some of this equipment is specialized and may be difficult
to obtain in our areas of operations, which could hamper or delay operations, and could increase the cost of those operations.

Further, adverse weather conditions, such as flooding and severe cold weather, may interrupt or curtail our operations, cause supply disruptions, and damage our equipment and
facilities. During the winter months in Canada, heavy snow, ice, or rain may
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adversely affect our ability to operate. Also, during the spring thaw, which normally starts in late March and continues through June, some areas in Canada may impose
transportation restrictions to prevent damage caused by the spring thaw.

Social disruptions or community disputes in our areas of operations Colombia and Ecuador may delay production and result in lost revenue

To enjoy the support and trust of local populations and governments in Colombia and Ecuador, we must demonstrate a commitment to providing local employment, training and
business opportunities; a high level of environmental performance; open and transparent communication; and a willingness to discuss and address community issues including
community development investments that are carefully selected, not unduly costly and bring lasting social and economic benefits to the community and the area. Improper
management of these relationships could lead to a delay or suspension of operations, loss of license or major impact to our reputation in these communities, which could adversely
affect our business. We cannot ensure that such issues or disruptions will not be experienced in the future, and we cannot predict their potential impacts, which may include delays
or loss of production, standby charges, stranded equipment, or damage to our facilities. We also cannot ensure that we will not experience protests or blockades erected by criminal
groups or cultivators of illegal crops, in response to the Colombian government's eradication of such crops, if such crops are grown in proximity to roads required to access our
operations. In addition, we must comply with legislative requirements for prior consultation with communities and ethnic groups who are affected by our proposed projects in
Colombia and Ecuador. Notwithstanding our compliance with these requirements, we may be sued by such communities through a writ for protection of tutela in the Colombian
courts for enhanced consultation, potentially leading to increased costs, operational delays and other impacts. In addition, several areas in Colombia have conducted Popular
Consultations and essential referendums on extractive industries. The referendums were organized by opponents of the mining or oil and natural gas industries. It remains unclear
to what extent such results can impact the exercise of mineral rights conferred by the national government. In 2023,2024, the Colombian government is undertaking
other commenced peace process conversations with illegal groups in the country. country, but it is not clear if these discussions will resolve the disruptions.

Security concerns in Colombia or Ecuador may disrupt our operations

Oil pipelines have historically been primary targets of terrorist activity in Colombia. Although a Peace Agreement was ratified by the Colombian government in 2016, the result of
which was the demobilization and disarmament of the Revolutionary Armed Forces of Colombia (“FARC"), there continue to be examples of violence against pipelines and other
infrastructure that has been attributed to former FARC dissident groups and other illegal groups. It is not currently known whether or to what degree violence will continue and
whether and to what degree that violence may impact our operations. Notwithstanding the Peace Agreement ratified and the ongoing efforts to implement such Agreements,
increased eradication by the Colombian government of illicit crops, as well as the continuing attempts by the Colombian government to reduce or prevent activity of guerrilla
dissidents and of farmers, such efforts may not be successful and such activity may continue to disrupt our operations in the future or cause us higher security costs and could
adversely impact our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Colombia and Ecuador have experienced social turmoil related to changes in economic policy, which have resulted in illegal road blockades throughout the countries, and illegal
invasions to private property and impacting regions where our operating activities are located. While blockages have been historically directed at the State, the resulting impact may
hinder our ability to mobilize oil, personnel and equipment, resulting in temporary shut-in of production or negatively impacting our assets.

Colombia and Ecuador also both have a history of security problems. Our efforts to ensure the security of our personnel and physical assets may not be successful and there can
also be no assurance that we can maintain the safety of our field personnel or our contractors’ field personnel and our Bogota and Quito head office personnel or operations in
Colombia and Ecuador or that this violence will not adversely affect our operations in the future and cause significant loss. If these security problems disrupt our operations, our
financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

All A substantial portion of our revenue is generated outside of Canada and the United States, and if we determine to, or are required to, repatriate earnings from
foreign jurisdictions, we could be subject to taxes

AllA substantial portion of our revenue is generated outside of Canada and the United States. The cash generated from operations abroad is generally not available to fund
domestic or head office operations unless funds are repatriated. At this time, we do not intend to repatriate further funds, other than to pay head office charges, but if we did, we
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might have to accrue and pay withholding taxes in certain jurisdictions on the distribution of accumulated earnings. Undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries are considered to
be permanently reinvested and a determination of the amount of unrecognized deferred tax liability on these undistributed earnings is not practicable.

Certain acquisitions could adversely affect our financial results
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We may pursue strategic acquisitions, such as our recent acquisition of i3 Energy, as part of our business strategy from time to time. There is no assurance that we will be able to
find suitable acquisition candidates or be able to complete acquisitions on favorable terms, if at all. We may also discover liabilities or deficiencies associated with any acquisitions
that were not identified in advance, which may result in unanticipated costs. Additionally, integration efforts associated with our acquisitions may require significant capital and
operating expense.

We intend to pay for future acquisitions using cash, stock, notes, debt, assumption of indebtedness or any combination of the foregoing. To the extent that we do not generate
sufficient cash internally to provide the capital we require to fund our growth strategy and future operations, we will require additional debt or equity financing. This additional
financing may not be available or, if available, may not be on terms acceptable to us. Further, high volatility in the capital markets and in our stock price may make it difficult for us to
access the capital markets at attractive prices, if at all.

In addition, the anticipated benefits of an acquisition may not be realized fully or at all, or may take longer to realize than we expect. For example, the success of our acquisition of i3
Energy will depend, in significant part, on our ability to successfully integrate i3 Energy and realize the anticipated strategic benefits and synergies from the acquisition. The
combination of independent businesses is complex, costly and time consuming, and we have devoted, and will continue to devote, significant management attention and resources
to integrating the respective business practices and operations of the companies. Further, the anticipated benefits of the acquisition may not be realized fully or at all, or may take
longer to realize than we expect. In connection with our acquisition of i3 Energy, we acquired assets in block 13/23c in the UK North Sea, management has not allocated any value
to this block and there is significant uncertainty that any value can be realized upon disposition or relinquishment. Actual operating, technological, strategic and revenue
opportunities, if achieved at all, may be less significant than we expect or may take longer to achieve than anticipated. If we are not able to achieve these objectives and realize the
anticipated benefits and synergies expected from our acquisitions the acquisition within a reasonable time, our business, financial condition and operating results of operations may
be adversely affected.

The threat and impact of cybersecurity incidents may adversely impact our operations and could result in information theft, data corruption, operational disruption,
and/or financial loss

We use digital technologies and software programs to interpret seismic data, manage drilling rigs, conduct reservoir modeling and reserves estimation, as well as to process and
record financial and operating data. We depend on digital technology, including information systems and related infrastructure as well as cloud application and services, to store,
transmit, process and record sensitive information (including trade secrets, employee information and financial and operating data), communicate with our employees and business
partners, analyze seismic and drilling information, estimate quantities of oil and gas reserves and for many other activities related to our business. The complexities of the
technologies needed to explore for and develop oil and gas in increasingly difficult physical environments, and global competition for oil and gas resources make certain information
attractive to thieves. Our business processes depend on the availability, capacity, reliability and security of our information technology infrastructure and our ability to expand and
continually update this infrastructure in response to our changing needs and therefore it is critical to our business that our facilities and infrastructure remain secure. While we have
implemented strategies to mitigate impacts from these types of events, we cannot guarantee that measures taken to defend against cybersecurity risks and threats will be sufficient
for this purpose. The ability of the information technology function to support our business in the event of a security breach or a disaster such as fire or flood and our ability to
recover key systems and information from unexpected interruptions cannot be fully tested and there is a risk that, if such an event actually occurs, we may not be able to address
immediately the repercussions of the breach or disaster. In that event, key information and systems may be unavailable for a number of days or weeks, leading to our inability to
conduct business or perform some business processes inon a timely manner. Moreover, if any of these events were to materialize, they could lead to losses of sensitive information,
critical infrastructure, personnel or capabilities essential to our operations and could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, financial condition or results of operations.

Our employees have been and will continue to be targeted by parties using fraudulent “spoof’ and “phishing” emails to misappropriate information or to introduce viruses or other
malware through “trojan horse” programs to our computers. These emails appear to be legitimate emails but direct recipients to fake websites operated by the sender of the email or
request that the recipient send a password or other confidential information through email or download malware. Despite our efforts to mitigate “spoof” and “phishing” emails through
policies and education, “spoof” and “phishing” activities remain a serious problem risk that may result in damage our information technology infrastructure.

We may be adversely affected by global epidemics or public health crises

Global epidemics and public health crises and fear of such events may adversely impact our operations and the global economy, including the worldwide demand for oil and natural
gas. The extent to which our business, results of operations and financial
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condition will be affected by such events depend on future developments, many of which are outside of our control, such as the duration, severity, and sustained geographic spread
of the virus, and the impact and effectiveness of governmental actions to contain and treat outbreaks, including government policies and restrictions; vaccine hesitancy, vaccine
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mandates, and voluntary or mandatory quarantines; and the global response surrounding such uncertainties. To the extent any global epidemic or public health crisis may adversely
affect our business, operations, financial condition and operating results, it may also have the effect of heightening the other risks described herein.

Risks Related to our Financial Condition
Our business requires significant capital expenditures, and we may not have the resources necessary to fund these expenditures

Our base capital program for 2024 2025 is $210.0 million $240.0 million to $240.0 million $280.0 million for exploration and development activities. We expect to fund our 2024 2025
capital program through cash flows from operations. Funding this program from cash flows from operations relies in part on average Brent oil prices being $70 of $75 per barrel, WTI
oil prices of $71 per barrel and gas prices of C$2.50 per mcf or greater. For the period from January 1 to February 15, 2024 February 20, 2025, the average price prices of Brent oil,
was $79.58 WTI oil and AECO natural gas were $77.24 per barrel. barrel, $73.86 per barrel and C$2.04 per mcf, respectively.

If cash flows from operations and cash on hand are not sufficient to fund our capital program, we may be required to seek external financing or to delay or reduce our exploration
and development activities, which could impact production, revenues and reserves.

If we require additional capital, we may pursue sources of capital through various financing transactions or arrangements, including joint venturing of projects, debt financing, equity
financing or other means. We may not be able to access capital on favorable terms or at all. If we do succeed in raising additional capital, future financings may be dilutive to our
shareholders, as we could issue additional shares of Common Stock or other equity to investors. In addition, debt and other mezzanine financing may involve a pledge of assets,
require covenants that would restrict our business activities, and may be senior to interests of equity holders. We may incur substantial costs in pursuing future capital financing,
including investment banking fees, legal fees and other costs. We may also be required to recognize non-cash expenses in connection with certain securities we may issue, such as
convertibles and warrants, which would adversely impact our financial results.

Our ability to obtain needed financing may be impaired by factors such as weak capital markets (both generally and for the oil and gas industry in particular), the location of our oil
and natural gas properties, including our assets in Colombia, Ecuador and Ecuador, Canada, low or declining prices of oil and natural gas on the commodities markets, and the loss
of key management. Further, if oil or natural gas prices on the commodities markets decrease, then our revenues will likely decrease, and such decreased revenues may increase
our requirements for capital. Some of the contractual arrangements governing our exploration activity may require us to commit to certain capital expenditures, and we may lose our
contract rights if we do not have the required capital to fulfill these commitments. If the amount of capital we are able to raise from financing activities, together with our cash flows
from operations, is not sufficient to satisfy our capital needs, (even to the extent that we reduce our activities), we may be required to curtail our operations.

Public and investor sentiment towards climate change, fossil fuels and other Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) matters could adversely affect our cost of
capital and the price of our common stock

Certain numbers members of the investment community (including investment fund managers, sovereign wealth, pension and endowment funds, and individual investors) have
promoted the divestment of fossil fuel equities and pressured lenders to cease or limit funding to companies engaged in the extraction of fossil fuel reserves, including recent
divestment actions by several prominent New York State and New York public employee pension funds. There has also been pressure on lenders and other financial services
companies to limit or curtail financing of companies in the oil and gas industry. Such environmental initiatives aimed at targeting climate changes could ultimately interfere with our
access to capital and ability to finance our operations.

Some members of the investment community have increased their focus on ESG practices and disclosures by public companies, including practices and disclosures related to
climate change and sustainability, Diversity, Equity diversity, equity and Inclusion (“DEI”)inclusion initiatives, and heightened governance standards. standards, while others have
criticized companies for such practices and modified their investments as a result of the same initiatives. Furthermore, concerns over climate change have resulted in, and are
expected to continue to result in, the adoption of regulatory requirements for climate-related disclosures. As a result, we may continue to face increasing pressure regarding our
ESG disclosures and practices, and mandatory reporting obligations could increase our compliance burden and costs. We publish a Sustainability Report, which outlines our
progress and ongoing efforts to advance our ESG initiatives. Our disclosures on these matters rely on management’s expectations as of the date the statements are first made, as
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well as standards for measuring progress that are still in development, and may change or fail to be realized. These expectations and standards may continue to evolve.

A failure to meet our publicly disclosed goals or evolving stakeholder expectations of ESG practices and reporting may increase the risk of litigation with respect to such goals or
expectations, potentially harm our reputation and impact employee retention, customer relationships, and access to capital.

Foreign currency exchange rate volatility may affect our financial results

We sell our oil and natural gas production under agreements that are denominated mainly in U.S. dollars and Canadian dollars. Many of the operational and other expenses we
incur in Colombia, including current and deferred tax assets and liabilities, in Colombia, are denominated in Colombian pesos. Most Our capital and operational expenditures in
Canada and most of our administration costs in Canada are incurred in Canadian dollars. As a result, we are exposed to translation risk when local currency transactions are
translated to U.S. dollars, our reporting currency. An appreciation of local currencies can increase our costs and negatively impact our results from operations. Because our
Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in U.S. dollars, we must translate revenues, expenses and income, as well as assets and liabilities, into U.S. dollars at exchange
rates in effect during or at the end of each reporting period. We are also exposed to transaction risk on settlement of payables and receivables denominated in foreign currency.

Legal and Regulatory Risks
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We are dependent on obtaining and maintaining permits and licenses from various governmental authorities

Our oil and natural gas exploration and production operations are subject to complex and stringent laws and regulations. In order to conduct our operations in compliance with these
laws and regulations, we must obtain and maintain numerous licenses, permits, approvals and certificates, including environmental and other operating permits. We may not be able
to obtain, sustain or renew such licenses and permits on a timely basis or at all. We may also have licenses and permits rescinded or may not be able to renew expiring licenses
and permits. Failure or delay in obtaining or maintaining regulatory approvals or permits could have a material adverse effect on our ability to develop and explore on our properties,
and receipt of drilling permits with onerous conditions could increase our compliance costs. Loss of permits for existing drilling, water injection or other activities necessary for
production may result in a decline of our production levels and revenues or damage to the well structure. Regulations and policies relating to these licenses and permits may
change, be implemented in a way that we do not currently anticipate or take significantly greater time to obtain. There can be no assurance that future political conditions in
Colombia and Ecuador will not result in changes to policies with respect to foreign development and ownership of oil, environmental protection, health and safety or labor relations,
which may negatively affect our ability to undertake exploration and development activities in respect of present and future properties, as well as our ability to raise funds to further
such activities.

As we are not the operator of all the joint ventures we are currently involved in, we may rely on the operator to obtain all necessary permits and licenses. If we fail to comply with
these requirements, we could be prevented from drilling for oil and natural gas, and we could be subject to civil or criminal liability or fines. Revocation or suspension of our
environmental and operating permits could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In Colombia, the ANH is delegated by the Ministry of Mining and Energy to offer and award new blocks through exploration and production (“E&P)&P”) and technical evaluation
agreement contract terms. The new administration has stated that no new bid rounds for exploration blocks will be done until it is decided differently by the government. In addition,
in 2023 the government issued a new decree eliminating the obligation of ANH to offer bid rounds for new blocks to Companies. Under new Colombia regulation, we may not be
able to obtain new exploration licenses which can have adverse impact on our future exploration activities, production and operations.

In connection with our acquisition of i3 Energy, we acquired an entity that owns and operates block 13/23c in the UK North Sea. Like other companies with UK North Sea assets, the
frequent and adverse changes to the United Kingdom'’s oil and gas fiscal regime have caused significant uncertainty that any value can be realized on disposition or relinquishment
of UK assets. Management has no intentions to develop UK assets.

Environmental regulation and risks may adversely affect our business

Environmental regulation is stringent and the costs and expenses of regulatory compliance are increasing. All phases of the oil and natural gas business present environmental risks
and hazards and are subject to environmental regulation pursuant to an extensive suite of international conventions and national and regional laws and regulations. Environmental
legislation provides laws and regulations in the countries in which we operate provide for, among other things, restrictions and prohibitions on spills, releases or
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emissions of various substances used or produced in association with oil and gas operations. The legislation These regulations also requires require that wells and facility sites be
operated, maintained, abandoned and reclaimed to the satisfaction of applicable regulatory authorities. Compliance with such legislation can require significant expenditures. Failure
to comply with these laws and regulations may result in the suspension or termination of operations and subject us to administrative, civil and criminal fines and penalties. Our
operations create the risk of significant environmental liabilities to the government of the jurisdictions in which we operate or third parties for any unlawful discharge of oil, gas or
other pollutants into the air,

soil or water or for certain other environmental impacts. There is uncertainty around the impact of environmental laws and regulations, including those presently in force and those
expected to be proposed in the future. We cannot predict how future environmental laws will be interpreted, administered or enforced, but more stringent laws or regulations or more
vigorous enforcement policies could in the future require material expenditures by us for the installation and operation of compliant systems; therefore it is impossible at this time to
predict the nature and impact of those requirements on our company however they may have a material adverse impact on our business.

Given the nature of our business, there are inherent risks of oil spills at drilling or operations sites due to operational failure, accidents, sabotage, pipeline failure or tampering or
escape of oil due to the transportation of the oil by truck. All of these may lead to significant potential environmental liabilities, such as damages, litigation costs, clean-up costs or
penalties, some of which may be material and for which our insurance coverage maybe inadequate or unavailable.

We may be exposed to liabilities under anti-bribery laws and a finding that we violated these laws could have a material adverse effect on our business

We are subject to anti-bribery laws in the United States, Canada, Ecuador and Colombia and will be subject to similar laws in other jurisdictions where we may operate in the future.
We may face, directly or indirectly, corrupt demands by officials, tribal or insurgent organizations, international organizations, or private entities. As a result, we face the risk of
unauthorized payments or offers of payments by employees, contractors, agents, and partners of ours or our subsidiaries or affiliates, given that these parties are not always subject
to our control or direction. It is our policy to prohibit these practices. However, our existing safeguards and any future improvements to those measures may prove to be less than
effective or may not be followed, and our employees, contractors, agents, and partners may engage in illegal conduct for which we might be held responsible. A violation of any of
these laws, even if prohibited by our policies, may result in criminal or civil sanctions or other penalties (including profit disgorgement) as well as reputational damage and could
have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition.

If the United States imposes sanctions on Colombia, Ecuador or Ecuador Canada in the future, our business may be adversely affected
Colombia is among several nations whose eligibility to receive foreign aid from the United States is dependent on its progress in stemming the production and transit of illegal drugs,

which is subject to an annual review by the President of the United States. Although Colombia is currently eligible for such aid, it may not remain eligible in the future. A finding by
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the President that Colombia has failed demonstrably to meet its obligations under international counter-narcotic agreements may result in the imposition of economic and trade
sanctions on Colombia which could result in adverse economic consequences in Colombia including potentially threatening our ability to obtain necessary financing to develop our
Colombian properties, and could further heighten the political and economic risks associated with our operations there. The United States may in the future impose similar eligibility
restrictions on foreign aid provided to Ecuador. The president of the United States declared that Canada, among other countries, is responsible for illegal immigration and drug
transit to United States and is in the process of implementing 10% tariffs on energy resources from Canada. Implementation of tariffs could have adverse impact on our profitability
from Canadian operations.

Regulations related to emissions and the impact of any changes in climate could adversely impact our business, including demand for our products, our financial
condition and results of operations

Governments around the world have become increasingly focused on regulating greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions and addressing the impacts of climate change in some manner.
GHG emissions legislation is emerging and is subject to change. For example, on an international level, in December 2015, almost 200 nations, including Canada, Colombia and, by
ratification in July 2017, Ecuador, agreed to an international climate change agreement in Paris, France (the “Paris Agreement”), that calls for countries to set their own GHG
emission targets and be transparent about the measures each country will use to achieve its GHG emission targets. Although it is not possible at this time to predict how this
legislation or any new regulations that may be adopted to address GHG emissions would impact our business, any such future laws and regulations that limit emissions of GHGs
could adversely affect demand for the oil and natural gas that we produce. Current GHG emissions legislation has not resulted in material compliance costs; however, emissions,
carbon and other regulations impacting climate and climate related matters are constantly evolving. It is not possible at this time to predict whether proposed legislation or
regulations will be adopted, and any such future laws and regulations could result in additional compliance costs or additional operating
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restrictions. If we are unable to recover a significant amount of our costs related to complying with climate change regulatory requirements imposed on us, it could have a material
adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Significant restrictions on GHG emissions could result in decreased demand for the oil and natural gas
that we produce, with a resulting decrease in the value of our reserves. Increasing attention to the risks of climate change has resulted in an increased possibility of lawsuits brought
by public and private entities against oil and natural gas companies in connection with their GHG emissions. Should we be targeted by any such litigation, we may incur liability,
which, to the extent that societal pressures or political or other factors are involved, could be imposed without regard to the Company’s causation of or contribution to the asserted
damage, or to other mitigating factors. Finally, although we strive to operate our business operations to accommodate expected climatic conditions, to the extent there are significant
changes in the Earth’s climate, such as more severe or frequent weather conditions in the markets we serve or the areas where our assets reside, we could incur increased
expenses, our operations could be materially impacted, and demand for our products could fall. In 2023, 2024, El-Nifio-induced drought experienced across Colombia the resulted in
a decrease in power generated from hydroelectricity which increased power costs which and resulted in higher operating expenses.

Reduction, elimination or expiration of government subsidies

The profitability of our business depends on government-imposed financial instruments such as carbon taxes and carbon tax credits. Any of these financial instruments may be
changed by the relevant government and such changes may adversely affect the profitability of some or all of our business. There is a risk that accounting for GHG releases and the
rate of carbon taxation and the level it reaches will be changed from time to time, creating an economic environment of uncertainty. This risk is further complicated by the
dependency of Canadian hydrocarbon energy producers on exports to the United Stated and the uncertainty as to how the United Stated will regulate GHG emissions related to
domestic and Canadian production.

Carbon taxes and environmental compliance costs

The crude oil and natural gas industry is subject to environmental regulation pursuant to municipal, provincial and federal legislation in Canada. Such legislation may be changed to
impose higher standards and potentially more costly obligations. Policies aimed at reducing emissions of carbon dioxide and methane could become a burden on crude oil and
natural gas commodities relative to other sources of energy in the marketplace. Furthermore, there is no assurance that any such programs or regulatory amendments, if proposed
and enacted, may contain emission reduction targets that we can meet. Financial penalties or charges could be incurred as a result of the failure to meet such targets. As carbon
accounting rules and carbon emissions penalties evolve, distributed small-scale use of hydrocarbon-based fuels may become very costly, which may motivate the discontinued use
of hydrocarbon-based fuels. This evolution, if it occurs, may severely reduce the hydrocarbon-production market to large consumers that have carbon capture and storage
capability.

Risks Related to Ownership of our Common Stock

Shares of our Common Stock are listed on the NYSE American, the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) and the London Stock Exchange (“LSE”) and investors seeking to
take advantage of price differences between such markets may create unexpected volatility in market prices

Shares of our Common Stock are listed on the NYSE American, the TSX and the LSE. While the shares of Common Stock are traded on such markets, the price and volume levels
could fluctuate significantly on any market independently of the price or trading volume on other markets. Investors could seek to sell or purchase shares of Common Stock to take
advantage of any price differences between the NYSE American, the TSX and the LSE through a practice referred to as arbitrage. Any arbitrage activity could create unexpected
volatility in the price of the shares of Common Stock on any of these exchanges or the volume of shares of Common Stock available for trading on any of these markets. In addition,
shareholders in any of these jurisdictions will not be able to transfer such shares of Common Stock for trading on another market without effecting necessary procedures with our
transfer agent or registrar. This could result in time delays and additional cost for shareholders of the Common Stock.

The market price of our Common Stock may be volatile
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The market price for shares of our Common Stock has experienced and may continue to experience volatility. For example, during 2024, the market price for shares of our Common
Stock ranged from a low of $4.72 per share to a high of $10.40 per share. The market price for shares of our Common Stock may be influenced by many factors, some of which are
beyond our control, including those described above and the following:

¢ strategic actions or announcements by us of significant contracts, acquisitions, joint marketing relationships, joint ventures or capital commitments;
« general economic and stock market conditions;

el

« volatility in commodity prices;

e risks related to our business and our industry, including those discussed above;

» changes in conditions or trends in our industry, markets or customers;

« geopolitical events or terrorist acts;

e trading volume of our Common Stock;

e future sales of shares of our Common Stock or other securities by us, members of our management team or our existing shareholders; and
¢ investor perceptions of the investment opportunity associated with our industry or securities relative to other investment alternatives.

These market and industry factors may materially reduce the market price for shares of our Common Stock, regardless of our operating performance.
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity

Governance

Board of Directors

The Board of Directors (“the Board”) has delegated the primary responsibility to oversee risks from cybersecurity threats to the Audit Committee. The Board and Audit Committee
regularly periodically review the measures implemented by the Company to identify and mitigate data protection and cybersecurity risks. The Board and Audit Committee are
updated on a quarterly basis by Vice President, Corporate Services on the Company'’s internal information technology (“IT") security testing, any unauthorized attempts to access
the Company’s network, any significant developments in cyber security risks and threats, and updates on the Company's policies and procedures for protecting the Company’s data.
We also have processes by which certain cybersecurity incidents are escalated within the Company and, where appropriate, reported in a timely manner to the Board and Audit
Committee. All incidents are reported to the Executive Officers (including the President and Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and the Chief Operating Officer) who
assess the severity and what measures and procedures are necessary.

As part of the Company’s enterprise risk management, the Board of the Company receives, reviews and assesses reports from the Board's committees and from management
relating to enterprise-level risks. The Audit Committee reports its cybersecurity risk assessments to the full Board at each regularly scheduled Board meeting.

Management

The Executive Officers and Executive Vice President, Corporate Services are involved in all significant and appropriate cybersecurity decisions on the implementation and design of
our IT architecture. Executive Vice President, Corporate Services, along with support from the Director of IT, is responsible for the assessment and management of risks from
cybersecurity threats and oversees the implementation of IT processes, which includes cybersecurity, into the core business of the Company. The Director of IT has extensive
cybersecurity knowledge and skills gained from over 20 years of relevant work experience. The Director of IT discusses all potential changes to the Company’s controls or detection
systems with the Executive Vice President, Corporate Services prior to implementation. The Executive Vice President, Corporate Services is updated by the Director of IT on a
regular periodic basis regarding trends in technology and cybersecurity threats or any potential changes to the Company’s cybersecurity program. The Director of IT is informed
about and monitors the prevention, detection, mitigation, and remediation of cybersecurity incidents through a number of experienced direction systems and third party cybersecurity
providers. The Executive Vice President, Corporate Services also attends certain meetings of the Audit Committee to report information on material risks from cybersecurity threats.
None of our critical core business activities that impact production, transportation or sales of oil and gas are remotely controlled.

Risk Management and Strategy

We have implemented a cybersecurity program to assess, identify, mitigate and manage risks from cybersecurity threats that may result in material adverse effects on the
confidentiality, integrity, and availability of our information systems. As part of this program, we have processes in place that include a variety of controls, systems, and technologies
designed to prevent or mitigate data loss, theft, misuse, or other cybersecurity incidents affecting the data we collect, process, store, and transmit as part of our business. We

conduct penetration testing and cybersecurity audits, and require all employees to undertake data
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protection and cybersecurity training on an annual basis. We also use systems and processes designed to oversee and identify risks associated with our use of third-party service
providers, including with respect to the occurrence of a cybersecurity incident at a third-party service provider or that otherwise implicates a third-party technology or system we use.
We contract cybersecurity specialists to review and implement controls and structural mechanisms in order to enhance our cybersecurity program, and protect against and detect
cybersecurity threats.

To our knowledge, we have not experienced any risks from cybersecurity threats or incidents through the date of this annual report that have materially affected or are reasonably
likely to materially affect the Company, its business strategy, results of operation or financial condition. This does not guarantee that future incidents or threats will not have a
material impact or that we are not currently the subject of an undetected incident or threat that may have such an impact. In particular, sophisticated nation state actors have
targeted critical infrastructure, and may continue to do so in the future.

Additional information on cybersecurity risks we face is discussed in “Risk Factors” in Item 1A, which should be read in conjunction with the foregoing information.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We have several lawsuits and claims pending. The outcome of the lawsuits and disputes cannot be predicted with certainty; certainty. We believe the resolution of these matters

would not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. We record costs as they are incurred or become
probable and determinable.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
Information About Our Executive Officers

Set forth below is information regarding our executive officers as of February 15, 2024 February 20, 2025:

Name Age Position

Gary S. Guidry 6869 President and Chief Executive Officer, Director

Ryan Ellson 4849 Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President, Finance
Sebastien Morin 4748 Chief Operating Officer

Phillip Abraham 5354 Executive Vice President, Legal and Business DevelopmentLand
James Evans 5859 Executive Vice President, Corporate Services

e Gary S. Guidry, President and Chief Executive Officer, Director. Mr. Guidry has been Gran Tierra's Chief Executive Officer and President since May 7, 2015. From July 2011 to
July 2014, Mr. Guidry served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Caracal Energy Inc. Mr. Guidry also served as President and CEO of Orion Oil & Gas Corp. from
October 2009 to July 2011, Tanganyika Qil Corp. from May 2005 to January 2009, and Calpine Natural Gas Trust from October 2003 to February 2005. As Chief Executive
Officer of these companies, Mr. Guidry was responsible for overseeing all aspects of the respective company’s business. Mr. Guidry currently sits on the board of Africa Oil
Corp. (since April 2008) where he also serves as a member of the Audit Committee. Mr. Guidry was on the board of PetroTal Corp. from December 2017 until September 2022.
From September 2010 to October 2011, Mr. Guidry served on the board of Zodiac Exploration Corp., from October 2009 to March 2014, he served on the board of TransGlobe
Energy Corp., and from February 2007 to May 2018, he served on the board of Shamaran Petroleum Corp. Prior to these positions, Mr. Guidry served as Senior Vice President
and subsequently President of Alberta Energy Company International, and President and General Manager of Canadian Occidental Petroleum’s Nigerian operations. Mr. Guidry
has directed exploration and production operations in Yemen, Syria and Egypt and has worked for oil and gas companies around the world in the U.S., Colombia, Ecuador,
Venezuela, Argentina and Oman. Mr. Guidry is an Alberta-registered professional engineer (P. Eng.) and holds a B.Sc. in petroleum engineering from Texas A&M University.

* Ryan Ellson, Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President, Finance. Mr. Ellson has been Gran Tierra’'s Chief Financial Officer since May 2015. Mr. Ellson has over 24
years of experience in a broad range of international corporate finance and accounting roles. Mr. Ellson is currently a Director of Canary Biofuels and Beyond Renewables (both
private companies) (private company) and until September 2022 previously was a Director of Canaary Biofuels (until October 2024) and Director at PetroTal Corp. (since
December 2017) (until September 2022). From July 2014 until December 2014 Mr. Ellson was Head of Finance for Glencore E&P (Canada) Inc. and prior thereto Vice
President, Finance at Caracal Energy Inc.(“Caracal”), a London Stock Exchange (“LSE") listed company with operations
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in Chad, Africa from August 2011 until July 2014. Glencore E&P (Canada) purchased Caracal in July 2014. Mr. Ellson has held management and executive positions with
companies operating in Chad, Egypt, India and Canada. Mr. Ellson is a Chartered Professional Accountant and holds a Bachelor of Commerce and a Masters of Professional
Accounting from the University of Saskatchewan. Mr. Ellson has completed the Leadership for Senior Executives program at Harvard Business School and the General
Management Program at the Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania.
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« Sebastien Morin, Chief Operating Officer. Mr. Morin was appointed as Gran Tierra’s Chief Operations Officer on November 6, 2023. Mr. Morin has more than 20 years of
experience in the oil and gas industry in various management positions. Prior to his appointment as Chief Operating Officer of the Company, Mr. Morin served as President and
Chief Operating Officer at WesternZagros Resources, a privately-owned petroleum operating company with production sharing contracts in the Kurdistan region of Iraq, from
October 2021 to October 2023. Prior to his role at WesternZagros, Mr. Morin was Vice President Global Drilling and Completions at Gran Tierra, leading up to that he held
progressively more senior positions at Gran Tierra in Colombia and in the Corporate Office in Calgary from August 2014 to September 2021. From May 2001 to July 2014, Mr.
Morin worked at Imperial Oil (Esso) and ExxonMobil, where he achieved more senior technical and managerial positions in upstream and downstream including roles in drilling
and completions, reservoir development, production, customer service and distribution, mostly onshore but also with experience offshore in the Gulf of Mexico. Mr. Morin has a
Bachelor of Science degree in Geological Engineering from the University of Waterloo in 2001.

«  Phillip Abraham, Executive Vice President, Legal and Business Development. Land. Mr. Abraham has been with Gran Tierra in a variety of roles since January 2016 and, in
addition to his current role as Vice President, Legal and Business Development, is also Gran Tierra's Corporate Secretary. He is a lawyer with over 25 years of corporate and
legal experience. His legal experience includes positions at prominent law firms and is broadly based with a focus on international energy law. Mr. Abraham’s corporate
experience extends to a variety of leadership positions with Cenovus Energy, Encana Corporation and Nexen Inc. His experience in oil and gas includes onshore and offshore
projects located in Canada and various international jurisdictions in Latin America, Europe, Africa, Asia and the Middle East. Mr. Abraham is a member of Law Society of
Alberta, holds both a B.A. and an LL.M. from the University of Calgary and a LL.B. from the University of Victoria, and was first called to the bar in British Columbia in 1997. He
is credited as the author of various publications and has presented in numerous professional forums.

« James Evans, Executive Vice President, Corporate Services. Mr. Evans has been Gran Tierra’s Vice President, Corporate Services, since May 2015. Mr. Evans has over 30
years of experience including working the last 19 years in the international oil and gas industry. Most recently, Mr. Evans was the Head of Compliance & Corporate Services for
Glencore E&P (Canada) Inc. from July 2014 to December 2014, and prior thereto Vice President of Compliance & Corporate Services at Caracal Energy Inc. from July 2011 to
June 2014 where he oversaw the execution of corporate strategy and goals, developed and implemented a robust corporate compliance program, and managed all aspects of
IT, document control, security and administration. Mr. Evans also managed the recruitment, training and retention of staff in both Calgary and Chad. He oversaw the growth of
Caracal Energy from seven employees to more than 400 at the time of sale to Glencore. Prior to Caracal, Mr. Evans held senior management and executive positions at Orion
Oil and Gas and Tanganyika Oil, with operating experience in Egypt, Syria and Canada. Mr. Evans holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of Calgary.

PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Shares of our Common Stock trade on the NYSE American, the TSX and on the LSE under the symbol “GTE".

As of February 15, 2024 February 20, 2025, there were approximately 32 holders of record of shares of our Common Stock and 32,246,501 35,888,773 shares outstanding with
$0.001 par value.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid dividends on the shares of Common Stock and we intend to retain future earnings, if any, to support the development of the business and therefore
do not anticipate paying cash dividends for the foreseeable future. Payment of future dividends, if any, would be at the discretion of our Board of Directors after taking into account
various
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factors, including current financial condition, the tax impact of repatriating cash, operating results and current and anticipated cash needs.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
(d)
(c) Total Number Maximum Number of
of Shares Purchased as Shares that May
(a) (b) Part of Publicly Yet be Purchased
Total Number of Shares  Average Price Paid per  Announced Plans or Under the Plans
Purchased Share (1) Programs or Programs (2
October 1-31, 2023 — 3 — — 3,234,914
November 1-30, 2023 755,790 $ 6.34 755,790 2,479,124
December 1-31, 2023 286,014 $ 5.87 286,014 2,193,110
Total 1,041,804 $ 6.21 1,041,804 2,193,110
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(d)
Maximum Number of
Shares that May

(c) Total Number
of Shares Purchased as

(a) (b) Part of Publicly Yet be Purchased
Total Number of Shares  Average Price Paid per Announced Plans or Under the Plans
Purchased Share (1) Programs or Programs (2
October 1-31, 2024 —$ — — 3,545,872
November 1-30, 2024 298,450 $ 6.31 298,450 3,247,422
December 1-31, 2024 189,498 $ 6.76 189,498 3,057,924
487,948 $ 6.49 487,948 3,057,924

Total

@ Including commission fees paid to the broker to re-purchase the shares of Common Stock.

(2 On October 31, 2023 November 4, 2024, we implemented a share re-purchase program (the 2023 “2024 Program”) through the facilities of the TSX, the NYSE American or alternative trading
programs in Canada or the United States commencing November 3, 2023 November 6, 2024 and ending on November 2, 2024 November 5, 2025. Under the 20232024 Program, we are able to
purchase at prevailing market prices up to 3,234,914 3,545,872 shares of Common Stock, representing approximately 10% of the public float of common shares as of October 20, 2023 October 31,

2024.
Performance Graph

The information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K appearing under the heading “Performance Graph” is being “furnished” pursuant to Item 201(e) of Regulation S-K under the
securities Act and shall not be deemed to be “soliciting material” or “filed” with the SEC or subject to Regulation 14A or 14C, other than as provided in Item 201(e) of Regulation S-K,
or to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Exchange Act and shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act except to the
extent that we specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing.

The performance graph below shows the cumulative total shareholder return on our shares of the period starting on December 31, 2019, and ending on December 31, 2024, which
was the end of our fiscal 2023 year. This is compared with the cumulative total returns over the same period of the S&P 500 Total Return Index and the S&P O&G E&P Select Index
Total Return. The graph assumes that, on December 31, 2019, $100 was invested in our shares and $100 was invested in each of the other two indices, with dividends reinvested
on the ex-dividend date without payment of any commissions. The performance shown in the graph represents past performance and should not considered an indication of future
performance.
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#1317
12/31/2019 12/31/2020 12/31/2021 12/31/2022 12/31/2023 12/31/2024
Gran Tierra Energy Inc. (GTE) 100.0 |$ 28.2 ($ 59.0 [$ 76.7 |$ 43.7 ($ 56.0
S&P 500 Total Return (SPXT) $ 100.0 |$ 118.4 [$ 152.4 |$ 1248 |$ 157.6 |$ 197.0
S&P O&G E&P Select Index Total Return (SPSIOPTR) $ 100.0 |$ 63.4 |$ 106.3 |$ 154.9 |$ 160.8 |$ 159.7

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

This report, and in particular this Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, contains forward-looking statements within the meaning
of Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act. Please see the cautionary language at the very beginning of this Annual Report on Form 10-K regarding
the identification of and risks relating to forward-looking statements, as well as Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” as set out in Part
Il, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations generally discusses items related to the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, and year-to-year comparisons between the fiscal years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, and 2022, 2023,
respectively. Discussions of items related to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and year-to-year comparisons between the fiscal years ended December
31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021,2022, respectively, that are not included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K can be found in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Part Il, Item 7 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023.
On May 5, 2023, the Company completed 1-for-10 reverse stock split of the Company’s Common Stock. As a result of the reverse stock split, every ten of the Company’s issued
shares of Common Stock were automatically combined into one issued share of Common Stock. All share and per share data included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K have
been retroactively adjusted to reflect the reverse stock split.

Overview
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We are a company focused on oil and gas exploration and production, with assets currently in Colombia, Canada and Ecuador. Our Colombian properties represented 94% 47%,
our Canadian properties represented 46% and our Ecuadorian properties represented 7% of our proved reserves NAR at December 31, 2023. For December 31, 2024, and for the
year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 93% of our revenue was
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generated in Colombia (2023 - 97% and 2022 -100%), 3% of our revenue was generated in Colombia (2022 Canada (2023 and 2022 - 100% nil) and 2021 -100%). 4% (2023 - 3%,
2022 - nil) of our revenue was generated in Ecuador. We are headquartered in Calgary, Alberta, Canada.

As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we had estimated proved reserves NAR of 74.3135.0 MMBOE, a 13% an 82% increase from the prior year, of which 53% 50% were
proved developed reserves and 100% 62% were oil.

Financial and Operational Highlights

Key Highlights

« On October 31, 2024, we acquired oil and natural gas reserves and production operations in Canada through the acquisition of all of the issued and outstanding common
shares of i3 Energy, subsequently renamed Gran Tierra UK Limited (“Gran Tierra UK”), for $204.5 million. We consolidated operating activities for the last two months of
2024 as a result of the i3 Energy acquisition

e Net lossincome in 20232024 was $6.3 million $3.2 million or $(0.19)$0.10 per share basic and diluted compared to a net income loss of $139.0 million $6.3 million or
$3.81$(0.19) per share basic and $3.76 per share diluted in 20222023

* Income before income taxes in 2023 2024 was $106.2 million $44.6 million compared to $244.9 million $106.2 million in 20222023
« Adjusted EBITDA) for 2023 in 2024 was $399.4 366.8 million compared to $481.9 million $399.4 million in 2022 2023

e In 2023,2024, we re-purchased 1.30.5 million and 1.01.7 million shares of Common Stock through the 20222024 and 2023 share re-purchase programs, representing
about 4% 1% and 3% 5%, respectively, of shares outstanding as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024

e Our total 2023 2024 average production NAR was 26,099 BOPD, 27,890 BOEPD, an increase from 23,815 BOPD 26,099 BOEPD in 2022 2023 as a result of successful two-
months of production from the newly acquired Canadian operations, and positive exploration drilling and workover campaignsresults in all major fields, and
increased Ecuador, partially offset by lower production in Ecuador the Acordionero field

e Our total 2023 2024 oil, natural gas and NGL sales volumes NAR increased by 9% 6% to 27,436 BOEPD compared to 25,947 BOPD compared to 23,696 BOPD BOEPD in
20222023

» Oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids (“NGL") sales for 20232024 decreased by 10% 2% to $621.8 million compared to $637.0 million compared to $711.4 million in
2022, 2023, primarily as a result of a 17% 3% decrease in Brent price, and higher Castilla and Vasconia differentials, partially lower in sales volumes in Colombia, offset by
9% increase in sales volumes in Ecuador, lower differentials, and lower transportation discounts

* Oil sales per bbl for 2023 were $67.26, 18% lower compared to 2022, as a resultthe addition of a decrease natural gas and NGL into the portfolio via the Canadian
acquisition in benchmark oil prices 2024

e In2023,2024, we generated net cash provided by operating activities of $228.0 million $239.3 million, a decrease an increase of 47% 5% from $427.7 million $228.0 million
in 2022

»  During 2023 the Company generated $57.9 million of free cash flow(z) which was used for debt reduction and share re-purchases

« Operating expenses per bblboe for 2023 2024 were $19.73, 5% $20.15, 2% higher compared to 2022,2023, primarily due to higher lifting workovers. removal of diesel
subsidies and higher natural gas and electricity costs attributed to road and pipeline maintenance, power generation and equipment rental,in Colombia, partially offset by
lower workovers. operating costs in Ecuador as a result of production ramp-up in 2024. Total operating expenses were $186.9202.3 million in 2023,2024, compared to
$162.4 million $186.9 million in 2022,2023, representing an 8% increase as a 15% increase result of two months of Canadian production

* Quality and transportation discounts per bbl decreased boe increased in 2023 2024 to $14.90%$17.93 when compared to $16.79 $14.90 in 2022. The decrease was 2023
primarily due to the utilization of more favorable delivery points than in 2022 higher differentials

« Transportation expenses per bblboe for 2023 2024 increased by 31% 19% to $1.84 compared to $1.54 compared to $1.18 in 2022, primarily 2023, due to utilizationhigher
sales volumes transported in Ecuador, two months transportation of new transportation routes sales volumes in Colombia Canada through pipelines, and Ecuador related to
exploration wells and the depreciation of U.S. dollar against the Colombian peso during 2023an increase in trucking tariffs for Acordionero volumes in 2024

e General and administrative (“G&A") expenses before stock-based compensation per bblboe for 2023 increased 2024 decreased by 15% 6% to $3.97 compared to $4.24
compared to $3.69 in 20222023 due to lower business development, activities, higher salaries related to increased headcount in Ecuador to support ramp-up of
operations consulting and the strengthening of the Colombian peso legal expenses during during 2023. 2024. G&A expenses before stock-based compensation were $39.9
million in 2024 compared to $40.1 million in 2023, compared to $31.9 million in 2022, representing a 26% increase 1% decrease

« Capital expenditures decreased increased by $17.7 7.7 million or 7% 3% to $218.9 million $234.2 million compared to 20222023 due to a more condensed drilling program
during higher number of wells drilled in 2023 2024 in Colombia, Ecuador and Canada.
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(Thousands of U.S. Dollars, unless otherwise noted)

SEC Compliant Reserves, NAR (MMBOE)

Estimated proved oil and gas reserves

Estimated probable oil and gas reserves

Eélﬁ?nuaﬁga ?)%gsfit%{éséipgrlll(?ﬁ%}s reserves
Cash and cash equivalents
Average Consolidated Daily Volumes (BOPD)

W&@H&‘iﬂi@rest (“WI") production before royalties
Repyaitidotes

Production NAR

Elﬂ?tr)%%séﬁ}éise %rfeﬁ.sg.iBti)qurrg,o%less otherwise noted)
Sales 1)

REC(CospplinssReserves, NAR (MMBOE)

Estimated proved oil and gas reserves

Operating Netback
Estimiited probable oil and gas reserves
Oil sales

Bgigrsied prssitdewil and gas reserves

Kmmsméaﬁ)aily Volumes (BOEPD)
RRELAINHRSRAGE") production before royalties

Royalties i
G&A Expenses Before Stock-Based Compensation

Ergﬂugpggk%assed Compensation
HeRtee s inventory

Ralesash Provided By Operating Activities
Funds Flow From Operations (2)

Nsplnaenpdhafsles

Operating Netback
Oil, natural gas and NGL sales
Operating expenses

Transportation expenses

Operating netback (2)

G&A Expenses Before Stock-Based Compensation
G&A Stock-Based Compensation

Adjusted EBITDA (2

Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities

Funds Flow From Operations (2)

Capital Expenditures

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars)

Cash and cash equivalents
Credit facility

Senior Notes

) Sales volumes represent production NAR adjusted for inventory changes

(2 Non-GAAP measures

Year Ended December 31,

2023 % Change 2022 % Change 2021
74 12 66 1) 67
46 28 Asat Decembelggl, _ 36
2023 a9 %Change?ﬁ 2022 29 %change?6 2021 a1
$ 62,146 (51) $ 126,873 386 $ 26,109
$ 35:889 108 $ 30,748 (19 $ 56,869
$ 536,549) ® $ 576,989) Q) $ 6@9,909)
26,099 10 23,815 10 21,588
(152) (wgar Ended Dece(rlnjbggr 31, (1:290) o
25,947 9 73,696 TO T,598

2024 % Change 2023 % Change 2022
$ (6,287) (105) $ 139,029 227 % 42,482
135 82 74 12 66

1 1 4 2
$ 636,929 (%8) $ 711,385 Sg $ 473,7:362S
(186,8@3) 18 (162,389) 20 (135,739)
(14,546) 43 (10,197) (12) (11,618)
$ 432:746 1R >35,899 6g $ 336:7%¢
6,820) 4 6,548) (6) (6,931)
3 —26- ; 5 % 27,867
s 255939 @h s 28833 9 s 3988
s 300(488) 499 s 481(483) 189 s 240159
$ 227,488 4% s 427,941 B s 243,698
$ 276,785 24) $ 366,024 9% $ 186,485
§ 218,886 1% & 248,884 (188) § 139,829
37
$ 621,849 2 $ 636,957 (10) $ 711,388
(202,331) 8 (186,864) 15 (162,385)
(18,464) 27 (14,546) 43 (10,197)
$ 401,054 ®8) $ 435,547 19) $ 538,806
$ 39,912 1 $ 40,124 26 $ 31,908
$ 9,707 70 $ 5,722 37) % 9,049
$ 366,758 ®8) $ 399,355 @7 $ 481,882
$ 239,321 5 % 227,992 47 $ 427,711
$ 224,941 19 $ 276,785 24) $ 366,024
$ 234,236 3 3 226,584 8 $ 210,331
As at December 31,

2024 % Change 2023 % Change 2022
$ 103,379 66 $ 62,146 (51) $ 126,873
$ — (100) $ 36,364 100 $ =
$ 786,619 47 $ 536,619 7 $ 579,909

Operating netback, EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA, funds flow from operations, and free cash flow are non-GAAP measures which do not have any standardized meaning prescribed under U.S. General
Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”). Management views these measures as financial performance measures. Investors are cautioned that these measures should not be construed as
alternatives to oil sales, net income or loss (loss) or other measures of financial performance as determined in accordance with GAAP. Our method of calculating these measures may differ from other
companies and, accordingly, may not be comparable to similar measures used by other companies. Each Disclosure of each non-GAAP financial measure is presented along with preceded by the
corresponding GAAP measure so as not to imply that more emphasis should be placed on the non-GAAP measure.
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Operating netback, as presented, is defined as oil, natural gas and NGL sales less operating and transportation expenses. Management believes that operating netback is a useful supplemental
measure for management and investors to analyze financial performance and provides an indication of the results generated by our principal business activities prior to the consideration of other
income and expenses. A reconciliation from oil, natural gas and NGL sales to operating netback is provided in the table above.

EBITDA, as presented, is defined as net income or loss (loss) adjusted for depletion, depreciation and accretion (‘DD&A”) expenses, interest expense, and income tax expense or recovery. Adjusted
EBITDA, as presented, is defined as EBITDA adjusted for non-cash lease expense,

38

lease payments, foreign exchange gains or losses, unrealized derivative instruments gains or losses, transaction costs, other financial instruments gains or losses, other non-cash gains or losses, and
stock-based compensation expense. expense or recovery. Management uses this supplemental measure to analyze performance and income generated by our principal business activities prior to the
consideration of how non-cash items affect that income and believes that this financial measure is a useful supplemental information for investors to analyze our performance and financial results. A
reconciliation from net income or loss (loss) to EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA is as follows:
Three Three
Year Months Months
Ended Ended Year Ended Ended

December September December December September

December 31, December 31,
31, 30, 31, 31, 30,

(Thousands
(Thousands of of U.S.
(Thousands of U.S. Dollars) U.S. Dollars) 2023 2022 2021 2023 2022 2023 Dollars) 2024 2023 2022 2024 2023 2024
Net (loss) income

Adjustments to reconcile net (loss)
income to EBITDA and Adjusted
EBITDA

Net income (loss)

Adjustments to reconcile net
income (loss) to EBITDA and
Adjusted EBITDA

DD&A expenses
DD&A expenses
DD&A expenses
Interest expense
Income tax expense (recovery)
Income tax expense

EBITDA (non-GAAP)
Non-cash lease expense
Non-cash lease expense
Non-cash lease expense
Lease payments
Foreign exchange loss
Unrealized derivative instruments
gain
Other financial instruments loss
(gain)
Foreign exchange (gain) loss
Unrealized derivative instruments
loss
Transaction costs
Other non-cash loss (gain)
Other non-cash loss (gain)
Other non-cash loss (gain)

Stock-based compensation
expense
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Stock-based compensation
expense (recovery)

Adjusted EBITDA (non-GAAP)

Funds flow from operations, as presented, is defined as net income or loss (loss) adjusted for DD&A expenses, deferred tax expense or recovery, stock-based compensation expense or
recovery, amortization of debt issuance costs, non-cash lease expense, lease payments, unrealized foreign exchange gains or losses, unrealized derivative instruments gains or losses, other financial
instruments gains or losses, and other non-cash gains or losses. Management uses this financial measure to analyze performance and income generated by our principal business activities prior to the
consideration of how non-cash items affect that income, and believes that this financial measure is also useful supplemental information for investors to analyze performance and our financial results.
Free cash flow, as presented, is defined as funds flow from operations less capital expenditures. Management uses this financial measure to analyze cash flow generated by our principal business
activities after capital requirements and believes that this financial measure is also useful supplemental information for investors to analyze our performance and financial results. A reconciliation from
net income or loss (loss) to funds flow from operations and free cash flow is as follows:

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars)
Net (loss) income

Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to funds
flow from operations

DD&A expenses
(Thsrpeacs,obpSad2atiecsyery)
NStackdpasgibssmpensation expense
Adjunstriizatio roofedebiis nanaeconsés(loss) to funds
flovs frersAneEioagpense

DEXRA papRnsHS

Defealgtethio(sigovarghangerfgain) loss

Sryerlizat deidyapundastHBrpESailtecovery)

RH6FRTRRRTYIBEYBERRsEJgRIN)

REICLASA 16 Iozsdaal)

Fﬂggsseﬂ[?e‘{)\/’ r%rgr%psoperatlons (non-GAAP)

%ar#ggli‘zaég ?(r)]Pei}aF]egxchange (gain) loss

Fss Sl (anShRinents loss
Other non-cash loss (gain)

Funds flow from operations (non-GAAP)
Capital expenditures

Free cash flow (non-GAAP)

Consolidated Results of Operations

Year Ended Three Months Ended,
December 31, December 31, September 30,
2023 2022 2021 2023 2022 2023
(6,287) $ 139,029 $ 42,482 7,711 $ 33,275 $ 6,527
Year Ended Three Months Ended,
215,584 Decembey3ia, 139,874 sPgagmber3l, 55 7g; September 3055 919
20246,759 20235 340 20223,825) 20243517 20281,528) 2024 13,990
§,228 $ (6,089) $ 136,026 (33,219) $ 2813 $ 1,933
5,831 3,528 3,809 2,437 759 1,594
4,967 2,818 1,667 1,479 809 1,235
239,619) 215,688) 180,830) ¢3,306) 52(632) 55(676)
(43,088) 36,259 25,370 2,229 13,513 5(2866)
9,707 5,722 (8,098) 3,33t 1,974 (3,145)
12,018 5,840) 3,868 3,738 2,487) 3,109
8:63% %389 2,818 1:286 1,479 1330
216:688) ° 38028 ® 190.888) §1.568 ° f.145) ® 2099
215883 °© 23684 ® 11384 39333 ® 3880 1889
5%:2(7)2 129,42_0 36,6% 4&%;2 $ 8,45_6 $ 35,92_0
— 2,312 (2,605) — 3,281 39
224,941 276,785 366,024 44,129 $ 84,663 60,338
234,236 226,584 210,331 70,413 $ 35,826 49,779
(9,295) $ 50,201 155,693 (26,284) $ 48,837 10,559
Year Ended December
31, Year Ended December 31,
(Thousands of U.S. % %

(Thousands of U.S.

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars) Dollars)
Oil sales

Oil, natural gas and NGL sales

Operating expenses

Transportation expenses

Operating netback (1)

DD&A expenses

DD&A expenses

DD&A expenses

G&A expenses before stock-based compensation
G&A expenses before stock-based compensation
G&A expenses before stock-based compensation

G&A stock-based compensation
expense

Foreign exchange loss

2023 % Change 2022 Change 2021 Dollars)

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us

©2025 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

2024 Change 2023 Change 2022

36/137

REFINITIV [<


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

Foreign exchange loss

Foreign exchange loss

Severance expenses

Transaction costs

Foreign exchange (gain) loss
Derivative instruments loss

Other financial instruments loss (gain)

Interest expense

329,073

361,593
Other (loss) gain
Other (loss) gain
Other (loss) gain
Other gain (loss)
Other gain (loss)
Other gain (loss)
Interest income
Income before income taxes
Current income tax expense
Current income tax expense
Current income tax expense
Deferred income tax expense
(recovery)
Total income tax expense (recovery)
Deferred income tax (recovery)
expense
Total income tax expense
Net (loss) income $ (6,287) (105) $ 139,029 227 % 42,482
Sales Volumes (NAR)
Total sales volumes, BOPD 25,947 9 23,696 10 21,598
Reemddriee(Rrishbl $$ 3,2266 15017)% $ (62ZBOH (108p $$ 139M99
Saksolioleted RE$URS of Operations per bbl Sales Volumes (NAR)
Ritgedetes volumes, BOEPD $ 27,4886 68) $ 2589475 87 % 28%08
Operating expenses 19.73 5 18.77 9 17.22
BiamRrietiqreeipsnses 79.8654 (331% 82148 (129) $ [eleille”]
meRiiRe pRIPAYEN 6945299 100265 62.30 Sl g 4139
AECO Price per GJ Cs 1.56 100 C$ — — C$ —
DD&A expenses 22.76 9 20.84 17 17.74
Eé&%m@&s&%&%ﬁ&%&%m&&@ales Volumes (NAR) 4.24 15 3.69 5 353
G/ stark BaseghcouRprsgugn expense $ 61.65%0 &% 67.28° aéf s 825Y
Be i expoRges™ 2018° 3 1973 @) 189
Transportation Sxpanses. 184 {5 154 50 318
Other financial instruments loss {166) 543
fpsang perack @ 3% 13)g 459% ) 6238
DD&A expenses 223.‘!!)'774 1 ! 2%4.17%4 %l) gggg
Q%re()@gg)s&éinefore stock-based compensation ﬁ,gz‘,) @QO) 3% 3, 180 (0"30@3
AéAesiogichimneed compensation expense 0971 6220 0.68 (48b 1.05
FROPRSEIGHPRIRRAE taxes 1% 10050) 28.3% 870 2.92-
Transaction costs 0.59 100 — — —
Current income tax expense 5.88 (37) 9.31 1,533 0.57
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Pefeigecinsingdagayense (recovery)
DAl HRRMSSRARXRRRR§recovery)
BeidigasarieegmMestruments loss

Interest expense

Other gain (loss)
Interest income

Income before income taxes

Current income tax expense
Deferred income tax (recovery) expense
Total income tax expense

Net income (loss)

(0.8899 (17094 12283 3197 (2B
4287 100(3) 1224 (1669 (23458
(0.65) (104) $ 16.07 199 $ 537
8.01 36 5.89 9 5.29
36.01 4 34.74 1 34.34
0.15 163 (0.24) (180) 0.30
0.37 76 0.21 320 0.05
4.45 (60) 11.22 (60) 28.31
6.90 17 5.88 (37) 9.31
(2.78) (146) 5.99 104 2.93
4.12 (65) 11.87 3) 12.24
0.33 151 $ (0.65) (104) $ 16.07

1) Operating netback is a non-GAAP measure which does not have any standardized meaning prescribed under GAAP. Refer to note 2 “Financial and Operational Highlights - Non-GAAP measures” for

a definition and reconciliation of this measure.

Oil, Natural Gas and NGL Production and Sales Volumes, BOPD BOEPD

Average Daily Volumes (BOPD)

Average Daily Volumes (BOEPD) - Colombia

WI production before royalties

Royalties

Production NAR

Decrease (increase) in inventory

Sales

Royalties, % of working interest production before royalties
Royalties, % of working interest production before royalties

Royalties, % of working interest production before royalties

Average Daily Volumes (BOEPD) - Ecuador

WI production before royalties

Royalties

Production NAR

Increase in inventory

Sales

Royalties, % of working interest production before royalties
Royalties, % of working interest production before royalties

Royalties, % of working interest production before royalties

Average Daily Volumes (BOEPD) - Canada

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

2024 2023 2022
29,389 31,590 30,592
(5,545) (6,161) (6,870)
23,844 25,429 23,722
53 (65) (26)
23,897 25,364 23,696

19 % 20 % 22 %

Year Ended December 31,

Year Ended December 31,

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
2,477 1,057 154
(881) (387) (61)
1,596 670 93
(507) (87) (93)
1,089 583 —

36 % 37 % 40 %

Year Ended December 31,

Year Ended December 31,

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
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WI production before royalties 2,844 —
Royalties (394) —
Production NAR 2,450 —
Increase in inventory — —
Sales 2,450 —
Royalties, % of working interest production before royalties
Royalties, % of working interest production before royalties
Royalties, % of working interest production before royalties 14 % — % — %
Year Ended December 31,
Year Ended December 31,
Year Ended December 31,

Average Daily Volumes (BOEPD) - Total Company 2024 2023 2022

WI production before royalties WI production before royalties 34,710 32,647 30,746
Royalties Royalties (6,820) (6,548) (6,931)
Production NAR Production NAR 27,890 26,099 23,815
(Increase) decrease in inventory (Increase) decrease in inventory (454) (152) (119)
Sales Sales 27,436 25,947 23,696

Royalties, % of working interest production before royalties
Royalties, % of working interest production before royalties

Royalties, % of working interest production before royalties 20 % 23 % 19 % 20 % 20 % 23 %

Oil, natural gas and NGL production NAR for the year ended December 31, 2024, increased by 7% to 27,890 BOEPD compared to 26,099 BOEPD in 2023. The increase in
production was a result of two months of production from the Canadian operations acquired on October 31, 2024 and positive exploration well drilling results in Ecuador, partially
offset by lower production in the Acordionero field caused by downtime related to workovers.

Oil production NAR for the year ended December 31, 2023, increased by 10% to 26,099 BOPDBOEPD compared to 23,815 BOEPD in 2022. The increase in production was a
result of successful drilling and workover campaigns in all major fields, and increased production in Ecuador.

42

Royalties as a percentage of production for the year ended December 31, 2024, were comparable with royalties as a percentage of production for 2023. Royalties as a percentage
of production for the year ended December 31, 2023, decreased 3% compared to 2022 commensurate with the decrease in benchmark oil prices and the price sensitive royalty
regime in Colombia.

Oil production NAR for the year ended December 31, 2022, increased by 10% to 23,815 BOPD compared to 21,588 BOPD in 2021. Production increased as a result of successful
drilling Colombia and workover campaigns in Acordionero and Costayaco fields, less disruptions from blockades in Suroriente and production from exploration success in Ecuador.

1#.982
#.984

The Midas Block includes the Acordionero field, the Suroriente Block includes the Cohembi field, and the Chaza Block includes the Costayaco and Moqueta fields. Ecuador includes
the Charapa and Chanangue and Iguana Blocks.

Canada includes several areas in the Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin with all production in Alberta, Canada.
Oil, Natural Gas and NGL Sales

43
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Oil, natural gas and NGL sales for the year ended December 31, 2024, decreased by 2% to $621.8 million compared to $637.0 million in 2023, primarily as a result of a 3%
decrease in Brent price and 6% decrease in sales volumes in Colombia, offset by increase in sales volumes in Ecuador, lower differentials, and two months of sales from Canadian
operations of $19.0 million in 2024. Vasconia, Castilla and Oriente differentials decreased to $4.78, $8.54 and $8.75 per boe in 2024 from $5.39, $10.22 and $9.91 per boe in 2023,
respectively.

On a per boe basis, average realized prices decreased by 8% to $61.93 for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to $67.26 in 2023, primarily as a result of the decrease in
benchmark oil prices and the addition of natural gas and liquids to the portfolio in 2024 through the i3 Energy acquisition.

Oil, natural gas and NGL sales for the year ended December 31, 2023, decreased by 10% to $637.0 million compared to $711.4 million in 2022, primarily as a result of a 17%
decrease in Brent price and higher CastillaVasconia and Vasconia Castilla differentials partially offset by 9% higher sales volumes and lower transportation discounts in 2023.
Castilla Vasconia and Vasconia Castilla differentials increased to $10.22$5.39 and $5.39$10.22 per boe in 2023 from $4.99 and $9.81 and $4.99 per bblboe in 2022, respectively.
During the year ended December 31, 2023, December 31, 2023, we commenced sales in Ecuador which were subject to a $9.91$9.91 per bbl boe Oriente differential.

On a per bblboe basis, average realized prices decreased by 18% to $67.26 for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to $82.25 in 2022, primarily as a result of the
decrease in benchmark oil prices, and higher Castilla and Vasconia differentials in 2023.

Oil sales for the year ended December 31, 2022, increased by 50% to $711.4 million compared to $473.7 million in 2021, primarily as a result of a 40% increase in Brent price, 10%
higher sales volumes, partially offset by 55% higher quality and transportation discounts in 2022. Castilla and Vasconia differentials increased to $9.81 and $4.99 from $5.74 and
$3.52, respectively, per bbl in 2021.

On a per bbl basis, average realized prices increased by 37% to $82.25 for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to $60.09 in 2021, primarily as a result of the increase in
benchmark oil prices, offset by higher Castilla and Vasconia differentials in 2022. 2023.

The following table shows the effect of changes in realized price and sales volumes on our oil, natural gas and NGL sales for the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31,
2024, 2022, 2023, and 2021:2022:

Year Ended December 31,

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars) (Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2023 2022 2021 (Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2024 2023 2022
Oil sales for the comparative year

Oil, natural gas and NGL sales for the comparative year

Realized sales price (decrease) increase effect

Sales volume increase effect

Oil sales for the current year

Sales volumes (decrease) increase effect

Oil, natural gas and NGL sales - acquisition

Oil, natural gas and NGL sales for the current year
Operating Expenses

Operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2024, increased by 8% to $202.3 million compared to $186.9 million in 2023. On a per boe basis, operating expenses
increased by only 2% or $0.42 to $20.15 compared to $19.73 in the prior year, primarily as a result of $0.48 higher workovers, removal of diesel subsidies and higher natural gas
and electricity costs in Colombia, partially offset by lower operating costs in Ecuador as a result of production ramp-up in 2024.

Operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2023, increased by 15% to $186.9 million compared to $162.4 million in 2022. On a per bblboe basis, despite significant
inflationary pressures operating expenses only increased by only 5% or $0.96 to $19.73 in 2023 compared to $18.77 in the prior year, 2022, primarily as a result of $2.23 per bblboe
higher lifting costs associated with road and pipeline maintenance, power generation attributed to higher compressed natural gas purchases, diesel tariffs and equipment rental
associated with testing exploratory wells, offset by $1.27 per bblboe of lower workovers. As a result of an El-Nifio-induced drought, power costs havein 2023 increased across
Colombia, which relies on hydroelectricity for more than two-thirds of its installed power capacity. In addition, operating costs increased as a result of the depreciation of U.S. dollar
against the Colombian peso in 2023.

Operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2022, increased by 20% to $162.4 million compared to $135.7 million in 2021. On a per bbl basis,
operating expenses increased by 9% or $1.55 to $18.77 compared to $17.22 in 2021, primarily as a result of $0.48 per bbl higher workovers and $1.07 per bbl
higher lifting costs mainly attributed to higher power generation due to increased activities attributed to higher production and water flood program in all major
fields.

44
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Transportation Expenses
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We have options to sell our oil, natural gas and NGL through multiple pipelines and, in Colombia, trucking routes. Each transportation route has varying effects on realized price and
transportation expenses. The following table shows the percentage of oil, natural gas and NGL volumes we sold in Canada, Colombia and Ecuador using each transportation
method for each of the last three years ended December 31, 2023 ending December 31, 2024:
Year Ended
December 31,

2023 2022 2021

2024 2023 2022
Volume transported through Volume transported through - B _—Volume transported through - BN ]
pipelines pipelines 2% — % 12 % pipelines 13 % 2% — %
Volume sold at wellhead Volume sold at wellhead 47 % 47 % 34 % Volume sold at wellhead 43 % 47 % 47 %
Volume transported via truck to  Volume transported via truck to Volume transported via truck to
pipelines pipelines 51 % 53 % 54 % pipelines 44 % 51 % 53 %

100 100% 100 % 100 % 100% 100 % 100 %

Colombian volumes transported through pipelines or via trucks receive a higher realized price but incur higher transportation expenses. Volumes sold at the wellhead have the
opposite effect of lower realized price, offset by lower transportation expense. Volumes sold in Ecuador are transported via pipeline. We focus on maximizing operating netback (1
per bblboe when choosing a transportation method.

Transportation expenses for the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, increased by 43%27% to $14.5 million $18.5 million or by $0.36 $0.30 to $1.541.84 per
bblboe compared to $10.2 million $14.5 million or $1.18 $1.54 per bblboe in 2022, 2023, as a result of the utilization of new transportation routes related to sales from exploration
wells in Colombia and Ecuador, the depreciation of the U.S. dollar against the Colombian peso and higher sales volumes.volumes transported in Ecuador, two months of
transporting sales volumes in Canada through pipelines, and an increase in trucking tariffs for Acordionero volumes in 2024.

Transportation expenses for the year ended December 31, 2022, decreased by 12% to $10.2 million or by $0.30 per bbl to $1.18 per bbl compared to $11.6 million or $1.48 per bbl
in 2021. The decrease in transportation expenses per bbl was a result of the higher volumes sold at the wellhead and higher sales volumes in 2022 compared to the corresponding
year of 2021. In addition, during 2021, alternative transportation routes were utilized due to maintenance of the Impala terminal, which had higher transportation costs per bbl.
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The following table shows the variance in our average realized price net of transportation expenses in Colombia, Ecuador and Ecuador Canada for each of the three years ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024:
Year Ended December 31,

(U.S. Dollars per bbl Sales Volumes NAR) 2023 2022 2021

(U.S. Dollars per boe Sales Volumes NAR) 2024 2023 2022
Average Brent price

Average realized price, net of transportation expenses for the comparative period
Average realized price, net of transportation expenses for the comparative period
Average realized price, net of transportation expenses for the comparative period
(Decrease) increase in benchmark prices

Decrease (increase) in quality and transportation discounts

(Increase) decrease in quality and transportation discounts

(Increase) decrease in transportation expense

Average realized price, net of transportation expenses for the year

Average realized price, net of transportation expenses as a % of Brent

Average realized price, net of transportation expenses as a % of Brent

Average realized price, net of transportation expenses as a % of Brent 80 % 82 % 83 % 75 % 80 % 82 %

Operating Netbacks
Year Ended December 31,

Consolidated 2023 2022 2021
Colombia 2024 2023 2022
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(Thousands of U.S. Dollars)
Oil sales

Oil sales

Oil sales

Oil, natural gas and NGL sales
Oil, natural gas and NGL sales
Oil, natural gas and NGL sales

Transportation expenses

622,411
559,185

Operating expenses
Operating netback (1)
Operating netback (1)
Operating netback (1)
(U.S. Dollars per bbl Sales Volumes NAR)
(U.S. Dollars per bbl Sales Volumes NAR)
(U.S. Dollars per bbl Sales Volumes NAR)
(U.S. Dollars per boe Sales Volumes NAR)
(U.S. Dollars per boe Sales Volumes NAR)
(U.S. Dollars per boe Sales Volumes NAR)
Brent
Brent
Brent
Quality and transportation discounts
Average realized price
Transportation expenses
Average realized price, net of transportation expenses
Operating expenses
Operating netback (1)
Operating netback (1)
Operating netback ()
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Transportation expenses (1.86) (1.49) (1.18)
Average realized price, net of transportation expenses 63.94 65.62 81.07
Operating expenses (20.50) (19.35) (18.77)
Operating netback () $ 4344 $ 46.27 $ 62.30

Year Ended December 31,
Ecuador 2024 2023 2022
(Thousands of U.S. Dollars)
Qil, natural gas and NGL sales $ 27,412 $ 15,660 $ =
Transportation expenses (1,495) (717) —
25,917 14,943 _

Operating expenses (13,425) (7,761) —
Operating netback () $ 12,492 $ 7,182 $ =
(U.S. Dollars per boe Sales Volumes NAR)
Brent $ 79.86 $ 82.16 $ =
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Quality and transportation discounts (11.06) (8.58) —

Average realized price 68.80 73.58 —
Transportation expenses (3.75) (3.37) —
Average realized price, net of transportation expenses 65.05 70.21 —
Operating expenses (33.69) (36.46) —
Operating netback () $ 3136 $ 3375 $ —

Year Ended December 31,

Canada 2024 2023 2022

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars)

Qil, natural gas and NGL sales $ 18,955 $ — 3 =

Transportation expenses (672) — —
18,283 — —

Operating expenses (9,649) — —

Operating netback (1) $ 8,634 $ — 3 —

(U.S. Dollars per boe Sales Volumes NAR)

Average realized price $ 2114 $ — 3 —
Transportation expenses (0.75) — —
Average realized price, net of transportation expenses 20.39 — —
Operating expenses (20.76) — —
Operating netback () $ 9.63 $ — $ —

Year Ended December 31,

Total Company 2024 2023 2022

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars)

Qil, natural gas and NGL sales $ 621,849 $ 636,957 $ 711,388

Transportation expenses (18,464) (14,546) (10,197)
603,385 622,411 701,191

Operating expenses (202,331) (186,864) (162,385)

Operating netback (1) $ 401,054 $ 435547 $ 538,806

(U.S. Dollars per boe Sales Volumes NAR)

47
Brent $ 79.86 $ 82.16 $ 99.04
Quiality and transportation discounts (17.93) (14.90) (16.79)
Average realized price 61.93 67.26 82.25
Transportation expenses (1.84) (1.54) (1.18)
Average realized price, net of transportation expenses 60.09 65.72 81.07
Operating expenses (20.15) (19.73) (18.77)
Operating netback () $ 39.94 $ 4599 $ 62.30

1) Operating netback is a non-GAAP measure which does not have any standardized meaning prescribed under GAAP. Refer to note 2 “Financial and Operational Highlights - Non-GAAP measures” for

a definition and reconciliation of this measure.

.'.5605b
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l#.5608
l#.5611
DD&A Expenses
Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
DD&A Expenses, Thousands of U.S. Dollars $ 215,584 $ 180,280 $ 139,874
DD&A Expenses, U.S. Dollars per bbl $ 22,76 $ 2084 $ 17.74
Year Ended December 31, 2024
Colombia Ecuador Canada Corporate Total
DD&A Expenses, Thousands of U.S. Dollars $ 211,239 $ 10,162 $ 8,941 $ 277 $ 230,619
DD&A Expenses, U.S. Dollars per boe $ 2415 $ 25,50 $ 9.97 $ — 3 22.97
49
Year Ended December 31, 2023
Colombia Ecuador Canada Corporate Total
DD&A Expenses, Thousands of U.S. Dollars $ 207,346 $ 8,018 $ — $ 220 $ 215,584
DD&A Expenses, U.S. Dollars per boe $ 2240 $ 3767 $ — 3 — 3 22.76
Year Ended December 31, 2022
Colombia Ecuador Canada Corporate Total
DD&A Expenses, Thousands of U.S. Dollars $ 180,039 $ — $ — $ 241 $ 180,280
DD&A Expenses, U.S. Dollars per boe $ 2082 $ — 3 — 3 — 3 20.84

DD&A expenses for the year ended December 31, 2024, increased by 7% or $0.21 per boe from 2023 due to higher production in Ecuador, the addition of DD&A expense from
Canadian operations acquired in the i3 Energy acquisition, and higher costs in the depletable base as a result of higher future development costs compared to 2023.

DD&A expenses for the year ended December 31, 2023, increased by 20% or $1.92 per bblboe from 2022. On a per bblboe basis, the DD&A increase in 2023 was due to
increased production and higher costs in the depletable base as a result of higher future development costs compared to 2022.

DD&A expenses for the year ended December 31, 2022, increased 29% or $3.10 per bbl from 2021. On a per bbl basis, the DD&A increase in 2022 was due to increased
production and higher costs in the depletable base compared to 2021.

Asset Impairment

We follow the full cost method of accounting for our oil and gas properties. Under this method, the net book value of properties on a country-by-country basis, less related deferred
income taxes, may not exceed a calculated “ceiling”. The ceiling is the estimated after-tax future net revenues from proved oil and gas properties, discounted at 10% per year. In
calculating discounted future net revenues, oil and natural gas prices are determined using the unweighted arithmetic average of the first-day-of-the month Brent price for the 12-
month period prior to the ending date of the period covered by the balance sheet. That average price is then held constant, except for changes which are fixed and determinable by
existing contracts. Therefore, ceiling test estimates are based on historical prices discounted at 10% per year, and it should not be assumed that estimates of future net revenues
represent the fair market value of our reserves.
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For the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2022,2023 and 2021,2022, we had no ceiling test impairment losses. In accordance with GAAP, we used
anunweighted arithmetic average of the first-day-of-the-month prices as follows; Brent Crude $80.42 per boe, Edmonton Light Crude of C$98.01 per boe, Alberta AECO spot price
of $82.51 C$1.46 per bbl less corresponding differentials MMBtu Edmonton Propane C$30.46 per boe, Edmonton Butane C$48.39 per boe and Edmonton Condensate C$100.83
per boe for the purpose of the December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 ceiling test calculation (2022 calculations (December 31, 2023, and 20212022 Brent Crude - $82.51 and
$97.98 and $68.92 per bbl, boe, respectively).

G&A Expenses
Year Ended December 31,

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2023 % change 2022 % change 2021

G&A expenses before stock-based compensation $ 40,124 26 $ 31,908 15 $ 27,867
G&A stock-based compensation 5,722 (37) 9,049 8 8,396
G&A expenses including stock-based compensation $ 45,846 12 % 40,957 13 $ 36,263

(U.S. Dollars Per bbl Sales Volumes NAR)

G&A expenses before stock-based compensation $ 4.24 15 $ 3.69 5 $ 3.53
G&A stock-based compensation 0.60 (43) 1.05 ) 1.07
G&A expenses including stock-based compensation $ 4.84 2 3 4.74 3 3 4.60

On a per bbl basis, G&A Expenses

Year Ended December 31,

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2024 % change 2023 % change 2022

G&A expenses before stock-based compensation $ 39,912 1) $ 40,124 26 $ 31,908
G&A stock-based compensation 9,707 70 5,722 37) 9,049
G&A expenses including stock-based compensation $ 49,619 8 $ 45,846 12 % 40,957

(U.S. Dollars Per boe Sales Volumes NAR)
G&A expenses before stock-based compensation $ 3.97 ®6) $ 4.24 15 $ 3.69

G&A stock-based compensation 0.97 62 0.60 (43) 1.05

G&A expenses including stock-based compensation

4.94

2 3 4.84

2 $

4.74

G&A expenses before stock-based compensationfor the year ended December 31, 2024decreased 1% as a result of lower business development, legal and consulting costs
compared to 2023, offset by the addition of two months of G&A from the newly acquired Canadian operations.

G&A expenses before stock-based compensation, on a per boe basis for the year ended December 31, 2024, decreased by 6% to $3.97 compared to 2023, for the same
reason mentioned above and higher NAR sales during 2024.

50

G&A expenses before stock-based compensation for the year ended December 31, 2023, increased by 15% 26% to $4.24 $40.1 million compared to 2022 due to costs attributed to
business development activities, higher salaries related to increased headcount in Ecuador to support ramp-up of operations and the strengthening of the Colombian peso against
the U.S. dollar. Total

G&A expenses before stock-based compensation, on a per boe basis, for the year ended December 31, 2023, increased by 26% 15% to $40.1 million $4.24 compared to 2022, for
the same reason mentioned above.

On a per bbl basis, G&A expenses before stock-based compensation for the year ended December 31, 2022, increased by 5% to $3.69 compared to 2021 due to higher costs for
optimization projects and lease obligations expenses related to additional leases capitalized during 2022. Total G&A expenses before stock-based compensation for the year ended
December 31, 2022, increased 15% to $31.9 million compared to 2021 for the same reason mentioned above.

On a per bbl basis,G&A expenses after stock-based compensation for the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, increased by 2% 8% to $4.84 $49.6 million,
compared to 2022 2023 due to higher G&A expenses before stock-based compensation partially offset by 43% decrease in stock-based compensation expense which was a result
of lower attributable to the higher share price in 2023. Total 2024.
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G&A expenses after stock-based compensation for the year ended December 31, 2023, increased by 12% to $45.8 million, compared to 2022 for the same reason mentioned
above. due to higher G&A expenses before stock-based compensation, partially offset by 37% decrease in stock-based compensation expense which was a result of lower share
price in 2023.

On a per bbl basis, G&A expenses after stock-based compensation, costs on a per boe basis, for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2024, increased by
3%2% to $4.74 per bbl$4.94 compared to 2021 for the same reason mentioned above and higher stock-based compensation expense. Stock-based compensation per bbl
decreased by 2% 2023 due to higher sales volumes in proportion to the 62% increase in stock-based compensation expense attributable to higher share price in 2022. Total 2024.

G&A expenses after stock-based compensation, increased 13% to $41.0 million due to higher stock-based compensation expense on a per boe basis, for the year ended December
31, 2022 December 31, 2023, increased by 2% to $4.84 per boe compared to 2021.

2022 due to higher NAR sales in 2023.

#.9164

Foreign Exchange (Gains) Losses

For the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2022 2023 and 2021, 2022, we had an $8.8 million gain, $11.8 million loss and $2.6 million loss on foreign exchange,
losses of $11.8 million, $2.6 million and $20.5 million, respectively. The main sources of foreign exchange gains and losses are the revaluation of taxes receivable and payable,
deferred tax assets and liabilities and accounts payable. Under GAAP, income taxes, deferred taxes and accounts payable are considered monetary assets and liabilities and
require translation from local currency to the U.S. dollar functional currency at each balance sheet date.

51
The following table presents the change in the U.S. dollar against the Colombian peso and Canadian dollar for the last three years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024:
Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
2024 2023 2022
Change in the Change in the Change in the
U.S. dollar U.S. dollar
) U.S. dollar :
against the against the against the
Colombian Cgl bi weakened strengthened Colombian strengthened weakened strengthened
olombian peso
peso P by by peso by by by
21% 21 % 16 %
15% 21 % 21 %
Change in the Change in the Change in the
U.S. dollar U.S. dollar U.S. dollar
against the against the weakened strengthened against the strengthened weakened strengthened
Canadian dollar Canadian dollar by by consistent Canadian dollar by by by
2% 7% — %
9% 2% 7 %
Financial Instruments Gains or Losses
The following table presents the nature of our financial instruments gains or losses for each of the three years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024:
Year Ended December 31,
(Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2023 2022 2021
Commodity price derivative loss $ — $ 26,611 $ 48,723
Foreign currency derivative loss — — 115
$ — 3 26,611 $ 48,838
Unrealized investment loss $ — 3 — $ 2,032
Loss on sale of investment — — 1,355
Other financial instruments loss (gain) 15 @) (18)
$ 15 $ 7 $ 3,369
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Year Ended December 31,

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2024 2023 2022

Commodity price derivative loss $ 2271 $ — $ 26,611

Income Tax Expense and Recovery
Year Ended December 31,

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars) (Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2023 2022 2021 (Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2024 2023 2022

Income before income taxes Income before income taxes $ 44605 $ 106,160 $ 244,935
Current income tax expense

Current income tax expense

Current income tax expense $ 69,277 $ 55688 $ 80,566
Deferred income tax expense (recovery)

Total income tax expense (recovery)

Deferred income tax (recovery) expense (27,888) 56,759 25,340
Total income tax expense $ 41,389 $ 112,447 $ 105,906

Effective tax rate
Effective tax rate
Effective tax rate 106 % 43 % (84) % 93 % 106 % 43 %

Current income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, was $55.7 million (2022 $69.3 million (2023 - $80.6 million $55.7 million; 2021 2022 - $4.5
million $80.6 million). Current income tax expense decreased increased for the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, compared to 2022, 2023, primarily due to the
additional taxable income generated in Ecuador and Canada.

The deferred income tax expense was a decrease recovery of $27.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily as a result of the recognition of additional tax losses
resulting from a tax planning strategy, which were partially offset by tax depreciation being higher than accounting depreciation and the use of tax losses to offset taxable income in
taxable income. Colombia.

The deferred income tax expense of $56.8 million and $25.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, were primarily a result of tax depreciation being
higher than accounting depreciation and the use of tax losses to offset taxable income in Colombia. The deferred income

Our effective tax recovery of $23.8 millionrate was 93% for the year ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2024, compared to 106% in 2023. The decrease in the effective tax
rate was mainly primarily due to a resultdecrease in non-deductible foreign exchange adjustments, 2022 true-up related to tax planning strategy, other permanent differences and
impact of the release of the valuation allowance in Colombia, which was foreign taxes. These were partially offset by excess tax depreciation compared with accounting depreciation
and the use of tax losses to offset taxable income an increase in Colombia. valuation allowance.

Our effective tax rate was 106% for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared towith 43% in 2022. The increase in the effective tax rate was primarily due to an increase in
non-deductible foreign exchange adjustments, impact of foreign taxes and other permanent differences. These were partially offset by a decrease in valuation allowance and non-
deductible stock-based compensation.

Our The difference between our effective tax rate was 43% of 93% for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2024, compared with (84)% in 2021. The increase inand
the effective 45% Colombian statutory tax rate was primarily due to an increase in impact of foreign taxes, valuation allowance, non-deductible royalties in Colombia, other
permanent differences stock-based compensation costs, and non-deductible third party royalties in Colombia. stock-based compensation. These were slightly partially offset by a
decrease 2022 true-up related to tax planning strategy and non-taxable foreign currency translation adjustment exchange adjustments.

52

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the company strategically revised its 2022 tax return to use its tax receivable balance to offset current tax liabilities, rather than applying
net operating loss carryforwards. This decision was driven by the expectation of higher future income tax rates and increased profitability. As a result, there was an increase in
current tax expense of approximately $27.8 million which was offset by long-term tax receivable, ensuring no impact on cash flows. This approach preserved the impact of foreign
taxes. Company’s net operating loss carryforward for future periods, providing greater tax benefits and flexibility in recovering tax receivables, while strengthening our equity
position.

The difference between our effective tax rate of 106% for the year ended December 31, 2023, and the 45% Colombian statutory tax rate was primarily due to an increase in non-

deductible foreign exchange adjustments, other permanent differences, the impact of foreign taxes, non-deductible royalties in Colombia and non-deductible stock-based
compensation. These were partially offset by a decrease in valuation allowance.
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The difference between our effective tax rate of 43% for the year ended December 31, 2022, and the 35% Colombian statutory rate was primarily due to $26.6 million of hedging
loss, $46.5 million of financing cost mainly related to the senior notes, and $23.1 million of stock-based compensation and G&A cost, which were incurred in jurisdictions where no

tax benefit is recognized. These were partially offset by $13.2 million of non-taxable foreign exchange gain.

The difference between our effective tax rate of (84)% for the year ended December 31, 2021, and the 31% Colombian statutory was primarily due to a
decrease in the valuation allowance and other permanent differences, which were partially offset by an increase in foreign currency translation adjustment,
foreign taxes, stock-based compensation costs, non-deductible third party royalties in Colombia, and non-deductible investment loss on PetroTal.

Net Income (Loss) and Funds Flow From Operations (a Non-GAAP Measure)

Fourth
quarter
2023
compared

(Thousands (Thousands \ith third
of U.S. of U.S. quarter %
Dollars) Dollars) 2023 change
Net income
for the
comparative
period
Net income
(loss) for the
comparative
period

Increase (decrease) due
to:

Increase (decrease) due
to:

Increase (decrease) due
to:

Sales volumes

Sales volumes

Sales volumes

Prices

Prices

Prices

Sales from acquisition
Sales from acquisition
Sales from acquisition
Expenses:
Expenses:
Expenses:

Cash operating
expenses

Cash operating
expenses

Cash operating
expenses

Transportation
Transportation

Transportation
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Fourth
quarter
2023
compared
with
fourth
quarter
2022

%
change

Year
ended
December
31, 2023
compared
with year
ended
December
31, 2022

Fourth
quarter
2024
compared
(Thousands \yith third
% of U.S. quarter
change Dollars) 2024
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Fourth
quarter
2024
compared
with
fourth
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change 2023
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Cash G&A, excluding
stock-based

compensation expense

Cash G&A, excluding
stock-based

compensation expense

Cash G&A, excluding
stock-based

compensation expense

Severance
Severance
Severance

Interest, net of
amortization of debt
issuance costs

Interest, net of
amortization of debt
issuance costs

Interest, net of
amortization of debt
issuance costs

Realized foreign
exchange gain (loss)

Realized foreign
exchange gain (loss)

Realized foreign
exchange gain (loss)
Transaction costs
Transaction costs
Transaction costs

Settlement of financial
instruments

Settlement of financial
instruments

Settlement of financial
instruments

Other gain (loss)
Other gain (loss)
Other gain (loss)
Current taxes
Current taxes
Current taxes

Net lease payments
Net lease payments
Net lease payments
Interest income
Interest income

Interest income

Net change in funds flow

from operations () from
comparative period

Net change in funds flow

from operations () from
comparative period

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us

©2025 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

49/137

REFINITIV [<


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

Net change in funds flow

from operations () from

comparative period

Expenses:

Expenses:

Expenses:
Depletion, depreciation
and accretion
Depletion, depreciation
and accretion
Depletion, depreciation
and accretion
Inventory impairment
Inventory impairment
Inventory impairment
Deferred tax
Deferred tax
Deferred tax
Amortization of debt
issuance costs
Amortization of debt
issuance costs
Amortization of debt
issuance costs
Net lease payments
Net lease payments
Net lease payments
Stock-based
compensation
Stock-based
compensation
Stock-based
compensation
Other non-cash loss
Other non-cash loss
Other non-cash loss
Financial instruments
loss, net of financial
instruments settlements
Financial instruments
loss, net of financial
instruments settlements
Financial instruments
loss, net of financial
instruments settlements

Unrealized foreign
exchange (loss) gain

Unrealized foreign
exchange (loss) gain

Unrealized foreign
exchange (loss) gain

Net change in net income
Net change in net income
Net change in net income

Net income (loss) for the
current period
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Net income (loss) for the
current period

Net income (loss) for the
current period $ 7,711 18 18% $ 7,711 (77) TN% $ (6,287) (105) (105)% $(34,210) (3,119) (3,119% $ (34,

) Funds flow from operations is a non-GAAP measure which does not have any standardized meaning prescribed under GAAP. Refer to note 2 “Financial and Operational Highlights - Non-GAAP

measures” for a definition and reconciliation of this measure.
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2025 Work Program and Capital Expenditures

Our Colombian, Canadian and Ecuadorian development operation isoperations are expected to represent approximately 5293%%, 37% and 11% of our production and
approximately 60% - 70% of our 2024 capital budget, with the remainder allocated to exploration activities. 2025 production.

The table below shows the break-down of our 2024 2025 capital program:

Number of Wells Number of Wells 2024 Capital Budget
(Gross) (Net) ($ million)

Development - Colombia 13-17 12-16 130 - 140

Exploration - Colombia and Ecuador 6-9 6-9 80 - 100

19-26 18-25 210 - 240

Number of Wells Number of Wells 2025 Capital Budget
(Gross) (Net) ($ million)

Development - Colombia 4-6 2-3 105 - 120
Development - Ecuador 2 2 35-45
Development - Canada 4-6 2-3 35-45
Exploration, Colombia and Ecuador 6-8 6-8 65-70
16 - 22 12 - 16 240 - 280

Our base capital program for 2024 2025 is $210 million $240 million to $240 million $280 million for exploration and development activities. Based on the mid-point of the 2024 2025
guidance, the capital budget is forecasted to be approximately 60% 75%directed to development activities and 40% 25% directed to exploration activities. Approximately 20% 30%
of the development activities included in the 2024 2025 capital program are expected to be directed to facilities to support future production growth and enhance recovery factors.

We expect our 2024 2025 capital program to be fully funded by cash flows from operations. Funding this program from cash flows from operations relies in part on average Brent oil
prices being $70 of $75.00 per bblboe, WTI oil prices of $71.00 per boe and average AECO gas prices of C$2.50 per mcf for 2024. 2025.

Capital Program
Capital expenditures during the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 were $218.9 million $234.2 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we spud the following wells in Colombia: Colombia, Ecuador and Canada:

Number of Wells
(Gross and Net)

Colombia

Development 17.0

Service 8.0
Total 25.0

Number of Wells
Gross Net

Colombia
Development
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Productive 10 10.0

Dry — —
Service 4 4.0
14 14.0

Ecuador

Exploration

Productive 6 6.0

In-progress 1 1.0
7 7.0

Canada

Development

Productive 2 13

In-progress 7 4.2
9 5.5

Total 30 26.5

In 2023,2024, we spud 17drilled 10 development and eightplus four service wells in Colombia, seven exploration wells in Ecuador, and nonenine development wells in
Ecuador. Canada. Of the wells drilled in Colombia, 13 eight were drilled in Midas Block and 12six in Chaza Block. In Ecuador, five wells were drilled and Charapa Block and two in
Chanangue Block. In Canada, we drilled nine development
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wells, four of which were in Clearwater acreage with the remaining wells drilled in our Rimbey, Lodgepole and Wapiti acreage. As at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, of the
17 exploration and development wells 15 drilled, 18 were producing and two eight were in-progress.

On April 11, 2023, we and Ecopetrol S.A. renegotiated the terms of the contract for our operatorship of the Suroriente Block which was previously scheduled to end in mid-2024 and
executed the Suroriente Continuation Agreement. The duration of the contract was extended for 20 years from September 1, 2023 (the “Effective Date”), the date on which we
satisfied the relevant conditions precedent and regulatory approval was received. We continue to be the operator of the Suroriente Block. In connection with the contract extension,
we paid cash consideration of $6.2 million and provided letters of credit of $123.0 million (refer to Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements) related to committed capital
investments to be made over a three-year period from the Effective Date.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As at December 31, As at December 31,

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars) (Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2023 % Change 2022 % Change 2021 (Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2024 % Change 2023 % Change 2022
Cash and cash equivalents

Credit facility

Credit facility

Credit facility

Senior Notes

We believe that our capital resources, including cash on hand and cash generated from operations will provide us with sufficient liquidity to maintain current operations and execute
the capital program for the next 12 months and beyond, given current oil and natural gas price trends and production levels. In accordance with our investment policy, available cash
balances are held in our primary cash management banks or may be invested in U.S. or Canadian government-backed federal, provincial, or state securities or other money market
instruments with high credit ratings and short-term liquidity. We believe that our current financial position provides us the flexibility to respond to both internal growth opportunities
and those available through acquisitions. We intend to pursue growth opportunities and acquisitions from time to time, which may require significant capital, be located in basins or
countries beyond our current operations, involve joint ventures, or be sizable compared to our current assets and operations.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we, as guarantor, and Gran Tierra Energy Colombia GmbH and Gran Tierra Operations Colombia GmbH, as borrowers, had a credit
facility of $50 million which was paid in full and terminated on February 6, 2024. Interest under the credit facility was based on the secured overnight financing rate posted by the
Federal Reserve Bank of New York plus a credit margin of 6.00% and a credit-adjusted spread of 0.26% with undrawn amounts under the credit facility bearing interest at 2.10% per
annum, based on the amount available. Prior to termination, the credit facility was secured by our Colombian assets and economic rights and had a final maturity date of August 15,
2024. As of December 31, 2023, the credit facility was drawn by $36.4 million. During the year ended December 31, 2023, we incurred the weighted-average interest rate on credit
facility of 11.59%.

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 52/137
©2025 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

On October 20, 2023, we completed exchange offers of $247.1 million of 6.25% Senior Notes (the “6.25% Senior Notes”) and $275.8 million of 7.75% Senior Notes (the “7.75%
Senior Notes”) for $487.6 million 9.50% Senior Secured Notes due 2029 (the “9.50% Senior Notes” and, together with the 7.75% Senior Notes and the 6.25% Senior Notes, the
“Senior Notes”). The exchange consideration for $242.5 million of 6.25% Senior Notes included early participation premium of $80 for each $1,000 aggregate principal amount with
the remainder of $4.6 million exchanged at $1,000 and for $274.2 million of 7.75% Senior Notes early participation premium of $20 for each $1,000 aggregate principal amount with
the remainder of $1.6 million of 7.75% Senior Notes exchanged at $950 for each $1,000 aggregate principal amount. In addition, the Company paid cash consideration of $60.0
million for 6.25% Senior Notes exchanged as part of total consideration to eligible holders on a pro-rata basis, for each $1,000 aggregate principal amount tendered and accepted
for the early exchange deadline. The Senior Notes tendered and accepted for exchange, as well as the notes held as treasury bonds, were cancelled. The exchange of the 6.25%
Senior Notes was accounted for as debt extinguishment and resulted in a gain of $5.3 million. The exchange of 7.75% Senior Notes was accounted for as debt modification and
resulted in a loss of $6.1 million related to third party fees.

At December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we had $24.8 million of 6.25% Senior Notes due 2025 (the “6.25% Senior Notes”), $24.2 million of 7.75% Senior Notes due 2027 (the
“7.75% Senior Notes”), and $487.6 million $737.6 million of 9.50% Senior Notes due 2029. 2029 (the “9.50% Senior Notes”).

The 7.75% Senior Notes bear interest at a rate of 7.75% per year, payable semi-annually in arrears on May 23 and November 23 of each year, beginning on November 23, 2019.
The 7.75% Senior Notes will mature on May 23, 2027, unless earlier redeemed or re-purchased.

The 6.25% Senior Notes bear interest at a rate of 6.25% per year, payable semi-annually in arrears on February 15 and August 15 of each year, beginning on August 15, 2018. The
6.25% Senior Notes will mature matured and were settled on February 15, 2025, unless earlier redeemed or re-purchased. .

The 9.50% Senior Notes bear interest at a rate of 9.50% per year, payable semi-annually in arrears on April 15 and October 15 of each year, beginning on April 15, 2024. The
9.50% will mature on October 15, 2029.

The principal amount of 9.50% Senior Notes is to be repaid as follows: (i) October 15, 2026, 25% of the principal amount; (ii) October 15, 2027, 5% of the principal amount; (iii)
October 15, 2028, 30% of the principal amount; and (iv) October 15, 2029, the remainder of the principal amount. amount (40%).

Under the terms of 9.50% Senior Notes agreement, we are required to maintain compliance with the following financial covenants:
i. consolidated interest coverage ratio of not less than 2.5; and
ii. consolidated net debt (total debt excluding deferred financing fees debt less cash equivalents) to consolidated adjusted earnings before interest, taxes and DD&A
(“EBITDA”) of not more than 3.0.

As at December 31, 2024, we were in compliance with all applicable covenants.

On February 6, 2024 and September 18, 2024, we issued additional $100.0 million and $150.0 million of 9.50% Senior Notes due October 2029 (the “new 9.50% Senior Notes”),
and received net cash proceeds of $88.0 million as a result of this issuance. and $139.8 million, respectively. The newly issued new 9.50% Senior Notes have the same terms and
provisions as the previously issued $487.6 million 9.50% Senior Notes except for the issue price, as original $487.6 million price. $100.0 million of new 9.50% Senior Notes
outstanding at December 31, 2023 and will be combined together with originally accrue interest from October 20, 2023, the date of issuance of the previously issued 9.50% Senior
Notes and $150.0 million of new 9.50% Senior Notes accrue interest from April 15, 2024, the date of the last interest payment. We received a cash payment of $2.8 million and $6.1
million related to the accrued interest of the $100.0 million and $150.0 million of new 9.50% Senior Notes, respectively. As at December 31, 2023, we had a $36.4 million balance
outstanding under the Company'’s credit facility. On February 6, 2024, the outstanding balance under the credit facility was fully re-paid and the credit facility was terminated.
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On August 19, 2024, the Company entered into a credit facility agreement (“Loan Facility”) with a market leader in respectthe global commodities industry to fund the cash
consideration payable to i3 Energy’s shareholders in connection with the i3 Energy acquisition and associated costs (Note 3). The Loan Facility has a borrowing base of £80.0
million (US$107.0 million) and bears interest payments. based on a three-month secured overnight financing rate posted by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York plus a margin of
3.00% per annum for the first three months after the initial drawdown and 6.00% per annum thereafter. The Loan Facility is subject to a commitment fee equal to the higher of $0.5
million and 0.50% of the borrowing base converted to U.S. dollars using the agreed upon GBP to USD foreign exchange rate at the time of initial drawdown date. The Company paid
$0.6 million of commitment fees and the Loan Facility was terminated on October 31, 2024.

In connection with the i3 Energy acquisition closing on October 31, 2024, the Company amended and restated the existing revolving credit facility agreement of i3 Energy Canada
Ltd. (“i3 Energy Canada”) with National Bank of Canada dated March 22, 2024. As a result of the amendment and restatement, among other things, the borrowing base was revised
to C$100.0 million (US$69.5 million) with available commitment of a C$50.0 million (US$34.7 million) revolving credit facility. Subject to the next borrowing base redetermination,
which will occur on or before June 30, 2025, the revolving credit facility is available until October 31, 2025 with a repayment date of October 31, 2026, which may be extended by
further periods of up to 364 days, subject to lender approval. The drawn down amounts under the revolving credit facility can either be in Canadian or U.S. dollars and bear interest
rates equal to either the Canadian prime rate or U.S. Base Rate plus a margin ranging from 2.00% to 4.00% per annum or for CORRA loans and SOFR loans plus a margin ranging
from 3.00% to 5.00% per annum. Undrawn amounts under the revolving credit facility bear standby fee ranging from 0.75% to 1.25% per annum. In each case, the margin or
standby fee, as applicable is based on Net Debt to EBITDA ratio of Gran Tierra Canada Ltd.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we purchased in the open market $8.0 million of 6.25% Senior Notes for cash consideration of $6.8 million, including interest payable of
$0.1 million. The purchase resulted in a $1.1 million gain, which included the write-off of deferred financing fees of $0.1 million. The Company canceled all previously purchased
6.25% Senior Notes as at December 31, 2023.
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During the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we implemented a share re-purchase program (the 20232024 Program”) through the facilities of the TSX, the
NYSE or alternative trading programs in Canada or the United States, if eligible. Under the 20232024 Program, we are able to purchase up to 3,234,914 3,545,872 shares of
Common Stock, representing 10% of the public float as of October 20, 2023 October 31, 2024, at prevailing market prices at the time of purchase. The 20232024 Program will
continue for one year and expire on November 2, 2024 November 5, 2025, or earlier if the 10% maximum is reached.

During the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, wethe Company re-purchased 1,041,804 487,948 shares of Common Stock at a weighted average price of
approximately $6.21 $6.49 per share under the 2024 Program and 1,662,110 shares at a weighted average price of $7.31 per share under the 2023 Program and 1,328,650 shares
of Common Stock at a weighted average price of $8.15 per share, under the 2022 share re-purchase program (“2022 Program”), implemented in 2022 2023 with similar terms to that
of the 2024 Program. The 2023 Program. The 2022 Program expired in May 2023 when 10% share maximum was reached. The weighted average price per share under the 2022
Program was $10.59 per share. on November 2, 2024. As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, all 3,603,396 shares re-purchased under the 2022 2024 Program were held as
treasury shares and 1,041,804 all shares re-purchased under the 2023 Program were cancelled subsequent to re-purchase.

Cash and Cash Equivalents Held Outside of Canada and the United States
At December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 100% of our cash and cash equivalents were was held by subsidiaries outside in Canada and the United States.
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Cash Flows

The following table presents our sources and uses of cash and cash equivalents for the periods presented:
Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

2024 2023 2022
Sources of Cash and Cash Equivalents:
Net (loss) income
Net (loss) income
Net (loss) income
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to funds flow from operations
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to funds flow from operations
DD&A expenses
DD&A expenses
DD&A expenses
Deferred tax expense (recovery)
Deferred tax expense (recovery)
Deferred tax expense (recovery)
Deferred tax (recovery) expense
Deferred tax (recovery) expense
Deferred tax (recovery) expense
Stock-based compensation expense
Amortization of debt issuance costs
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss
Other non-cash loss (gain)
Derivative instruments loss
Cash settlement on derivative instruments
Other financial instruments loss (gain)
Non-cash lease expenses
Lease payments

Funds flow from operations (1)
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Funds flow from operations ()

Funds flow from operations ()

Proceeds from issuance of Senior Notes, net of issuance costs
Changes in non-cash operating working capital

Changes in non-cash investing working capital

Proceeds from exercise of stock options

Proceeds from debt, net of issuance costs

Proceeds on disposition of investment, net of transaction costs

Foreign exchange gain on cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents

Uses of Cash and Cash Equivalents:
Additions to property, plant and equipment
Additions to property, plant and equipment
Additions to property, plant and equipment
Cash paid for business combinations, net of cash acquired
Repayment of Senior Notes
Proceeds from debt, net of issuance costs
Senior Notes issuance costs
Repayment of debt
Lease payments
Proceeds from other debt, net of issuance costs
Changes in non-cash operating working capital
Changes in non-cash investing working capital
Cash settlement of asset retirement obligation
Cash settlement of asset retirement obligation
Cash settlement of asset retirement obligation
Re-purchase of shares of Common Stock
Re-purchase of Senior Notes

Foreign exchange loss on cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents

330,676
507,248

(392,996)

(466,949)

@ Funds flow from operations is a non-GAAP measure which does not have any standardized meaning prescribed under GAAP. Refer to note 2 “Financial and Operational Highlights - Non-GAAP

measures” for a definition and reconciliation of this measure.

Contractual Obligations
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The following is a schedule by year of purchase obligations, future minimum payments for firm agreements and leases that have initial or remaining non-cancelable terms in excess

of one year as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024:

(Thousands of U.S. (Thousands of U.S. 2025- 2027- 2029 and
Dollars) Dollars) Total 2024 2026 2028 beyond

Credit facility

6.25% Senior Notes
7.75% Senior Notes
9.50% Senior Notes
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Total debt

Interest payments ()
Facilities

Facilities

Oil transportation services
Facilities

Operating leases

Finance leases

Software and
Telecommunication

Total

@ Interest payments were calculated on our credit facility till termination date on February 6, 2024, and on our 6.25% Senior Notes, 7.75% Senior Notes, and 9.50% Senior Notes under assumption that
Senior Notes will be held until their maturity dates of February 2025, May 2027, and October 2029, respectively. Actual results will differ from these estimates and assumptions.

At December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we had provided promissory notes totaling $220.1 million (2022 - $111.1 million) to support letters of credit and other credit support
totaling $244.5 million (December 31, 2023 - $220.1 million) as security relating to work commitment guarantees in Colombia and Ecuador contained in exploration contracts, the
Suroriente Block, and other capital or operating requirements. requirements as well as for transmission capacity in Canada.

The above table does not reflect estimated amounts expected to be incurred in the future associated with the abandonment of our oil and gas properties and other long-term
liabilities, as we cannot determine with accuracy the timing of such payments. Information regarding our asset retirement obligation can be found in Note 912 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements, Asset Retirement Obligation, in Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

As is customary in the oil and gas industry, we may at times have commitments in place to reserve or earn certain acreage positions or wells. If we do not meet such commitments,
the acreage positions or wells may be lost, and associated penalties may be payable.

Climate Change

We have considered the impact of the climate events on the following items presented in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 December
31, 2024:

Impairment

We have considered the impact of the evolving worldwide demand for energy and global advancement of alternative sources of energy that are not sourced from fossil fuels in the
ceiling test impairment assessment on oil and gas properties. The estimated ceiling amount of our oil and gas properties was based on proved reserves, the life of which is generally
less than 15 years. The ultimate period in which global energy markets can transition from carbon-based sources to alternative energy is highly uncertain. However, the majority of
the cash flows associated with proved reserves per the 2023 2024 reserve report should be realized prior to the potential elimination of carbon-based energy.

Expenditures on property, plant and equipment

From 2018 to 2023, 2024, we incurred $22.9 million $23.2 million on gas-to-power facilities in the Acordionero field to reduce emissions principally by the recovery and use of natural
gas in the field for power generation and reduction of diesel use for power generation. In 2023, 2024, the Acordionero field represented 52% 43% of our production. As of the end of
2023,2024, Gran Tierra converts gas to power at seven of our facilities located in the Acordionero, Costayaco, Moqueta, Mono Arana, Los Angeles, Cohembi and Juglar fields. In
total, we converted 2.7 billion 2.8 billion standard cubic feet of natural gas into electricity instead of being flared for the
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year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and have incurred capital expenditures of $28.5 million $33.4 million since 2018. The extent of spending on projects directly
linked to reducing the climate impact of our operations.

Established in 2017, NaturAmazonas addresses the root causes of deforestation and develops nature-based solutions for reversing the process while increasing the well-being of
nearby communities. We voluntarily support projects are an industry leader in reforestation and conservation in Colombia. It has created an effective model for the protection of the
environment. Through programs like Gran Tierra’s flagship environmental initiative, NaturAmazonas, creating change at scale by engaging communities in partnership with the
international non-governmental organization Conservation International, we have committed to reforesting 1,000 hectares of land protecting their environment and securing
partnerships with public and maintaining 18,000 hectares of forest private institutions, as well as stakeholders in the Andes-Amazon rainforest corridor. The long-term reforestation
and conservation efforts. NaturAmazonas project alone is expected projected to sequester approximately 8.7 million tonnes of carbon dioxide over its lifetime. During the year ended
December 31, 2023, Gran Tierra signed a four-year extension with Conservation International CO2, equivalent to continue the NaturAmazonas project. This extension will, among
other benefits, result in the development approximately 19 years of the additional 100 restoration agreements to restore more than 250 additional hectares of land while ensuring the
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benefits from NaturAmazonas’ first phase sustain.our 2024 Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions:. We have planted over 1.5 million 1.9 million trees and conserved, preserved, or
reforested more than 3,800 5,300 hectares of land through all of our environmental efforts since 2018. We will continue to implement projects that focus date.

1 2024 emissions are based on environmental protection, conservation full year emissions from Colombia and reforestation efforts. Ecuador, plus post-transaction date emissions in Canada (November
& December).

Current assets and current liabilities

These amounts are short-term in nature, and during the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, management was not aware of any material impacts on these items
related to climate change and climate events. We did not experience material credit losses on our accounts receivable during 2023. 2024.

Share capital
The evolving energy transition and general sentiment to the oil and gas industry may result in reduced access to capital markets.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements under GAAP requires management to make estimates, judgments, and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
as well as the revenues and expenses reported and disclosure of contingent liabilities. Changes in these estimates related to judgments and assumptions will occur as a result of
changes in facts and circumstances or discovery of new information, and, accordingly, actual results could differ from the amounts estimated.

On a regular basis, we evaluate our estimates, judgments, and assumptions. We also discuss our critical accounting policies and estimates with the Audit Committee of the Board of
Directors.

Certain accounting estimates are considered to be critical if (a) the nature of the estimates and assumptions is material due to the level of subjectivity and judgment necessary to
account for highly uncertain matters or the susceptibility of such matters to changes; and (b) the impact of the estimates and assumptions on financial condition or operating
performance is material. The areas of accounting and the associated critical estimates and assumptions made are discussed below.

Full Cost Method of Accounting and the impact of estimated proved oil and gas reserves on the calculations of depletion expense and the ceiling test related to Oil and
Gas Properties.

We follow the full cost method of accounting for our oil and natural gas properties in accordance with SEC Regulation S-X Rule 4-10, as described in Note 2 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements, Significant Accounting Policies, in Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

Our estimates of proved oil and natural gas reserves are a major component of the depletion and full cost ceiling calculations. Additionally, our proved reserves represent the
element of these calculations that require the most subjective judgments. Estimates of reserves are forecasts based on engineering data, projected future rates of production, and
the amount and timing of future expenditures. The process of estimating oil and natural gas reserves requires substantial judgment, resulting in imprecise determinations,
particularly for new discoveries. Different reserve engineers may make different estimates of reserve quantities based on the same data.

We believe our assumptions are reasonable based on the information available to us at the time we prepare our estimates. However, these estimates may change substantially as
additional data from ongoing development activities and production performance becomes available and as economic conditions impact oil and natural gas prices and costs change.

Management is responsible for estimating the quantities of proved oil and natural gas reserves and for preparing related disclosures. Estimates and related disclosures are prepared
in accordance with SEC requirements and generally accepted industry practices in the United States as prescribed by the Society of Petroleum Engineers. Reserve estimates are
evaluated at least annually by independent reservoir engineering specialists.
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While the quantities of proved reserves require substantial judgment, the associated prices of oil and natural gas and the applicable discount rate that are used to calculate the
discounted present value of the reserves do not require judgment. The ceiling test calculation dictates that a 10% discount factor be used and future net revenues are calculated
using the unweighted arithmetic average of the first-day-of-the month Brent price for the 12-month period prior to the ending date of the period covered by the balance sheet.
Therefore, the future net revenues associated with the estimated proved reserves are not based on our assessment of future prices or costs but reflect adjustments for gravity,
quality, local conditions, gathering and transportation fees, and distance from market. Estimates of standardized measure of our future cash flows from proved reserves for our
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 ceiling tests were based on wellhead prices per bblboe as of the first day of each month within that twelve-month period.

Because the ceiling test calculation dictates the use of prices that are not representative of future prices and requires a 10% discount factor, the resulting value should not be
construed as the current market value of the estimated oil and gas reserves attributable to our properties. Historical oil and gas prices for any particular 12-month period can be
either higher or lower than our price forecast. Therefore, oil and gas property write-downs that result from applying the full cost ceiling limitation, and that are caused by fluctuations
in price as opposed to reductions to the underlying quantities of reserves should not be viewed as absolute indicators of a reduction of the ultimate value of the related reserves.
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Our Reserves Committee oversees the annual review of our oil and gas reserves and related disclosures. The Board meets with management periodically to review the reserves
process, results and related disclosures and appoints and meets with the independent reservoir engineering specialists to review the scope of their work, whether they have had
access to sufficient information, the nature and satisfactory resolution of any material differences of opinion, and in the case of the independent reservoir engineering specialists,
their independence.

For the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2022 2023 and 2021 2022, we had no ceiling test impairment losses. We used an average Brent Crude price of $80.42
per boe, Edmonton Light Crude of C$98.01 per boe, Alberta AECO spot price of $82.51C$1.46 per bbl less corresponding differentials MMBtu Edmonton Propane C$30.46 per boe,
Edmonton Butane C$48.39 per boe and Edmonton Condensate C$100.83 per boe for the purposes of the December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 ceiling test calculations
(2022 (December 31, 2023, and 2021 2022 Brent Crude - $82.51 and $97.98 and $68.92, per boe, respectively).

It is difficult to predict with reasonable certainty the amount of expected future impairment losses given the many factors impacting the asset base and the cash flows used in the
prescribed U.S. GAAP ceiling test calculation. These factors include, but are not limited to, future commaodity pricing, royalty rates in different pricing environments, operating costs
and negotiated savings, foreign exchange rates, capital expenditures timing and negotiated savings, production and its impact on depletion and cost base, upward or downward
reserve revisions as a result of ongoing exploration and development activity, and tax attributes.

Unproved Properties

Unproved properties are not depleted pending the determination of the existence of proved reserves. Costs are transferred into the amortization base on an ongoing basis as the
properties are evaluated and proved reserves are established or impairment is determined. Unproved properties are evaluated quarterly to ascertain whether impairment has
occurred. Unproved properties, the costs of which are individually significant, are assessed individually by considering seismic data, plans or requirements to relinquish acreage,
drilling results and activity, remaining time in the commitment period, remaining capital plans and political, economic and market conditions. Where it is not practicable to individually
assess the amount of impairment of properties for which costs are not individually significant, these properties are grouped for purposes of assessing impairment. During any period
in which factors indicate an impairment, the cumulative costs incurred to date for such property are transferred to the full cost pool and are then subject to amortization. The transfer
of costs into the amortization base involves a significant amount of judgment and may be subject to changes over time based on our drilling plans and results, seismic evaluations,
the assignment of proved reserves, availability of capital and other factors. For countries where a reserve base has not yet been established, the impairment is charged to earnings.

Asset Retirement Obligations (“ARO”)

We are required to remove or remedy the effect of our activities on the environment at our present and former operating sites by dismantling and removing production facilities and
remediating any damage caused. Estimating our future ARO requires us to make estimates and judgments with respect to activities that will occur many years into the future. In
addition, the ultimate financial impact of environmental laws and regulations is not always clearly known and cannot be reasonably estimated as standards evolve in the countries in
which we operate.
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We record ARO in our consolidated financial statements by discounting the present value of the estimated retirement obligations associated with our oil and gas wells and facilities.
In arriving at amounts recorded, we make numerous assumptions and judgments with respect to the existence of a legal obligation for an ARO, estimated probabilities, amounts and
timing of settlements, inflation factors, credit-adjusted risk-free discount rates and changes in legal, regulatory, environmental and political environments. Because costs typically
extend many years into the future, estimating future costs is difficult and requires management to make judgments that are subject to future revisions based upon numerous factors,
including changing technology and the political and regulatory environment. In periods subsequent to initial measurement of the ARO, we must recognize period-to-period changes
in the liability resulting from the passage of time and revisions to either the timing or the amount of the original estimate of undiscounted cash flows. Increases in the ARO liability
due to passage of time impact net income as accretion expense. The related capitalized costs, including revisions thereto, are charged to expense through DD&A.

It is difficult to determine the impact of a change in any one of our assumptions. As a result, we are unable to provide a reasonable sensitivity analysis of the impact a change in our
assumptions would have on our financial results.

Income Taxes

We carry on business in several countries and as a result, we are subject to income taxes in humerous jurisdictions. The determination of our income tax provision is inherently
complex and we are required to interpret continually changing regulations and make certain judgments. While income tax filings are subject to audits and reassessments, we believe
we have made adequate provision for all income tax obligations. However, changes in facts and circumstances as a result of income tax audits, reassessments, jurisprudence and
any new legislation may result in an increase or decrease in our provision for income taxes.

To assess the realization of deferred tax assets, we consider whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate
realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. We
consider the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. This determination involves
numerous judgments and assumptions and includes estimating factors such as commodity prices, production and other operating conditions. If any of those factors, assumptions or
judgments change, the deferred tax asset could change, and in particular decrease in a period where we determine it is more likely than not that the asset will not be realized.
Alternatively, a valuation allowance may be reversed where it is determined it is more likely not that the asset will be realized.

Legal and Other Contingencies
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A provision for legal and other contingencies is charged to expense when the loss is probable and the cost can be reasonably estimated. Determining when expenses should be
recorded for these contingencies and the appropriate amount for accrual is a complex estimation process that includes the subjective judgment of management. In many cases,
management’s judgment is based on interpretation of laws and regulations, which can be interpreted differently by regulators and/or courts of law. Management closely monitors
known and potential legal and other contingencies and periodically determines when we should record losses for these items based on information available to us.

Stock-Based Compensation

Our stock-based compensation cost is measured based on the fair value of the awards that are ultimately expected to vest. Fair values are determined using pricing models such as
the Black-Scholes simulation stock option-pricing model and/or observable share prices. These estimates depend on certain assumptions, including volatility, risk-free interest rate,
the term of the awards, the forfeiture rate and performance factors, which, by their nature, are subject to measurement uncertainty. We use historical data to estimate the expected
term used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model, option exercises and employee departure behavior. Expected volatilities used in the fair value estimate are based on the
historical volatility of our shares. The risk-free rate for periods within the expected term of the stock options is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant.

Business Combination

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. Assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are recognized at their fair values. Any
excess of the consideration paid over the fair value of the net assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recognized as a goodwill and any excess of the fair value of the net assets
acquired and
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liabilities assumed over the consideration paid is recognized as bargain purchase gain in the consolidated statements of operations.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Commodity Price Risk

Our principal market risk relates to oil, prices. Oil natural gas and NGL prices which are volatile and unpredictable and influenced by concerns over world supply and demand
imbalance and many other market factors outside of our control. Our revenues are from oil sales at Brent or WTI pricing and for gas at AECO pricing and adjusted for quality.

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is a factor for our company but is ameliorated to a certain degree by the nature of expenditures and revenues in the countries where we operate. Our reporting
currency is U.S. dollars and 100% 97% of our revenues are related to the U.S. dollar price of Brent with the remainder related to Canadian dollar price of WTI oil or WTI oil. AECO
gas. In Colombia, we receive 100% of our revenues in U.S. dollars and the majority of our capital expenditures are in U.S. dollars or are based on U.S. dollar prices. The majority of
income and VAT and G&A expenses in all locations are in local currency. In Canada, we receive 100% of our revenue in Canadian dollar and majority of our capital and operating
expenditures are in Canadian dollars or are based on Canadian dollar prices.

Additionally, foreign exchange gains and losses result primarily from the fluctuation of the U.S. dollar to the Colombian peso due to our accounts payable, taxes receivable and
payable and deferred tax assets and liabilities in Colombia are denominated in the local currency of the Colombian foreign operations which are our monetary assets. As a result, a
foreign exchange gain or loss must be calculated on conversion to the U.S. dollar functional currency. A one percent strengthening in Colombian peso against the U.S. dollar results
in foreign exchange loss of approximately 0.4 million $0.3 million U.S. dollars on accounts payable, gain of approximately $0.3 million $0.1 million U.S. dollars on taxes receivable
and payable and loss of approximately $0.4 million $0.2 million U.S. dollars on deferred tax assets and liabilities.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates. We are exposed to interest rate fluctuations on our credit facility, which
bears floating rates of interest. At December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, our credit facility was drawn by $36.4 millionremained undrawn (December 31, 20222023 -
undrawn). $36.4 million).

Our investment objectives are focused on preservation of principal and liquidity. By policy, we manage our exposure to market risks by limiting investments to high quality bank

issues at overnight rates, or U.S. or Canadian government-backed federal, provincial or state securities or other money market instruments with high credit ratings and short-term
liquidity. A 10% change in interest rates would not have a material effect on the value of our investment portfolio. We do not hold any of these investments for trading purposes.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Gran Tierra Energy Inc.:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
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We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Gran Tierra Energy Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and
2022,2023, the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31,
2023 December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022,2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the
years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway
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Commission, and our report dated February 20, 2024 February 24, 2025 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements
based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S.
federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter Matters

The critical audit matter matters communicated below is a matterare matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that waswere
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements
and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of a critical audit matter matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the
consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter matters below, providing a separate opinion opinions on the critical
audit matter matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates. they relate.

Impact Fair value measurement of oil and natural gas properties acquired in a business combination

As discussed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company acquired i3 Energy Plc (i3 Energy) in a business combination on October 31, 2024 (the acquisition-
date). As a result of the business combination, the Company acquired proved oil and natural gas properties with an acquisition-date fair value of $256,040 thousand. The fair value
of the proved oil and natural gas properties acquired is based on cash flows associated with the estimated acquired proved oil and natural gas reserves (acquired reserves cash
flows) and the discount rate. The estimation of proved oil and natural gas reserves, which are used to estimate the acquired reserves cash flows, involves the expertise of
independent reservoir engineering specialists, who take into consideration assumptions related to forecasted production, forecasted commodity prices, and forecasted operating,
royalty and capital costs (reserve assumptions). The Company engaged independent reservoir engineering specialists to estimate the Company’s proved oil and natural gas
reserves as of December 31, 2024 (the external reserve report). The Company also engaged an independent valuator to estimate the discount rate.

We identified the determination of the acquisition-date fair value of proved oil and natural gas properties acquired in the i3 Energy business combination as a critical audit matter.
Changes in the acquired reserve cash flows and the discount rate could have had a significant impact on the determination of the acquisition-date fair value of the acquired proved
oil and natural gas properties. Complex auditor judgment was required to evaluate the acquired reserves cash flows and the discount rate, which were inputs into the determination
of the acquisition-date fair value. Additionally, the evaluation of this fair value required involvement of valuation professionals with specialized skills and knowledge.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal
controls related to this critical audit matter. This included controls related to:

« the determination of the acquisition-date fair value, including the discount rate
« the determination of the acquired reserves cash flows
« the determination of the reserve assumptions and the resulting reserves cash flows in the external reserve report.

We evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the independent reservoir engineering specialists engaged by the Company, who estimated the proved oil and natural
gas reserves as of December 31, 2024. We also evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the independent valuator engaged by the Company, who estimated the
discount rate. We evaluated the methodology used by the independent reservoir engineering specialists to estimate the proved oil and natural gas reserves as of December 31,
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2024 for compliance with regulatory standards. We assessed the forecasted production and forecasted operating, royalty and capital costs assumptions used in the external reserve
report and the estimate of the acquired reserves cash flows by comparing them to 2024 actual results of the acquired proved oil and natural gas properties post-
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acquisition. We assessed the forecasted commodity prices used in the estimate of the acquired reserves cash flows and in the external reserve report by comparing them to those
published by other reserve engineering companies. We evaluated the estimated acquired reserves cash flows by comparing them to the corresponding cash flows from proved oil
and natural gas reserves in the external reserve report.

We involved valuation professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted in:

« evaluating the Company’s determination of the acquisition-date discount rate by comparing the inputs of the discount rate against publicly available market data for
comparable assets and assessing the discount rate

« evaluating the Company’s estimate of the acquisition-date fair value of the acquired proved oil and natural gas properties by comparing to publicly available market data and
valuation metrics for comparable entities.

Assessment of the impact of estimated proved oil and natural gas reserves on the calculations of depletion expense and the ceiling test calculations related to the Colombian oil and
natural gas properties

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company depletes its oil and natural gas properties using the unit-of-production method on a country-by-country
basis. based upon production and estimates of proved reserve quantities. Under such method, capitalized costs are depleted over the estimated proved oil and natural gas reserves.
As discussed in Note 4 7 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company recorded depletion and depreciation expense of $209.7 $223.1 million for the year ended December
31, 2023 December 31, 2024, a portion of which related to the Colombian oil and natural gas properties. Additionally, as discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Company performs a ceiling test calculation as of each quarter end on a country-by-country basis. In performing its quarterly ceiling test, the Company limits the
capitalized costs of proved oil and natural gas properties, net of accumulated depletion and deferred income taxes, to the estimated future net cash flows from proved oil and
natural gas reserves discounted at 10 percent, net of related tax effects, plus the lower of cost or fair value of unproved properties included in the costs being amortized. If such
capitalized costs exceed the ceiling limitation, the Company will record a ceiling test impairment to the extent of such excess. As discussed in Note 58 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Company did not record a ceiling test impairment in 20232024 related to the Colombian oil and natural gas properties. The estimation of proved oil and natural gas
reserves, which are used in the calculations of depletion and the ceiling test, involves the expertise of independent reservoir engineering specialists, who take into consideration
assumptions related to forecasted production and forecasted operating, royalty and capital costs (reserve assumptions). The Company engages independent reservoir engineering
specialists to estimate the proved oil and natural gas reserves.

We identified the assessment of the impact of estimated proved oil and natural gas reserves on the calculations of depletion expense and the ceiling test calculations related to the
Colombian oil and natural gas properties as a critical audit matter. Changes in the reserve assumptions could have had a significant impact on the calculations of depletion expense
and the ceiling test. A high degree of test calculations. Complex auditor judgment was required in evaluating the Company’s proved oil and natural gas reserves, and the related
reserve assumptions, which were an input to the calculations of depletion expense and the ceiling tests.

test calculations.
The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal
controls related to the critical audit matter. This included controls related to the: to:

» calculation of the depletion expense and the ceiling test calculations
. the estimation of the proved oil and natural gas reserves, including the reserve assumptionsassumptions.

We assessed recalculated the calculations of depletion expense and the ceiling test calculations and analyzed them for compliance with regulatory standards. We evaluated the
competence, capabilities and objectivity of the independent reservoir engineering specialists engaged by the Company who estimated to estimate, the proved oil and natural gas
reserves. We evaluated the methodology used by the independent reservoir engineering specialists to estimate the proved oil and natural gas reserves for compliance with
regulatory standards. We compared the Company’s 2023 2024 actual production and operating, royalty and capital costs to those estimates used in the prior year’s estimate of the
proved oil and natural gas reserves to assess the Company’s ability to accurately forecast. We assessed the estimates of forecasted production and forecasted operating, royalty
and capital cost costs assumptions used in the estimate of the proved oil and natural gas reserves by comparing them to historical results.

/sl KPMG LLP

Chartered Professional Accountants

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2018

Calgary, Canada

February 20, 2024 24, 2025
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Gran Tierra Energy Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(Thousands of U.S. Dollars, Except Share and Per Share Amounts)

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
OIL SALES (NOTE 10) $ 636,957 $ 711,388 $ 473,722
EXPENSES
Operating 186,864 162,385 135,722
Transportation 14,546 10,197 11,618
Depletion, depreciation and accretion (Note 4) 215,584 180,280 139,874
General and administrative (Note 13) 45,846 40,957 36,263
Foreign exchange loss 11,822 2,578 20,477
Derivative instruments loss (Note 13) — 26,611 48,838
Other financial instruments loss (gain) (Note 13) 15 @) 3,369
Interest expense (Note 7) 55,806 46,493 54,381
TOTAL EXPENSES 530,483 469,494 450,542
OTHER (LOSS) GAIN (Note 7) (2,297) 2,598 (44)
INTEREST INCOME 1,983 443 —
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES 106,160 244,935 23,136
INCOME TAX EXPENSE (RECOVERY)
Current (Note 11) 55,688 80,566 4,479
Deferred (Note 11) 56,759 25,340 (23,825)
112,447 105,906 (19,346)
NET AND COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME $ (6,287) $ 139,029 $ 42,482
NET (LOSS) INCOME PER SHARE (1)
— BASIC $ (0.19) $ 3.81 1.16
— DILUTED $ (0.19) $ 3.76 1.15
WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING - BASIC (Note 8) 33,469,828 36,445,546 36,702,290
WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING - DILUTED (Note 8) 33,469,828 36,928,010 36,787,339
Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
OIL, NATURAL GAS AND NGL SALES (NOTE 13) $ 621,849 $ 636,957 $ 711,388
EXPENSES
Operating 202,331 186,864 162,385
Transportation 18,464 14,546 10,197
Depletion, depreciation and accretion (Note 7) 230,619 215,584 180,280
General and administrative (Note 16) 49,619 45,846 40,957
Severance 1,519 — —
Transaction costs (Note 3) 5,907 — —
Foreign exchange (gain) loss (8,808) 11,822 2,578
Derivative instruments loss (Note 16) 2,271 — 26,611
Other financial instruments loss (gain) (Note 16) — 15 @)
Interest expense (Note 10) 80,466 55,806 46,493
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TOTAL EXPENSES

OTHER GAIN (LOSS)
INTEREST INCOME
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (RECOVERY)
Current (Note 14)
Deferred (Note 14)

NET INCOME (LOSS)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Foreign currency translation adjustment

NET AND COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME

NET (LOSS) INCOME PER SHARE (1

— BASIC

— DILUTED

WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING - BASIC (Note 11)
WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING - DILUTED (Note 11)

@) Reflects our 1-for-10 reverse stock split that became effective May 5, 2023.

(See notes to the consolidated financial statements)

Gran Tierra Energy Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Thousands of U.S. Dollars, Except Share and Per Share Amounts)

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable (Note 3)
Inventory
Other current assets (Note 13 and 14)
Total Current Assets
Oil and Gas Properties (using the full cost method of accounting)
Proved
Unproved
Total Oil and Gas Properties
Other capital assets

Total Property, Plant and Equipment (Note 4)

Other Long-Term Assets

Taxes receivable

Deferred tax assets (Note 11)

Other long-term assets (Note 13 and 14)
Total Other Long-Term Assets

582,388 530,483 469,494
1,478 (2,297) 2,598
3,666 1,983 443

44,605 106,160 244,935
69,277 55,688 80,566
(27,888) 56,759 25,340
41,389 112,447 105,906
$ 3,216 (6,287) $ 139,029
(6,736) — —
$ (3,520) (6,287) $ 139,029
0.10 (0.19) $ 3.81
0.10 (0.19) $ 3.76
32,042,897 33,469,828 36,445,546
32,042,897 33,469,828 36,928,010
See Note 8 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion.
66
As at December 31,
2023 2022
62,146 $ 126,873
12,359 10,706
29,039 20,192
8,920 10,816
112,464 168,587
1,055,070 1,000,424
54,116 74,471
1,109,186 1,074,895
33,664 26,007
1,142,850 1,100,902
52,089 27,796
10,923 22,990
7,963 15,335
70,975 66,121
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Total Assets
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 6, 7 and 9)
Credit facility (Note 7)
Taxes payable (Note 11)
Equity compensation award liability (Note 8)
Total Current Liabilities
Long-Term Liabilities
Long-term debt (Note 7)
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 11)
Asset retirement obligation (Note 9)
Equity compensation award liabilities (Note 8)
Other long-term liabilities (Note 13)
Total Long-Term Liabilities

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 12)

Shareholders’ Equity (1)

Common Stock (Note 8) (32,275,113 and 36,889,862 issued, 32,246,501 and 34,615,116 outstanding shares of Common Stock,
par value $0.001 per share, as at December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, respectively)

Additional paid in capital

Treasury stock (Note 8)

Deficit
Total Shareholders’ Equity
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable (Note 6)
Inventory
Taxes receivable (Note 5)
Other current assets (Note 16 and 17)

Total Current Assets

Oil and Natural Gas Properties (using the full cost method of accounting)

Proved
Unproved

Total Oil and Natural Gas Properties
Other capital assets

Total Property, Plant and Equipment (Note 7)

Other Long-Term Assets
Taxes receivable long-term (Note 5)
Deferred tax assets (Note 14)
Other long-term assets (Note 16 and 17)
Total Other Long-Term Assets

Total Assets

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 9, 10 and 12)
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$ 1,326,289 $ 1,335,610
$ 187,007 $ 167,579
35,609 —
27,219 58,978
10,419 15,082
260,254 241,639
519,532 589,593
57,453 28
73,029 63,358
8,750 16,437
10,877 6,989
669,641 676,405
9,936 10,272
1,249,651 1,291,354
(163) (27,317)
(863,030) (856,743)
396,394 417,566
$ 1,326,289 $ 1,335,610
As at December 31,
2024 2023
$ 103,379 $ 62,146
35,480 12,359
43,116 29,039
18,095 438
11,201 8,482
211,271 112,464
1,260,578 1,055,070
119,520 54,116
1,380,098 1,109,186
43,033 33,664
1,423,131 1,142,850
1,629 52,089
11,718 10,923
7,038 7,963
20,385 70,975
$ 1,654,787 $ 1,326,289
$ 273,103 $ 187,007
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Credit facility (Note 10)

Current portion of long-term debt

Taxes payable (Note 5)

Equity compensation award liability (Note 11)

Total Current Liabilities

Long-Term Liabilities
Long-term debt (Note 10)
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 14)
Asset retirement obligation (Note 12)
Equity compensation award liabilities (Note 11)
Other long-term liabilities (Note 16)
Total Long-Term Liabilities

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 15)

Shareholders’ Equity (1)

Common Stock (Note 11) (36,460,141 and 32,275,113 issued, 35,972,193 and 32,246,501 outstanding shares of Common Stock,

par value $0.001 per share, as at December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, respectively)
Additional paid in capital

Treasury stock (Note 11)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Deficit
Total Shareholders’ Equity

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

) Reflects our 1-for-10 reverse stock split that became effective May 5, 2023. See Note 8 in the (See notes to the consolidated financial statements for further

discussion. statements)
(See notes to the consolidated financial statements)

Gran Tierra Energy Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Thousands of U.S. Dollars)

Operating Activities
Net (loss) income
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depletion, depreciation and accretion (Note 4)
Deferred tax expense (recovery) (Note 11)
Stock-based compensation expense (Note 8)
Amortization of debt issuance costs (Note 7)
Non-cash lease expenses
Lease payments
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss
Derivative instruments loss (Note 13)
Cash settlement on derivatives instruments (Note 13)
Other financial instruments (gain) loss (Note 13)
Cash settlement of asset retirement obligation (Note 9)
Other non-cash loss (gain) (Note 7)
Net change in assets and liabilities from operating activities (Note 14)

Net cash provided by operating activities
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— 35,609
24,807 —
13,970 27,219
10,568 10,419
322,448 260,254
722,123 519,532
64,114 57,453
105,936 73,029
17,456 8,750
9,142 10,877
918,771 669,641
9,940 9,936
1,273,343 1,249,651
(3,165) (163)
(6,736) —
(859,814) (863,030)
413,568 396,394
$ 1,654,787 $ 1,326,289
67
Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
(6,287) $ 139,029 $ 42,482
215,584 180,280 139,874
56,759 25,340 (23,825)
5,722 9,049 8,396
5,831 3,528 3,809
4,967 2,818 1,667
(3,018) (1,666) (1,621)
(5,085) 10,251 21,879
— 26,611 48,838
— (26,611) (58,427)
15 %) 3,369
(377) (2,630) (805)
2,297 (2,598) 44
(48,416) 64,317 59,154
227,992 427,711 244,834
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Investing Activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment (Note 4)

Changes in non-cash investing working capital

Proceeds on disposition of investment, net of transaction costs (Note 13)

Net cash used in investing activities (Note 14)

Financing Activities
Purchase of Senior Notes (Note 7)
Senior Notes issuance costs
Repayment of Senior Notes (Note 7)
Proceeds from debt, net of issuance costs (Note 7)
Repayment of debt (Note 7)
Lease payments
Proceeds from exercise of stock options (Note 8)
Re-purchase of shares of Common Stock (Note 8)

Net cash used in financing activities

Foreign exchange gain (loss) on cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents,
beginning of year (Note 14)

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents,
end of year (Note 14)

Supplemental cash flow disclosures (Note 14)

Operating Activities

Net income (loss)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depletion, depreciation and accretion (Note 7)
Deferred tax (recovery) expense (Note 14)
Stock-based compensation expense (Note 11)
Amortization of debt issuance costs (Note 10)
Non-cash lease expenses
Lease payments
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss
Derivative instruments loss (Note 16)
Cash settlement on derivatives instruments (Note 16)
Cash settlement of asset retirement obligation (Note 12)
Other non-cash loss (gain)
Net change in assets and liabilities from operating activities (Note 17)

Net cash provided by operating activities

Investing Activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment: (Note 7 and 17)
Cash paid for business combinations, net of cash acquired (Note 3)
Proceeds on disposition of property, plant and equipment (Note 7)

Net cash used in investing activities
Financing Activities
Proceeds from issuance of Senior Notes, net of issuance costs

Purchase of Senior Notes (Note 10)
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(218,882) (236,604) (149,879)
(7,702) 26,273 1,431
— — 43,126
(226,584) (210,331) (105,322)
(6,805) (17,274) —
(13,351) — —
(60,000) — —
48,014 — (228)
(13,636) (67,803) (122,500)
(6,527) (2,228) (2,182)
8 1,300 100
(17,300) (27,317) —
(69,597) (113,322) (124,810)
5,869 (2,104) (821)
(62,320) 101,954 13,881
133,358 31,404 17,523
71,038 $ 133,358 $ 31,404
Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
3,216 $ (6,287) $ 139,029
230,619 215,584 180,280
(27,888) 56,759 25,340
9,707 5,722 9,049
12,918 5,831 3,528
5,923 4,967 2,818
(5,035) (3,018) (1,666)
(7,893) (5,085) 10,251
2,271 — 26,611
1,103 — (26,611)
(1,698) (377) (2,630)
— 2,312 (2,605)
16,078 (48,416) 64,317
239,321 227,992 427,711
(234,236) (226,584) (210,331)
(162,651) — —
44,382 — —
(352,505) (226,584) (210,331)
221,474 — —
— (6,805) (17,274)
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Senior Notes issuance costs

Repayment of Senior Notes (Note 10)

Proceeds from debt, net of issuance costs (Note 10)
Repayment of debt (Note 10)

Lease payments

Proceeds from exercise of stock options (Note 11)
Re-purchase of shares of Common Stock (Note 11)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Foreign exchange (loss) gain on cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents,
beginning of year (Note 17)

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents,
end of year (Note 17)

Supplemental cash flow disclosures (Note 17)

(See notes to the consolidated financial statements)

1Refer to Note 17 for the correction in presentation of cash flows associated with additions to property, plant and equipment in the comparative periods

Gran Tierra Energy Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
(Thousands of U.S. Dollars)

Share Capital ()

Balance, beginning of year

Balance, beginning of year

Balance, beginning of year

Reverse stock split (Note 8)

Cancellation of shares of Common Stock (Note 8)

Issuance of shares of Common Stock, net of issuance costs (Note 8)
Reverse stock split (Note 11)

Cancellation of shares of Common Stock (Note 11)

Issuance of shares of Common Stock, net of issuance costs (Note 11)
Balance, end of year

Additional Paid in Capital

Additional Paid in Capital

Additional Paid in Capital

Balance, beginning of year

Balance, beginning of year

Balance, beginning of year

Reverse stock split (Note 8)

Cancellation of shares of Common Stock (Note 8)

Exercise of stock options (Note 8)

Stock-based compensation (Note 8)

Issuance of Common shares, net of issuance costs (Note 11)
Reverse stock split (Note 11)

Cancellation of shares of Common Stock (Note 11)

Exercise of stock options (Note 11)

— (13,351) —

— (60,000) —

— 48,014 —

(36,364) (13,636) (67,803)

(13,300) (6,527) (2,228)

373 8 1,300

(15,309) (17,300) (27,317)

156,874 (69,597) (113,322)

(3,391) 5,869 (2,104)

40,299 (62,320) 101,954

71,038 133,358 31,404

111,337 $ 71,038 $ 133,358
68

Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
2023 2021 2024 2023 2022
67/137

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us

©2025 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

REFINITIV [<


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

Modification of stock options (Note 11)
Stock-based compensation (Note 11)
Balance, end of year

Treasury Stock

Treasury Stock

Treasury Stock

Balance, beginning of year

Balance, beginning of year

Balance, beginning of year

Purchase of treasury shares (Note 8)
Cancellation of treasury shares (Note 8)
Purchase of treasury shares (Note 11)
Cancellation of treasury shares (Note 11)
Balance, end of year

Accumulated and other comprehensive income (loss)
Accumulated and other comprehensive income (loss)
Accumulated and other comprehensive income (loss)
Balance, beginning of year

Balance, beginning of year

Balance, beginning of year

Other comprehensive loss

Balance, end of year

Deficit

Deficit

Deficit

Balance, beginning of year

Balance, beginning of year

Balance, beginning of year

Net (loss) income

Net income (loss)

Balance, end of year

Balance, end of year

Balance, end of year

Total Shareholders’ Equity

Total Shareholders’ Equity

Total Shareholders’ Equity

(1) Reflects our 1-for-10 reverse stock split that became effective May 5, 2023. See Note 8 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion.
(See notes to the consolidated financial statements)
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Gran Tierra Energy Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2022 2023 and 2021 2022

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars, unless otherwise indicated)

1. Description of Business

Gran Tierra Energy Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company” or “Gran Tierra”), is a publicly traded company focused on international oil and natural gas exploration and
production with assets currently in Colombia, Ecuador and Ecuador. Canada.

2. Significant Accounting Policies
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The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (“GAAP”).

Significant accounting policies are:

Basis of Consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its controlled subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.
Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Certain estimates and judgments have a material impact where the assumptions underlying these accounting estimates relate to matters that involve significant estimation
uncertainty at the time the estimate or judgement is made or are subjective. These estimates and judgments include, but are not limited to:

« estimated proved and probable reserves volumes and the related cash flows are determined by the independent reservoir engineering specialists and used in several of the
estimates made by management in preparing these financial statements. Numerous estimates Estimates are required to be made in the reserve report, including forecasted
production, forecasted operating and royalty costs, capital cost assumptions, and in certain cases forecasted commodity prices;

« depletion, depreciation and accretion (“DD&A”);

« timing of transfers from oil and natural gas properties not subject to depletion to the depletable base;

« impairment of proved oil and natural gas properties as determined using the full cost method of accounting for our oil and natural gas properties in accordance with SEC
Regulation S-X Rule 4-10;

« asset retirement obligations; and

¢ fair value measurement associated with the acquired proved and unproved oil and natural gas properties in the business combination, including the discount rate
determined by an independent valuator engaged by the Company.

Although management believes these estimates are reasonable, changes in facts and circumstances or discovery of new information may result in revised estimates, and actual
results may differ from these estimates.

Some of the Company’s estimates and judgements have a material impact on consolidated financial statements but do not involve significant subjectivity of estimation uncertainty.
These estimates and judgements include, but are not limited to; to:

« fair value of derivatives;

* income taxes; and

» stock-based compensation

« prepaid equity forwards (“PEF"); compensation;

» operating and finance leases; and

« debt extinguishment and debt modification accounting accounting; and

» assessment of the likely outcome of legal and other contingencies; contingencies.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.
Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents

Restricted cash and cash equivalents are comprised of cash and cash equivalents pledged to secure letters of credit and to settle asset retirement obligations. Letters of credit
currently secured by cash relate to work commitment guarantees contained in exploration contracts. Restrictions will lapse when work obligations are satisfied pursuant to the
exploration contract or an asset retirement obligation is settled. Cash and claims to cash that are restricted as to withdrawal or use for other than current operations, or are
designated for expenditure in the acquisition or construction of long-term assets are excluded from the current asset classification. The long-term portion of restricted cash and cash
equivalents is included in other long-term assets on the Company’s balance sheet.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
At each reporting date, the Company assesses the expected lifetime credit losses on initial recognition of trade accounts receivable. Credit risk is assessed based on the number of

days the receivable has been outstanding and the internal credit assessment of the customer. The expected loss rates are based on payment profiles over a period of 36 months
prior to the period-end and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this period. Historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking economic
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factors of the country where the Company sells oil, natural gas and NGL that affect the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. Trade receivables are written off when there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery.

Prepaid Equity Forwards

The Company is exposed to equity price risk in relation to its long-term incentive plans. The Company utilizes prepaid equity forwards (“PEF”) on the equivalent number of the
Company’s common shares in order to fix the future settlement cost on a portion of its cash-settled long-term incentive plans.

PEF is recorded in other current and long-term assets on the Company’s balance sheet at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized as G&A expense in the consolidated
statements of operations. The Company utilizes PEF to manage equity price risk in relation to its long-term incentive plans.

Derivatives

The Company records derivative instruments on its balance sheet at fair value as either an asset or liability with changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated statements of
operations as financial instruments gains or losses. While the Company utilizes derivative instruments to manage the price risk attributable to its expected oil, natural gas and NGL
production and foreign exchange risk, it has elected not to designate its derivative instruments as accounting hedges under the accounting guidance.

Inventory

Inventory consists of oil in tanks and third party pipelines and supplies and is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventory is determined using the
weighted average method. Oil inventories include expenditures incurred to produce, upgrade and transport the product to the storage facilities and include operating, depletion and
depreciation expenses, and royalties.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are recognized using the asset and liability method, whereby deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to
differences between the consolidated financial statements carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax base, and operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences and
carryforwards are expected to be recovered or settled. Valuation allowances are provided if, after considering the available evidence, it is not more likely than not that some or all of
the deferred tax assets will be realized.
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The tax benefit from an uncertain tax position is recognized when it is more likely than not, based on the technical merits of the position, that the position will be sustained on
examination by the taxing authorities. Additionally, the amount of the tax benefit recognized is the largest amount of benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized
upon ultimate settlement. In evaluating whether a tax position has met the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, the Company presumes that the position will be examined by
the appropriate taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information. The Company recognizes potential penalties and interest related to unrecognized tax benefits as a
component of income tax expense.

Oil and Natural Gas Properties

The Company uses the full cost method of accounting for its investment in oil and natural gas properties as defined by the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Under this
method, the Company capitalizes all acquisition, exploration, and development costs incurred for the purpose of finding oil and natural gas reserves, including salaries, benefits, and
other internal costs directly attributable to these activities. Costs associated with production and general corporate activities, are expensed as incurred. Separate cost centers are
maintained for each country in which the Company incurs costs.

The Company computes depletion of oil and natural gas properties on a quarterly basis using the unit-of-production method based upon production and estimates of proved reserve
guantities. Future development Capital costs related to properties with proved oil and natural gas reserves are also included in the amortization base for the computation of
depletion. The costs of unproved properties are excluded from the amortization base until the properties are evaluated. The cost of exploratory dry wells is transferred to proved
properties and thus is subject to amortization immediately upon determination that a well is dry in those countries where proved reserves exist.

The Company performs a ceiling test calculation each quarter in accordance with SEC Regulation S-X Rule 4-10. In performing its quarterly ceiling test, the Company limits, on a
country-by-country basis, the capitalized costs of proved oil and natural gas properties, net of accumulated depletion and deferred income taxes, to the estimated future net cash
flows from proved oil and natural gas reserves discounted at 10%, net of related tax effects, plus the lower of cost or fair value of unproved properties included in the costs being
amortized. If such capitalized costs exceed the ceiling, the Company will record a write-down to the extent of such excess as a non-cash charge to net income or loss. Any such
write-down will reduce earnings in the period of occurrence and result in a lower DD&A rate in future periods. A write-down may not be reversed in future periods, even though
higher oil and natural gas prices may subsequently increase the ceiling.

The Company calculates future net cash flows by applying the unweighted average of prices in effect on the first day of the month for the preceding 12-month period, adjusted for
location and quality differentials. Such prices are utilized except where different prices are fixed and determinable from applicable contracts for the remaining term of those
contracts.
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Unproved properties are not depleted pending the determination of the existence of proved reserves. Costs are transferred into the depletable base on an ongoing basis as the
properties are evaluated, proved reserves are established, or impairment is determined. Unproved properties are evaluated quarterly to ascertain whether impairment has occurred.
This evaluation considers, among other factors, seismic data, plans or requirements to relinquish acreage, drilling results, and activity, remaining time in the commitment period,
remaining capital plans, and political, economic, and market conditions. During any period in which factors indicate impairment, the cumulative costs incurred to date for such
property are transferred to the full cost pool and subject to depletion. For countries where a reserve base has not yet been established, the impairment is charged to net income or
loss.

In exploration areas, related seismic costs are capitalized in unproved property and evaluated as part of the total capitalized costs associated with a property. Seismic costs related
to development projects are recorded in proved properties and therefore subject to depletion as incurred.

Gains and losses on the sale or other disposition of oil and natural gas properties are not recognized, unless the gain or loss would significantly alter the relationship between
capitalized costs and proved reserves of oil and natural gas reserves attributable to a country.

Asset Retirement Obligation

The Company records an estimated liability for future costs associated with the abandonment of its oil and natural gas properties, including the costs of reclamation of drilling sites.
The Company records the fair value of a liability for a legal obligation to retire an asset in the period in which the liability is incurred with an offsetting increase to the related oil and
natural gas properties. The fair value of an asset retirement obligation is measured by reference to the expected future cash outflows required to satisfy the retirement obligation
discounted at the Company’s country specific credit-adjusted risk-free
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interest rate. Accretion expense is recognized over time as the discounted liabilities are accreted to their expected settlement value, while the asset retirement cost is amortized over
the estimated productive life of the related assets. The accretion of the asset retirement obligation and amortization of the asset retirement cost is included in DD&A. If estimated
future costs of an asset retirement obligation change, an adjustment is recorded to both the asset retirement obligation and oil and natural gas properties. Revisions to the estimated
asset retirement obligation can result from changes in retirement cost estimates, revisions to estimated inflation rates, and changes in the estimated timing of abandonment.

Other Capital Assets

Other capital assets, including additions and replacements, are recorded at cost upon acquisition and include furniture, fixtures, leasehold improvement, computer equipment,
automobiles and right-of-use assets for operating and finance leases. Depreciation for furniture and fixtures, computer equipment, and automobiles is provided using the straight-line
method over the useful life of the asset. Leasehold improvements and right-of-use assets for operating and finance leases are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of
the estimated useful life and the term of the related lease. The cost of repairs and maintenance is charged to expenses as incurred.

Leases

At the inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. At the inception of a contract that contains a lease component, the Company allocates the consideration in
the contract to each lease and non-lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices. The Company recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease
commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently at cost less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses and adjusted for certain
remeasurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease, or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. The
lease liability is subsequently increased by the interest cost on the lease liability and decreased by lease payments made. It is remeasured when there is a change in future lease
payments arising from a change in an index or rate, a change in the estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or as appropriate, changes in
the assessment of whether a purchase or extension option is reasonably certain to be exercised or a termination option is reasonably certain not to be exercised.

The Company has applied judgment to determine the lease term for contracts which include renewal or termination options. The assessment of whether the Company is reasonably
certain to exercise such options impacts the lease term, which significantly affects the amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets recognized.

Debt extinguishment and debt modification accounting

The Company accounts for debt restructuring or exchange of debt transactions as either a debt extinguishment or a debt modification. For instruments not involving conversion
options, the Company recognizes an exchange of debt as an extinguishment if the present value of the cash flows under the terms of the new debt instrument is at least 10 percent
different from the present value of the remaining cash flows under the terms of the original instrument. If the exchange of debt is accounted for as a debt extinguishment, the
carrying value of the original debt including unamortized deferred financing fees is derecognized from our balance sheet and the new debt is recognized at its fair value less
applicable deferred financing fees, with the difference between the net carrying value of the original debt and the fair value of the new debt recognized as a gain or loss in the
consolidated statements of operations. If the terms of a debt instrument are changed or modified and the cash flow effect on a present value basis is less than 10 percent, the debt
instrument is not considered to be substantially different, the Company accounts for this debt instrument as debt modification. If the exchange of debt is accounted for as a debt
maodification, the change of the carrying amount of the original debt on the balance sheet is adjusted to the net present value of the revised cash flows with the adjustments treated
as a capital cost and amortized as an adjustment of interest expense on our statement of operations.
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Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Company recognizes revenue when it transfers control of the product to a customer. This generally occurs at the time the customer obtains legal title to the product and when it
is physically transferred to the delivery point agreed with the customer.
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Revenue is recognized based on the consideration specified in contracts with customers. Revenue represents the Company's share and is recorded net of royalty payments to
governments and other mineral interest owners.

The Company evaluates its arrangements with third parties and partners to determine if the Company acts as a principal or an agent. In making this evaluation, management
considers if the Company obtains control of the product delivered, which is indicated by the Company having the primary responsibility for the delivery of the product, having the
ability to establish prices, or having inventory risk. If the Company acts in the capacity of an agent rather than as a principal in the transaction, then the revenue is recognized on a
net basis, only reflecting the fee realized by the Company from the transaction.

Tariffs, tolls, and fees charged to other entities for the use of pipelines owned by the Company are evaluated by management to determine if these originate from contracts with
customers or from incidental arrangements. When determining if the Company acted as a principal or an agent in transactions, management determines if the Company obtains
control of the product. As part of this assessment, management considers the criteria for revenue recognition set out in Accounting Standard Codification 606.

Stock-based Compensation

The Company records stock-based compensation expense in its consolidated financial statements measured at fair value of the awards that are ultimately expected to vest. Fair
values are determined using pricing models such as the Black-Scholes-Merton or Monte Carlo simulation stock option-pricing models and/or observable share prices. For equity-
settled stock-based compensation awards, fair values are determined at the grant date, and the expense, net of estimated forfeitures, is recognized using the accelerated method
over the requisite service period. An adjustment is made to compensation expense for any difference between the estimated forfeitures and the actual forfeitures. For cash-settled
stock-based compensation awards (performance share units, restricted share units and stock options), the expense is recognized over the three-year vesting period based on the
latest available estimate of the fair value of the awards at each reporting date, and periodic changes are recognized as compensation costs, with a corresponding change to
liabilities.

The Company uses historical data to estimate the expected term used in the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model, option exercises, and employee departure behavior.
Expected volatilities used in the fair value estimate are based on the historical volatility of the Company’s shares. The risk-free rate for periods within the expected term of the stock
options is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant.

Stock-based compensation expense is capitalized as part of oil and natural gas properties or expensed as part of G&A or operating expenses, as appropriate.
Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of the Company, including its subsidiaries, (other than its Canadian subsidiary) is the U.S. dollar. The functional currency of the Canadian subsidiary is the
Canadian dollar. Monetary items assets and liabilities are translated into the reporting functional currency at the exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date, and non-monetary
items are translated at historical exchange rates. Revenue and expense items are translated in a manner that produces substantially the same reporting currency amounts that
would have resulted had the underlying transactions been translated on the dates they occurred.

DD&A expense on assets is translated at the historical exchange rates similar to the assets to which they relate. Gains and losses resulting from foreign currency transactions,
which are transactions denominated in a currency other than the entity’s functional currency, are recognized in net income or loss.

The Company's reporting currency is the U.S. dollar. The assets and liabilities of the Canadian subsidiary are translated to the Company’s reporting currency using the exchange
rates at the end of the reporting period. Revenue and expense items are translated at the weighted average exchange rates for the reporting period and shareholders’ equity is
translated at historical exchange rates. Foreign exchange gains and loss resulting from translation to reporting currency are recognized in other comprehensive income or loss.

Net Income or Loss per Share

Basic net income or loss per share is calculated by dividing net income or loss attributable to common shareholders by the weighted average number of shares of Common Stock
issued and outstanding during each period. Diluted net income or loss per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of shares of Common Stock outstanding
for the dilutive effect, if any, of share equivalents. The Company uses the treasury stock method to determine the dilutive effect. This method assumes that all Common Stock
equivalents have been exercised at the beginning of the period (or at the time of issuance, if
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later), and that the funds obtained thereby were used to purchase shares of Common Stock of the Company at the volume weighted average trading price of shares of Common
Stock during the period.

Segment Reporting

The Company’s operations are organized based on the geographical location of each operation. Chief Operational Decision Makers (“CODM”) allocate the Company’s resources
and evaluate operation results and profitability using geographical location of each operation. Based on the review of CODM, the Company identified three reportable segments:
Colombia, Ecuador and Canada (Note 4.).

Business Combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. Assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are recognized at their fair values. Any
excess of the consideration paid over the fair value of the net assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recognized as a goodwill and any excess of the fair value of the net assets
acquired and liabilities assumed over the consideration paid is recognized as bargain purchase gain in the consolidated statements of operations.

Risks and Measurement Uncertainty

The impacts of ongoing conflicts in several parts of the world coupled with volatility in energy markets, increased interest and inflation rates and constrained supply chains have
created a higher level of volatility and uncertainty. Management has, to the reasonable extent, incorporated known facts and circumstances into the estimates made; however, the
increased levels of uncertainly uncertainty and volatility make accounting estimates more judgmental, and the actual results could differ materially from estimates.

Recently Issued Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued Accounting Standard Update (“ASU") 2023-06, “Disclosure Improvements.” This ASU includes an
update to the disclosures and presentation requirements of a variety of topics. Affected topics include: an update to the statement of cash flows, commitments, earnings per share,
derivatives and hedging, extractive activities and credit risk disclosures, among other things. This ASU should be applied prospectively and the effective date will be the date on
which the SEC'’s removal of the related disclosures from Regulation S-X

becomes effective, with early adoption prohibited. The Company does not expect that adoption of this ASU would have a material impact on the Company’s presentation and
disclosures of consolidated financial statements as its currently subject to presentation and disclosures of relevant S-X Regulations.

In November 2023, FASB issued ASU 2023-07, “Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures” for interim and annual financial reporting for all public entities, including those
that have a single reportable segment. ASU 2023-07 requires to disclose by each reportable segment the significant segment expenses that are regularly provided to chief operating
decision maker, amount and composition of other segment items, measure of segment’s profit or loss in assessing segment performance and how resources are allocated if used by
chief operating decision maker and title and position of the chief operating decision maker. If a public entity discloses a single reportable segment, it should identify the measure or
measures of a segment’s profit or loss that chief operating decision maker uses in assessing segment performance and deciding how to allocate the resources. The public entity is
required to recast the prior-period segment expense information to conform to current-period presentation unless it is impracticable to do so. This ASU is effective for fiscal periods
beginning after December 15, 2023 and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024 and should be applied retrospectively to all periods presented in the
financial statements, with early adoption permitted. The Company adopted ASU 2023-07 effective January 1, 2024. The implementation of this update impacted the segmented
disclosure of the Company but did not impact the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2023, FASB issued ASU 2023-09, “Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures.” Disclosures”. ASU 2023-09 enhances the income tax disclosures to enable investors to
better understand entity’s exposure to potential changes in jurisdictional tax legislation and associated risks and opportunities, income tax information that effects cash flow
forecasts and potential opportunities to increase future cash flows. This ASU is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2024 and should be applied
prospectively, with retrospective application permitted. At December 31, 2023, the The Company performed assessment of its income tax disclosures and does not believe that
adoption of adopted ASU 2023-09 would effective January 1, 2025. The implementation of this update did not have a material impact on disclosures of income taxes.

In November 2024 and January 2025 FASB issued ASU 2024-03 and ASU 2025-01, “Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income - Expense Disaggregation
Disclosures”. The amendments in ASU 2024-03 require disclosure, in the notes to financial statements, of specified information about certain costs and expenses, such as
purchases of inventory, employee compensation, depreciation, intangible asset amortization, depreciation, depletion, and amortization recognized as part of oil-and natural gas-
producing activities included in each relevant expense caption on the face of statement of operations. In addition, this ASU requires the presentation of specific expense captions of
comprehensive income on the face of the statements of comprehensive income. ASU 2025-01 clarifies the effective date of ASU 2024-03 to be effective for annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim reporting periods within annual within annual periods
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beginning after December 15, 2027. The Company is currently assessing the impact of this update will have on its financial statements disclosures.

3. Accounts Receivable Business Combination

As at December 31,
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(Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2023 2022

Trade $ 5812 $ 5,601
Other 6,547 5,105
Total Accounts Receivable $ 12,359 $ 10,706

On October 31, 2024, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding common shares of i3 Energy Plc (“i3 Energy”), subsequently renamed as Gran Tierra UK Limited
(“Gran Tierra UK”) for $204.5 million, consisting of cash consideration of $161.8 million, cash dividend of $4.0 million, cash settlement of stock options of $2.0 million and 5,808,925
shares of the Company’s Common Stock, the fair value of which was determined to be $36.7 million based on the closing price of the Company’s shares on the acquisition date. i3
Energy was an oil and natural gas exploration and production company, incorporated in England and Wales with production assets located in the Western Canadian Sedimentary
basin. This acquisition will allow the Company to diversify into the assets beyond South America. The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination using the acquisition
method with Gran Tierra being the acquirer, whereby the assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recognized at their fair values as at the i3 Energy acquisition date, and the
results of i3 Energy were included with those of Gran Tierra from that date. Fair value estimates were made based on significant unobservable (Level 3) inputs and based on the
best information available at the time.

Determining the fair values of the assets and liabilities of i3 Energy and the consideration paid required significant judgment and certain assumptions to be made. The most
significant fair value estimates related to the valuation of i3 Energy's proved and unproved oil and natural gas properties. The fair value of proved oil and natural gas properties
acquired is based on cash flows associated with estimated acquired proved oil and natural gas reserves and the discount rate. Factors that impact these reserves cash flows include
forecasted production, forecasted commodity prices, and forecasted operating, royalty and capital costs The following table shows the allocation of the consideration paid based on
the fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired.

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars)

Consideration Paid:

Cash $ 167,822
Issuance of Common Shares, net of issuance costs 36,654
$ 204,476

Allocation of Total Considerationq):
Oil and natural gas properties

Proved $ 256,040
Unproved 34,188

Net working capital (including cash acquired of $5.2 million, accounts receivable of $24.2 million, accounts payable and accrued liabilities of
$54.9 million and current portion of asset retirement obligation of $5.2 million an others) (18,947)
Other long-term assets 415
Long-term deferred tax asset 8,095
Long-term deferred tax liability (47,939)
Long-term portion of asset retirement obligation (27,006)
Other long-term liabilities (370)
$ 204,476

@ Due to the timing of acquisition, management is continuing to review and assess information to accurately determine the acquisition date fair value of the proved oil and natural gas properties and
deferred tax assets and liabilities acquired. During the measurement period, Gran Tierra will continue to obtain information to assist in finalizing the fair value of net assets acquired, which may differ
materially from the above preliminary estimates.

The Company’s consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2024, included revenue of $19.0 million and net loss of $5.1 million from Gran Tierra UK
(former i3 Energy).

Pro Forma Results (unaudited)

Pro forma for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 are shown below, as if the i3 Energy acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2024 and 2023. Pro forma results are not
indicative of actual results or future performance:
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Years Ended December 31,
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(Unaudited, thousands of U.S. Dollars)
Oil, natural gas and NGL sales

Net income

2024

2023

728,452 $ 811,001

3,220 $ 9,836

The pro forma net income for the year-ended December 31, 2024, includes acquisition related transaction costs of $5.9 million incurred by the Company.

4. Segment Reporting

The Company is primarily engaged in the exploration and production of oil, natural gas and NGL. The Company reports segmented information based on internal management
reporting used by CODM, which are the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Executive Vice Presidents and Vice Presidents across
various business functions. CODM allocates resources and assesses performance of each reportable segment based on segmented earnings. The Company determined three
reportable segments based on the geographic organization: Colombia, Ecuador and Canada. The "Other" category represents the Company’s corporate activities.

The following tables present information on the Company’s reportable segments and other activities for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022:

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars)
Oil, natural gas and NGL sales
Operating expenses
Transportation expenses

Segmented earnings

DD&A expenses

General and administrative expenses
Severance

Transaction costs

Foreign exchange gain

Derivative instruments loss

Interest expense

Non-segmented expenses

Other gain
Interest income
Income before income taxes

Income tax expense

Net income

Segment capital expenditures

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars)
Oil, natural gas and NGL sales
Operating expenses
Transportation expenses

Segmented earnings

DD&A expenses

General and administrative expenses

Year Ended December 31, 2024

Colombia

Ecuador Canada

Other Total

575,482
179,257
16,297

27,412 $ 18,955 $
13,425 9,649
1,495 672

— 3 621,849
— 202,331
— 18,464

379,928

12,492 $ 8,634 $

— 8 401,054

141,597

79,388 12,506

Year Ended December 31, 2023

230,619
49,619
1,519
5,907
(8,808)
2,271
80,466
361,593

1,478

3,666

44,605

41,389

$ 3,216

745 $ 234,236

7

Colombia

Ecuador Canada

Other Total

621,297
179,103
13,829

15,660 $ — $
7,761 —
717 —

— $ 636,957
— 186,864
— 14,546

428,365

7182 $ — $

— 3 435,547
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Foreign exchange loss
Other financial instruments loss
Interest expense

Non-segmented expenses

Other loss

Interest income

Income before income taxes
Income tax expense

Net loss

Segment capital expenditures

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars)
Oil, natural gas and NGL sales
Operating expenses
Transportation expenses

Segmented earnings

DD&A expenses

General and administrative expenses
Foreign exchange loss

Derivatives instruments loss

Other financial instruments gain
Interest expense

Non-segmented expenses

Other gain

Interest income

Income before income taxes
Income tax expense

Net income

Segment capital expenditures

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars)
Property, plant and equipment

All other assets

Total Assets

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars)
Property, plant and equipment

All other assets

201,282

25,277 = 25 $

Year Ended December 31, 2022

11,822
15
55,806
329,073

(2,297)
1,983
106,160
112,447
(6,287)

226,584

Colombia

Ecuador Canada Other

Total

711,388 $
162,385
10,197

711,388
162,385
10,197

538,806 $

538,806

179,051

30,981 — 299 $

As at December 31, 2024

180,280
40,957
2,578
26,611

@)
46,493
296,912

2,598

443
244,935
105,906
139,029

210,331

78

Colombia

Ecuador Canada Other

Total

1,022,808 $
99,100

143,034 $ 247512 $ 9,777 $
27,942 62,541 42,073 $

1,423,131
231,656

1,121,908 $

170,976 $ 310,053 $ 51,850 $

1,654,787

As at December 31, 2023

Colombia

Ecuador Canada Other

Total

1,080,231 $
142,066

55,902 $ — $ 6,717 $
10,147 — 31,226

1,142,850
183,439
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Total Assets

5. Taxes Receivable

66,049 $

$ 37,943 $ 1,326,289

The table below shows the break-down of taxes receivable, which are comprised of value added tax (“VAT”) and income tax receivables and payables:

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars)
Taxes Receivable
Current

VAT Receivable

Income Tax Receivable

Long-Term

Income Tax Receivable

Taxes Payable
Current
VAT Payable

Taxes Payable

Total Taxes Receivable

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023
$ 657 $ 105
17,438 333
$ 18,095 $ 438
$ 1,629 $ 52,089
$ (7,640) $ (11,438)
(6,330) (15,781)
$ (13,970) $ (27,219)
$ 5754 $ 25,308

The following table shows the movement of VAT and income tax receivables and payables for the past two years:

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars)

Balance, as at December 31, 2022
Collected through direct government refunds
Collected through sales contracts
Taxes paid
Withholding taxes paid
Current tax expense
Foreign exchange loss (gain)

Balance, as at December 31, 2023
Collected through direct government refunds
Collected through sales contracts

Taxes acquired as part of business combination

Taxes paid

Withholding taxes paid
Current tax expense

Foreign exchange loss (gain)

Balance, as at December 31, 2024

@) VAT is paid on certain goods and services and collected on sales in Colombia at a rate of 19%

6. Accounts Receivable

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars)

VAT Payable (1)

Income Tax Receivable Total Taxes Receivable

(11,730) $ (19,398) $ (31,128)
(517) — (517)
(124,706) = (124,706)
126,264 49,323 175,587
— 52,397 52,397

= (55,689) (55,689)
(644) 10,008 9,364
(11,333) $ 36,641 $ 25,308
(545) (17,326) (17,871)
(105,730) — (105,730)
87 3,240 3,327

79

110,562 26,776 137,338
— 35,421 35,421

— (69,277) (69,277)

(24) (2,738) (2,762)
(6,983) $ 12,737 $ 5,754

As at December 31,

2024 2023
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Trade $ 14,059 $ 5,812
Other 21,421 6,547

Total Accounts Receivable $ 35,480 $ 12,359

7. Property, Plant and Equipment
As at December 31,

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars) (Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2023 2022 (Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2024 2023
Oil and natural gas properties Oil and natural gas properties ——Oil and natural gas properties
Proved
Unproved
Other @)
5,003,806
5,515,400

Accumulated depletion, depreciation and impairment

$

@The “other” “Other” category includes $53.3 million $70.1 million right-of-use assets for finance leases and operating leases, which had a net book value of $32.4 million $35.1 million as at December
31, 2023 December 31, 2024 (December 31, 2022 2023 - $38.9 million $53.3 million, which had a net book value of $24.6 million $32.4 million).

On April 11, 2023 During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company entered into six new finance lease contracts related to power generating and safety equipment and
seven new operating lease contracts related to office leases in Canada and Ecuador, motor vehicles and field equipment and capitalized $8.1 million and $4.9 million (including
three leases of $0.4 million recorded as part of business combination, Note 3), respectively, right-of-use assets related to those contracts.

Depletion and depreciation expense on property, plant and equipment for the year ended December 31, 2024, was $223.1 million (2023 - $209.7 million; 2022 - $175.8 million). A
portion of depletion and depreciation expense was recorded as oil inventory in each year.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company and Ecopetrol S.A. renegotiated the terms of the contract for Company’s operatorship of the Suroriente Block, which was
previously scheduled to end in mid-2024 and executed the Suroriente Continuation Agreement. The duration of the contract was extended for 20 years from September 1, 2023 (the
“Effective Date”), the date on which the Company satisfied the relevant conditions precedent and regulatory approval was received. The Company continues to be the operator of
the Suroriente Block. In connection with the contract extension, the Company paid cash consideration of $6.2 million and provided letters of credit with the value of $123.0
million $122.0 million as at December 31, 2024 (Note 12) 15) related to committed capital investments to be made over a three-year period from the Effective Date.

2024 Dispositions

During the year ended December 31, 2023 On December 17, 2024, the Company entered into new lease contracts agreement for the strategic disposal of 50% working interest
(“WI") in the Simonette Montney Block with an effective date of September 1, 2024 for cash consideration of C$60.2 million (US$43.1 million) which included the purchase price of
C$52.0 million (US$37.2 million) and C$8.2 million (US$5.9 million) economic

80

adjustment related to power generating equipment previously drilled wells. No gain has been recognized in the statement of operations because the disposal did not significantly
alter the relationship between capital costs and capitalized $12.4 million right-of-use proved reserves of oil and natural gas assets related to those contracts. disposed.

Depletion and depreciation expense on property, plant and equipment On December 16, 2024, the Company sold its entire WI of the Westerose Block for cash consideration of
C$1.8 million (US$1.3 million). The effective date of the year ended December 31, 2023, transaction was $209.7 million (2022 - $175.8 million; 2021 - $135.7 million). A portion of
depletion and depreciation expense was recorded as oil inventory in each year. December 1, 2024.

Unproved Oil and Natural Gas Properties

At December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, unproved oil and natural gas properties consist consisted of exploration lands held in Colombia and Ecuador. Ecuador and undeveloped
lands in Canada. Unproved oil and natural gas properties are being held for their exploration value and are not being depleted pending determination of the existence of proved
reserves. Gran Tierra will continue to assess the unproved properties over the next several years as proved reserves are established and as exploration warrants whether or not
future areas will be developed. The Company expects that approximately 100% of costs not subject to depletion at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, will be transferred to the
depletable base within the next five years.

The following is a summary of Gran Tierra’s oil and natural gas properties not subject to depletion as at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024:

Costs Incurred in
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(Thousands of U.S. Dollars) (Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2023 2022 2021 Prior to 2021 Total (Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2024 2023 2022 Prior to 2022 Total
Acquisition costs - Colombia

Exploration costs - Colombia

Exploration costs - Ecuador

Undeveloped lands - Canada

5.8. Asset impairment

For the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2022 2023 and 2021 2022, the Company had no ceiling test impairment losses. In accordance with GAAP, Gran Tierra
used an unweighted arithmetic average of the first-day-of-the-month prices as follows; Brent price Crudeof $82.51 $80.42 per bblboe, Edmonton Light Crude of C$98.01 per boe,
Alberta AECO spot price of C$1.46 per MMBtu Edmonton Propane C$30.46 per boe, Edmonton Butane C$48.39 per boe and Edmonton Condensate C$100.83 per boe for the
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 ceiling test calculations (December 31, 2023, and 2022 Brent Crude - $82.51 and 2021 - $97.98 and $68.92 per bbl, boe, respectively).

The Company has considered the impact of the evolving worldwide demand for energy and global advancement of alternative sources of energy that are not sourced from fossil
fuels in the impairment assessment on oil and natural gas properties. The estimated ceiling amount of the Company’s oil and natural gas properties was based on proved oil and
natural gas reserves, the life of which is generally less than 15 years. The ultimate period in which global energy markets can transition from carbon-based sources to alternative
energy is highly uncertain. However, the majority of the cash flows associated with proved oil and natural gas reserves per the 2023 2024 reserve report is expected to be realized
prior to the potential elimination of carbon-based energy.

At December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, a specific adjustment to the discount rate used in the ceiling test to account for the risk of the evolving demand for energy is not
permitted as under the full cost accounting the 10% discount rate is prescribed.

6.81

9. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
As at December 31,
(Thousands of U.S. Dollars) (Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2023 2022 (Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2024 2023
Trade
Tax collections on behalf of the government
Accrued interest expense
Short-term lease liability
Employee compensation
Unearned insurance premiums
Joint Venture payable
Royalties
Employee compensation
Other

7.10. Debt and Debt Issuance Costs

The Company'’s debt at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, was as follows:

As at December 31,

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars) (Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2023 2022 (Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2024 2023
Current

Credit Facility

Credit Facility

Credit Facility

6.25% Senior Notes
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Unamortized debt issuance costs

Long-term

6.25% Senior Notes

6.25% Senior Notes

6.25% Senior Notes

7.75% Senior Notes

9.50% Senior Notes

Unamortized Senior Notes discount
Unamortized debt issuance costs

Long-term lease obligation ()

Total Debt

() The current portion of the lease obligation has been included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the Company’s balance sheet
and totaled $12.1 million $15.3 million as at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 (December 31, 2022 2023 - $4.8 million $12.1 million).

Senior Notes

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 6.25% Senior Notes  7.75% Senior Notes  9.50% Senior Notes
Senior Notes, December 31, 2022 $ 279,909 $ 300,000 $ —
Purchased in the open market (1) (8,000) — —
Principal exchanged for 9.50% Senior Notes (2) (247,081) (275,799) 522,782
Early participation premiums and discount for principal exchanged () @) — — 24,808
Principal payment (s) — — (60,000)
Senior Notes principal, December 31, 2023 $ 24,828 $ 24,201 $ 487,590

@ During the year ended December 31, 2023 At December 31, 2024, the Company purchased in the open market $8.0 million had $24.8 million of 6.25% Senior Notes for cash consideration of $6.8
million. The purchase resulted in a $1.1 million gain, which included the write-off of deferred financing fees of $0.1 million. The purchase gain was recorded in “other gain” in the Company’s
consolidated statements of operations. The Company cancelled all previously purchased 6.25% due 2025 (the “6.25% Senior Notes as at December 31, 2023.

(2 $247.1 million of 6.25% Senior Notes principal and $275.8 million of 7.75% Senior Notes principal exchanged for a net $487.6 million newly issued 9.50% Senior Notes.

(3 Early participation premium of $80 for each $1,000 aggregate principal amount and $20 for each $1,000 aggregate principal amount for the 6.25% Senior Notes and 7.75% Senior Notes,
respectively. $242.5 million and $274.2 million of 6.25% Senior Notes and 7.75% Senior Notes, respectively, were exchanged for these terms.

(4 $4.6 million of remaining principal exchanged at $1,000 and $1.6 million of remaining principal exchanged at $950 for each $1,000 aggregate principal amount for the 6.25% Senior Notes and 7.75%
Senior Notes, respectively.

(5 The Company paid cash consideration of $60.0 million for 6.25% Senior Notes exchanged as part of total consideration to eligible holders on a pro rata basis, for each $1,000 aggregate principal
amount tendered and accepted for the early exchange deadline.

The Senior Notes tendered and accepted for exchange, as well as the notes previously held as treasury bonds, were cancelled. The exchange of the 6.25% Senior Notes was

accounted for as debt extinguishment.and resulted in a gain of $5.3 million. The exchange of 7.75% Senior Notes was accounted for as debt modification and resulted in a loss of
$6.1 million related to third party fees.

At December 31, 2023 Notes”), the Company had $24.2 million of 7.75% Senior Notes due 2027 $24.8 million (the “7.75% Senior Notes”), and $737.6 million of 6.25% Senior Notes
due 2025 and $487.6 million of newly issued 9.50% Senior Notes due 2029. 2029 (the “9.50% Senior Notes”).

The 6.25% Senior Notes bear interest at a rate of 6.25% per year, payable semi-annually in arrears on February 15 and August 15 of each year, beginning on August 15, 2018. The
6.25% Senior Notes matured and were settled on February 15, 2025.

The 7.75% Senior Notes bear interest at a rate of 7.75% per year, payable semi-annually in arrears on May 23 and November 23 of each year, beginning on November 23, 2019.
The 7.75% Senior Notes will mature on May 23, 2027, unless earlier redeemed or re-purchased.

The Company may redeem all or a portion of the 7.75% Senior Notes plus accrued and unpaid interest applicable to the date of the redemption at the following redemption prices:
2024 - 101.938%; 2025 and thereafter - 100%.

The 6.25%
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On February 6, 2024 and September 18, 2024, the Company issued additional $100.0 million and $150.0 million of 9.50% Senior Notes bear interest at a rate due October 2029 (the
“new 9.50% Senior Notes”), and received cash proceeds of 6.25% per year, payable semi-annually in arrears on February 15$88.0 million and August 15 of each year, beginning on
August 15, 2018. $139.8 million, respectively. The 6.25% new 9.50% Senior Notes will mature on February 15, 2025 have the same terms and provisions as the previously issued
$487.6 million 9.50% Senior Notes except for the issue price. $100.0 million of new 9.50% Senior Notes accrue interest from October 20, 2023, unless earlier redeemed or re-
purchased.

The Company may redeem all or a portionthe date of issuance of the 6.25% previously issued 9.50% Senior Notes plus accrued and unpaid $150.0 million of new 9.50% Senior
Notes accrue interest applicable to from April 15, 2024, the date of the redemption atlast interest payment. The Company received a cash payment of $2.8 million and $6.1 million
related to the following redemption prices: 2024 accrued interest of the $100.0 million and thereafter - 100%. $150.0 million of new 9.50% Senior Notes, respectively.

The 9.50% Senior Notes bear interest at a rate of 9.50% per year, payable semi-annually in arrears on April 15 and October 15 of each year, beginning on April 15, 2024. The
9.50% Senior Notes will mature on October 15, 2029, unless earlier redeemed or re-purchased.

The principal amount of 9.50% Senior Notes is to be repaid as follows: (i) October 15, 2026, 25% of the principal amount; (ii) October 15, 2027, 5% of the principal amount; (iii)
October 15, 2028, 30% of the principal amount; and (iv) October 15, 2029, the remainder of the principal amount.

At any time, prior to October 15, 2026, the Company may redeem 35% of the aggregate principal amount of 9.50% Senior Notes at a redemption price equal to 109.50% of the
principal amount. Additionally, the Company may redeem all or a portion of the 9.50% Senior Notes:

(i) prior to October 15, 2026, at a redemption price equal to a 100% principal amount plus an applicable premium, which is the greater of:
¢ 1% of the principal amount of 9.50% Senior Notes, and
« the excess of the present value of the redemption price plus all required interest payments computed using a discount rate equal to the Treasury rate at the redemption date
plus 0.5% due to date, excluding accrued but unpaid interest, over the outstanding principal amount of 9.50% Senior Notes

(i) On or after October 15, 2026, at the following redemption prices: 2026 -104.750%; 2027 -102.375%; 2028 and thereafter - 100%.

If the Company undergoes a change of control, holders may require the Company to repurchase for cash all or any portion of their 9.50% Senior Notes at a change of control
repurchase price equal to 101% of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the change of control repurchase date.

On February 6, 2024, Under the Company issued additional $100.0 millionterms of 9.50% Senior Notes and received net cash proceeds of $88.0 million as a result of this issuance.
The newly issued 9.50% Senior Notes have the same terms and provisions, except for the issue price, as $487.6 million 9.50% Senior Notes outstanding at December 31, 2023 and
will be combined together with originally issued 9.50% Senior Notes in respect of interest payments.

Credit Facility

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company, as guarantor, and Gran Tierra Energy Colombia GmbH and Gran Tierra Operations Colombia GmbH, as borrowers,
amended and restated their credit facility with a market leader in the global commodities industry. As part of the restatement, the initial commitment was adjusted from $100 million
to $50 million (maintaining the potential option of up to an additional $50 million, subject to approval by the lender). Additionally, the availability period for the draws under the
amendment to the credit facility was extended until December 31, 2023, following which the credit facility is no longer advanceable. The credit facility continues to bear interest
based on the secured overnight financing rate posted by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, plus a credit margin of 6.00% and a credit-adjusted spread of 0.26%. Undrawn
amounts under the credit facility bear interest at 2.10% per annum, based on the amount available. The credit facility is secured by the Company’s Colombian assets and economic
rights and has a final maturity date of August 15, 2024. As of December 31, 2023, the credit facility was drawn by $36.4 million. For the year ended December 31, 2023, the
Company incurred weighted-average interest rate on the credit facility of 11.59%.

Under the terms of the credit facility, agreement, the Company is required to maintain compliance with the following financial covenants:

i. Global Coverage Ratio consolidated interest coverage ratio of at least 150%, calculated using the net present value of the consolidated future cash flows of the Company up
to the final maturity date discounted at 10% over the outstanding amount on the credit facility at each reporting period. The net present value of the consolidated future cash
flows of the Company is required to be based on 80% of the prevailing ICE Brent forward strip. not less than 2.5; and

ii. Prepayment Life Coverage Ratio consolidated net debt (total debt excluding deferred financing fees debt less cash equivalents) to consolidated adjusted earnings before
interest, taxes and DD&A (“EBITDA") of at least 150%, calculated using the estimated aggregate value of commaodities to be delivered under the commercial contract from
the commencement date to the final maturity date based on 80% of the prevailing ICE Brent forward strip and adjusted for quality and transportation discounts over the
outstanding amount on the credit facility including interest and all other costs payable to the lender.

i. Liquidity ratio where the Company’s projected sources of cash exceed projected uses of cash by at least 1.15 times in each quarter period included in one year consolidated
future cash flows. The future cash flows represent forecasted expected cash flows from operations, less anticipated capital expenditures, and certain other adjustments. The
commodity pricing assumption used in this covenant is required to be 90% of the prevailing Brent forward strip for the projected future cash flows. not more than 3.0.

As of December 31, 2023 at December 31, 2024, the Company was in compliance with all the above applicable covenants.

Credit Facility

As at December 31, 2023, the Company had a $36.4 million balance outstanding under the Company’s credit facility. On February 6, 2024, the outstanding balance under the credit
facility was fully re-paid and the credit facility was terminated.
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On August 19, 2024, the Company entered into a credit facility agreement (“Loan Facility”) with a market leader in the global commodities industry to fund the cash consideration
payable to i3 Energy’s shareholders in connection with the i3 Energy acquisition and associated costs (Note 3). The Loan Facility has a borrowing base of £80.0 million (US$107.0
million) and bears interest based on a three-month secured overnight financing rate posted by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York plus a margin of 3.00% per annum for the first
three months after the initial drawdown and 6.00% per annum thereafter. The Loan Facility is subject to a commitment fee equal to the higher of $0.5 million and 0.50% of the
borrowing base converted to U.S. dollars using the agreed upon GBP to USD foreign exchange rate at the time of initial drawdown date. The Company paid $0.6 million of
commitment fees and the Loan Facility was terminated on October 31, 2024.

In connection with the i3 Energy acquisition closing on October 31, 2024, the Company amended and restated the existing revolving credit facility agreement of i3 Energy Canada
Ltd. (“i3 Energy Canada”) with National Bank of Canada dated March 22, 2024. As a result of the amendment and restatement, among other things, the borrowing base was revised
to C$100.0 million (US$69.5 million) with available commitment of a C$50.0 million (US$34.7 million) revolving credit facility
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comprised of C$35.0 million (US$24.32 million) syndicated facility and C$15.0 million (US$10.4 million) of operating facility. Subject to the next borrowing base redetermination
which will occur on or before June 30, 2025, the revolving credit facility is available until October 31, 2025 with a repayment date of October 31, 2026, which may be extended by
further periods of up to 364 days, subject to lender approval. The drawn down amounts under the revolving credit facility can either be in Canadian or U.S. dollars and bear interest
rates equal to either the Canadian prime rate or U.S. Base Rate plus a margin ranging from 2.00% to 4.00% per annum or for CORRA loans and SOFR loans plus a margin ranging
from 3.00% to 5.00% per annum. Undrawn amounts under the revolving credit facility bear standby fee ranging from 0.75% to 1.25% per annum. In each case, the margin or
standby fee, as applicable is based on Net Debt to EBITDA ratio of Gran Tierra Canada Ltd. As of December 31, 2024, the credit facility remained undrawn.

Leases

During the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, the Company recorded seven new operating leases related to office leases in Canada and Ecuador, motor vehicles
and field equipment totaling $4.9 million (including three leases of $0.4 million recorded as part of business combination, Note 3) and six new finance leases for power
generating generation and safety equipment totaling $12.4 million which had the useful life $8.1 million. Operating leases have a lease term ranging from one to three five years and
weighted average discount rate of 7.31% 6.69%. Finance leases have a lease term ranging from one to two years and weighted average discount rate of 9.60%.

As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, the Company's finance leases had remaining useful lives ranging from one to fourthree years and the weighted average discount
rate of 8.45% 9.27% and operating leases had remaining useful lives ranging from one to five years and the weighted average discount rate of 8.01% 7.54%.

Interest Expense

The following table presents the total interest expense recognized in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations:
Year Ended December 31,

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars) (Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2023 2022 2021 (Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2024 2023 2022
Contractual interest and other financing expenses

Amortization of debt issuance costs

The Company incurred debt issuance costs in connection with the issuance of the 9.50% Senior Notes and its credit facility. As at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, the
balance of unamortized debt issuance costs has been presented as a direct deduction against the carrying amount of debt and is being amortized to interest expense using the
effective interest method over the term of the debt.

8.11. Share Capital
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Shares of Common Stock

Shares issued and outstanding, December 31, 2020 36,698,156
Options exercised 16,294
Shares issued and outstanding, December 31, 2021 36,714,450
Options exercised 175,412
Shares issued, December 31, 2022 36,889,862
Shares re-purchased and canceled @) (2,274,746)
Shares issued and outstanding, December 31, 2022 34,615,116
Options exercised 1,839
Shares re-purchased and canceled (2,341,842)
Shares issued, December 31, 2023 32,275,113
Treasury stock () (28,612)
Shares issued and outstanding, at December 31, 2023 32,246,501
Options exercised 66,825
Shares re-purchased and canceled (1,662,110)
Shares issued upon acquisition 5,808,925
Shares issued, December 31, 2024 36,460,141
Treasury stock (487,948)
Shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2024 35,972,193

@w 2,274,746 re-purchased 28,612 treasury stock shares held in 2022 2023 were canceled during the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024.
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The Company’s authorized share capital consists of 82 million shares of capital stock, of which 57 million was designated as Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share and 25
million as Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share.

On May 5, 2023, the Company completed a 1-for-10 reverse stock split of the Company’s Common Stock. As a result of the reverse stock split, every ten of the Company’s issued
shares of Common Stock were automatically combined into one issued share of Common Stock, without any change to the par value per share. All share and per share numbers
have been adjusted to reflect the reverse stock split. The Company’s outstanding options were also proportionately adjusted as a result of the reverse stock split to increase the
exercise price and reduce the number of shares issuable upon exercise.

Share Re-purchase Program

During the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, the Company implemented a share re-purchase program (the “2023“2024 Program”) through the facilities of the
Toronto Stock Exchange, the NYSE American or alternative trading programs in Canada or the United States, if eligible. Under the 20232024 Program, the Company is able to
purchase up to 3,234,914 3,545,872 shares of Common Stock, representing 10% of the public float as of October 20, 2023 October 31, 2024, at prevailing market prices at the time
of purchase. The 20232024 Program will continue for one year and expire on November 2, 2024 November 5, 2025, or earlier if the 10% maximum is reached.

During the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, the Company re-purchased 1,041,804487,948 shares of Common Stock at a weighted average price of
approximately $6.21$6.49 per share under the 20232024 Program and 1,328,6501,662,110 shares at a weighted average price of $8.15$7.31 per share under the 20222023
Program implemented in 2022 2023 with similar terms to that of the 2024 Program. The 2023 Program. The 2022 Program expired in May 2023 when 10% share maximum was
reached. The weighted average price per share under the 2022 Program was $10.59 per share.on November 2, 2024. As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, all 3,603,396
shares re-purchased under the 20222024 Program were held as treasury shares and 1,013,192 all shares re-purchased under the 2023 Program were cancelled subsequent to re-
purchase.

Equity Compensation Awards

The Company has an equity compensation program for its executives, employees, and directors. Executives and employees are given equity compensation grants that vest based
on a recipient's continued employment. In the case of Performance Share Units (“PSUs"), the number of units that vest is dependent upon the achievement of specific key
performance measures. Equity based awards consist of 80% of PSUs and 20% of stock options. RSUs. The Company’s stock-based compensation awards outstanding as at
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, include PSUs, deferred share units (“DSUs"), issued to directors, restricted share units (‘RSUs”) and stock options.

In accordance with the 2007 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, the Company’s Board of Directors is authorized to issue options or other rights to acquire shares of the Company’s
Common Stock. On June 27, 2012, the shareholders of Gran Tierra approved an amendment to the Company’s 2007 Equity Incentive Plan, which increased the Common Stock
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available for issuance thereunder from 2,330,610 shares to 3,980,610 shares. On June 2, 2021, the shareholders of Gran Tierra approved an amendment to the Company’s 2007
Equity Incentive Plan, which increased the Common Stock available for issuance thereunder from 3,980,610 shares to 5,480,610 shares. On May 4, 2022, the shareholders of Gran
Tierra approved an amendment to the Company’s 2007 Equity Incentive Plan, which increased the Common Stock available for issuance thereunder from 5,480,610 shares to
5,980,610 shares.
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The following table provides information about PSU, DSU, RSU and stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024:
Stock

PSUs PSUs DSUs Stock Options PSUs DSUs RSUs Options

Weighted Number of Weighted

Number of Number of Number of Average Number of Outstanding Average

Outstanding Outstanding Outstanding = Exercise Price Outstanding Stock Exercise

Share Units Share Units Stock Options (%) Share Units Options  Price ($)

Balance, December 31, 2022
Balance, December 31, 2023
Granted

Exercised

Forfeited

Expired

Balance, December 31, 2023
Vested and exercisable, at
December 31, 2023

Vested, or expected to vest, at
December 31, 2023 through the life
of the options

Balance, December 31, 2024
Vested and exercisable, at
December 31, 2024

Vested, or expected to vest, at
December 31, 2024 through the life
of the options

On May 1, 2024, the Company amended the settlement terms of all outstanding stock option awards. As of this date, all outstanding stock options are to be net settled in cash
resulting in a change in classification of stock options from equity to liability. On May 1, 2024, the Company recorded a liability of $4.4 million and an additional stock-based
compensation costs of $0.4 million related to the modification of the stock option plan. As at December 31, 2024, the equity compensation award liability on the Company’s balance
sheet included $2.2 million of current liability and $0.2 million of long-term liability related to the Company’s outstanding stock options.

The fair value of each stock option award was estimated on the modification date using the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model based on the assumptions noted in the
following table:

Fair value of option modification $0.00 - $6.11
Dividend yield (per share) Nil
Expected volatility 43% to 87%
Risk-free interest rate 4.6% to 5.1%
Expected term 0.1-4.9 years
Expected forfeiture rate 0% to 5%

For the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, Stock-based stock-based compensation expense was $5.7 million $9.7 million (2022 (2023 - $9.0 million $5.7 million;
2021 2022 - $8.4 million $9.0 million) and was recorded in G&A expenses.

At December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, there was $8.6 million $21.9 million (December 31, 20222023 - $10.5 million $8.6 million) of unrecognized compensation cost related to
unvested PSUs, RSUs and stock options to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.7 years. The weighted average remaining contractual term of options vested, or
expected to vest, at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, is 2.3 1.6 years.
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PSUs

PSUs entitle the holder to receive, at the option of the Company, either the underlying number of shares of the Company’'s Common Stock upon vesting of such units or a cash
payment equal to the value of the underlying shares. PSUs will cliff vest after three years, subject to the grantee’s continued employment. Upon vesting, the underlying number of
Common Shares or the cash payment equivalent to their value may range from nil to 200% of the number of PSU’s vested, based on the Company’s performance with respect to
the applicable performance targets. As at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 1.8 million 1.1 million (December
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31, 20222023 - 1.2 million 1.8 million) of PSUs had vested and will settle in cash. The performance targets for the PSUs outstanding as at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024,
were as follows:

i. 50% of the award is subject to targets relating to the total shareholder return (“TSR”) of the Company against a group of peer companies;

ii. 20212022 and 2022 2023 awards: 25% of the award is subject to targets relating to net asset value (“NAV”) of the Company per share, and NAV is based on before tax net
present value discounted at 10% of proved plus probable reserves;
2023
2024 awards: 25% of the award is subject to compliance with financial covenants and $20 million free cash flow @);flow;
and

iii. 25% of the award is subject to targets relating to the execution of corporate strategy.
@ Defined as funds flow from operations less capital expenditures before exploration expense and short-term incentive plan.
The compensation cost of PSUs is subject to adjustment based upon the attainability of these performance targets. No settlement will occur with respect to the portion of the PSU
award subject to each performance target for results below the applicable minimum threshold for that target. In excess of the target number granted, PSUs will vest and be settled if
performance exceeds the targeted performance goals. The Company currently intends to settle the PSUs in cash.
DSUs
DSUs entitle the holder to receive either the underlying number of shares of the Company’s Common Stock upon vesting of such units or, at the option of the Company, a cash
payment equal to the value of the underlying shares. Once a DSU is vested, it is immediately settled. During the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, DSUs were
granted to directors and will be settled at such time the grantee ceases to be a member of the Board of Directors. The Company currently intends to settle the DSUs in cash.

RSUs

RSUs entitle the holder to receive either the underlying number of shares of the Company’s Common Stock upon vesting of such units or, at the option of the Company, a cash
payment equal to the value of the underlying shares. Under the 2007 Equity Incentive Plan, RSUs will vest one-third each year over a three-year period.

Stock Options

Each stock option permits the holder to purchase one share of Common Stock at the stated exercise price. The exercise price equals the market price of a share of Common Stock
at the time of grant and vest over three years. The term of the stock options granted is five years or three months after the grantee’s end of service to the Company, whichever
occurs first.

For the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 1,839 66,825 stock options were exercised, and $8.0$373 thousand cash proceeds were received (2023 - 1,839 stock
options were exercised, and $8.0 thousand cash proceeds were received and 2022 - 175,412 stock options were exercised, and $1.3 million cash proceeds were received and 2021
- 16,294 stock options were exercised, and $0.1 million cash proceeds were received).

At December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022,2023, the weighted average remaining contractual term for outstanding stock options was 2.31.6 and 2.52.3 years,
respectively, and for exercisable stock options was 1.51.2 and 1.91.5 years, respectively.

The fair value of each stock option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes Merton option-pricing model based on assumptions noted in the following table:
Year Ended December

31, Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021 2024 2023 2022
Dividend yield (per Dividend yield (per _Dividend yield (per N
share) share) Nil Nil share) Nil Nil
Volatility Volatility 82% to 90% 77% to 81% 71% to 80% Volatility 69% to 83% 82% to 90% 77% to 81%
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Weighted average Weighted average Weighted average

volatility volatility 8 % 7 % 78 % volatility 74 % 88 % 77 %

3.6% to 1.4% to 3.5% to 3.6% to 1.4% to
Risk-free interest rate Risk-free interest rate 4.7% 4.0% 0.4% to 0.9% Risk-free interest rate 4.0% 4.7% 4.0%
Expected term Expected term 4 -5 years 5 years 4 - 5 years Expected term 4-5years 4-5years 5 years

The weighted average grant date fair value for options granted in the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 was $5.57 4.29 (2022 (2023 - $8.83; 2021 $5.57; 2022 -
$4.67) $8.83) per option. The weighted average grant date fair value for options vested in the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024
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was $4.77 2.02 (2023 - $4.77; 2022 - $5.81; 2021 - $5.19) $5.81) per option. The total fair value of stock options vested during the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31,
2024 was $2.30.8 million (2022 (2023 - $2.2 million $2.3 million; 2021 2022 - $2.1 million $2.2 million).

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding

Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021 2024 2023 2022
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding
Shares issuable pursuant to stock options
Shares assumed to be purchased from proceeds of stock options

Weighted average number of diluted common shares outstanding

For the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, all options were excluded from the diluted earnings (loss) earnings per share calculation as the options were anti-
dilutive (2023 - 1,825,299; 2022 - 590,025; 2021 - 1,555,982) 590,025)

9.12. Asset Retirement Obligation

Changes in the carrying amounts of the asset retirement obligation associated with the Company’s oil and natural gas properties were as follows:
Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars) (Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2023 2022 (Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2024 2023
Balance, beginning of year

Liability incurred

Settlements

Accretion

Currency translation

Liability associated with assets sold
Liability assumed on acquisitions
Revisions in estimated liability
Balance, end of year

Current ()

Current ()

Current 1)

Long-term

Balance, end of year

@ Current portion of asset retirement obligation is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the Company’s balance sheet

Revisions in estimated liabilities relate primarily to changes in estimates of asset retirement costs and include, but are not limited to, revisions of estimated inflation rates, changes in
property lives and the expected timing of settling asset retirement obligations. At December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, the fair value of assets that were legally restricted for
purposes of settling asset retirement obligations was $8.9 million $8.0 million (December 31, 20222023 - $6.5 million $8.9 million). These assets were accounted for as restricted
cash and cash equivalents on the Company’s balance sheet (Note 14) 17).
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13. Revenue

Year Ended December 31, 2024

Crude Oil Natural Gas NGL Total Revenue
Colombia 575,482 = — 575,482
Ecuador 27,412 — — 27,412
Canada 12,583 4,567 1,805 18,955
615,477 $ 4,567 $ 1,805 621,849
Year Ended December 31, 2023
Crude Oil Natural Gas NGL Total Revenue
Colombia 621,297 — — 621,297
Ecuador 15,660 — — 15,660
Canada — — — —
636,957 $ — — 636,957
Year Ended December 31, 2022
Crude Oil Natural Gas NGL Total Revenue
Colombia 711,341 47 — 711,388
Ecuador — — — —
Canada — — — —
711,341 $ 47 = 711,388

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company started sales in Ecuador. All of the Company’s revenue is generated from oil sales at prices that reflect the blended prices
received upon shipment by the purchaser at defined sales points or are defined by contract relative to ICE Brent and adjusted for Vasconia or Castilla (Colombia sales) and Oriente
(Ecuador sales) crude differentials, and quality and transportation discounts each month. For the year ended December 31, 2023, 100% (2022 and 2021 - 100%) of the Company's
revenue resulted from oil sales and quality and transportation discounts were 18% (2022 - 17%; 2021 - 15%) of the ICE Brent price. During the year ended December 31,
2023 December 31, 2024, the Company's production was sold primarily to one major customer, representing 91% of total Company’s sales volumes, of which 87% were sold in
Colombia, 3% in Ecuador and 1% in Canada (2023 - one, representing 97% of total sales volumes in Colombia and 1% in Ecuador (2022 and 2022 - two, representing 78% and
22% of total sales volumes in Colombia and 2021 - three, representing 66%, 19% and 12% of total sales volumes in Colombia).

As at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2022 and 2021, accounts receivable included nil $13.4 million (at December 31, 2023 and 2022 - nil) of accrued sales revenue
related to December production of each respective year.

11.89

14. Taxes

The income tax expense and recovery reported differs from the amount computed by applying the statutory rate to income (loss) before income taxes for the following reasons:

Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,

(Thousands of U.S.

(Thousands of U.S. (Thousands of U.S.

Dollars) Dollars) 2023 2022 2021 Dollars) 2024 2023 2022

Income (loss) before

income taxes

United States

United States

United States $ (40,589) $(38,161) $(31,329) $ (51,317) $  (40,589) $  (38,161)

Foreign Foreign 146,749 283,096 54,465 Foreign 95,922 146,749 283,096
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106,160 244,935 23,136

44,605 106,160 244,935
Statutory rate (1) Statutory rate () 45 % 35% 31% Statutory rate (1) 45 % 45% 35%
Income tax expense Income tax expense Income tax expense
expected expected 47,772 85,727 7,172 expected 20,072 47,772 85,727
Impact of foreign
Impact of foreign taxes  Impact of foreign taxes 21,139 8,876 9,723 taxes 16,001 21,139 8,876
Foreign currency Foreign currency Foreign currency
translation translation 39,995 (4,641) 14,450 translation (7,090) 39,995 (4,641)
Stock-based Stock-based Stock-based
compensation compensation 2,127 5,804 1,708 compensation 1,676 2,127 5,804
Change in valuation Change in valuation Change in
allowance allowance (10,632) 2,386 (53,434) valuation allowance 14,711 (10,632) 2,386
Non-deductible third Non-deductible third Non-deductible
party royalty in party royalty in third party royalty
Colombia Colombia 3,253 3,422 1,568 in Colombia 3,631 3,253 3,422
Other permanent Other permanent Other permanent
differences differences 8,793 4,332 (1,058) differences 2,205 8,793 4,332
Non-deductible investment loss — — 525
Total income tax expense (recovery) $ 112,447 $105,906 $(19,346)
Strategic Tax Optimization (9,817) —
Total income tax expense $ 41,389 $112,447 $105,906

Effective tax rate

Effective tax rate

Effective tax rate 106 % 43% (84)% 93 % 106% 43%
Current income tax expense
Current income tax expense
Current income tax expense
Foreign
Foreign
Foreign 55,688 80,566 4,479 69,277 55,688 80,566

55,688 80,566 4,479

69,277 55,688 80,566

Deferred income tax
expense (recovery)

Foreign
Foreign
Foreign 56,759 25,340 (23,825) (27,888) 56,759 25,340

Total income tax expense (recovery) $ 112,447 $105,906 $(19,346)
Total income tax expense $ 41,389 $112,447 $105,906

(1) The tax rate is the statutory rate in Colombia.

In general, it is the Company’s practice and intention to reinvest the earnings of our non-U.S. subsidiaries in such subsidiaries’ operations. As of December 31, 2023 December 31,
2024, the Company has not made a provision for U.S. or additional foreign withholding taxes on the investments in foreign subsidiaries that are indefinitely reinvested. Generally,
such amounts become subject to taxation upon the remittance of dividends and under certain other circumstances.

In December 2022, On December 31, 2022, the Colombian Government enacted a new tax reform bill which was effective that took effect on January 1, 2023. The reform includes,
introducing significant changes to the income tax regime applicable to for oil companies, including the elimination companies. One of the tax deductibility of royalties paid-in cash,
cost associated to royalties paid-in kind in the calculation of taxable income, andkey changes was the introduction of a surcharge to on the currentexisting 35% tax rate. The This
surcharge is determined calculated by comparing the average inflation-adjusted Brent price during for the taxation year to the monthly inflation-adjusted Brent price for prices over
the prior previous 120 months. When If the Brent price during for the taxation year exceeds the 30th percentile of the this historical price range, a 5% surtax is applied. Itapplies. The
surtax increases to 10% when the price surpasses the 45th percentile and to 15% when the Brent price during the taxation yearit exceeds the 45th 60th percentile. For both 2023
and 60th percentiles, respectively. The 20232024, the calculation of current and deferred income tax has been prepared with based on a 10% surtax, of 10% for an aggregated
income resulting in a total tax rate of 45%. Additionally, during the year ended December 31, 2023, the Constitutional Court declared unconstitutional prohibition for oil and gas and
mining companies to deduct for income tax purposes the non-renewable natural resources royalty payments to the Colombian Government. The Company has considered the
impact of these changes on its income tax provision.
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The table below presents the components of the deferred tax liabilities and assets as at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022: 2023:
As at December 31, As at December 31,

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars) (Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2023 2022 (Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2024 2023
Tax benefit of operating loss carryforwards
Book basis in excess of tax basis
Foreign tax credits
Other accruals
Deferred tax assets before valuation allowance
Valuation allowance

Net deferred tax (liabilities) assets

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities

57,453
64,114

Net deferred tax (liabilities) assets

At December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, the Company has not recognized the benefit of unused non-capital loss carryforwards of $58.8 million (2022 $114.4 million (2023 - $91.3
million $58.8 million, 2021 2022 - $62.1 million $91.3 million) for federal purposes in the United States, which expire from 2031 2037 to 2042, 2044.

At December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, the Company has not recognized the benefit of unused non-capital loss carryforwards of $16.5 million (2022 $3.3 million (2023 - $40.7
million $16.5 million, 20212022 - $102.4 million $40.7 million), out of a total of $20.3 million $101.7 million for federal purposes in Colombia, some Colombia. The Company’s
remaining Colombian tax losses are entitled to a carryforward period of which will expire from 2031 to 2034 and majority be carried forward indefinitely. 12 years.

At December 31, 2024, the Company has not recognized the benefit of unused non-capital loss carryforwards of $14.2 million in UK.

As at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, Gran Tierra had $0.8 million of unrecognized tax benefits and related interest and penalties included in its deferred tax assets and
current tax liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. The Company does not anticipate any material changes with respect to unrecognized tax benefit within the next twelve
months. The Company had no other significant interest or penalties related to taxes included in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31,
2023 December 31, 2024. The Company and its subsidiaries file income tax returns in the U.S. and certain other foreign jurisdictions. The Company is subject to income tax
examinations for the tax years ended 2017 through 2023 in certain jurisdictions.
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15. Commitments and Contingencies
Purchase Obligations, Firm Agreements and Leases

As at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, future minimum payments under non-cancelable agreements with remaining terms in excess of one year were as follows:
Year ending December 31 Year ending December 31

(Thousands of U.S. (Thousands of U.S.
(Thousands of U.S. Dollars) Dollars) Total 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 Thereafter Dollars) Total 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Thereafter

Facilities
Facilities
Oil transportation services

Facilities
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Operating leases ()
Finance leases ()

Software and
Telecommunication

@ Including maintenance and operating costs.

Gran Tierra has operating leases for office spaces, vehicles, and tanks and finance leases for power generation and enhanced oil recovery facilities, storage tanks, and
compressors.

Indemnities

Corporate indemnities have been provided by the Company to directors and officers for various items including, but not limited to, all costs to settle suits or actions due to their
association with the Company and its subsidiaries and/or affiliates, subject to certain restrictions. The Company has purchased directors’ and officers’ liability insurance to mitigate
the cost of any potential future suits or actions. The maximum amount of any potential future payment cannot be reasonably estimated. The Company may provide indemnifications
in the normal course of business that are often standard contractual terms to counterparties in certain transactions such as purchase and sale agreements. The terms of these
indemnifications will vary based upon the contract, the nature of which prevents the Company from making a reasonable estimate of the maximum potential amounts that may be
required to be paid.

Letters of Credit

At December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, the Company had provided letters of credit and other credit support totaling $220.1 million $244.5 million (December 31, 2022 2023 -
$111.1 million $220.1 million) as security relating to work commitment guarantees in Colombia and Ecuador contained in exploration contracts, the Suroriente Block (Note 4) 7), and
other capital or operating requirements. requirements as well as for transmission capacity in Canada.

Contingencies

Gran Tierra has several lawsuits and claims pending. The outcome of the lawsuits and disputes cannot be predicted with certainty; Gran Tierra believes the resolution of these
matters would not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. Gran Tierra records costs as they are
incurred or become probable and determinable.

13.16. Financial Instruments, Fair Value Measurement, Credit Risk and Foreign Exchange Risk

Financial Instruments

Financial instruments are initially recorded at fair value, defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to market participants to settle liability at the

measurement date. For financial instruments carried at fair value, GAAP establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair
value. This hierarchy consists of three broad levels:

« Level 1 - Inputs representing quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities
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* Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the assets and liabilities, either directly or indirectly
e Level 3 - Unobservable inputs for assets and liabilities

The Company’s financial instruments recognized on the balance sheet consist of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalentsq), accounts receivable, PEF, other
long-term assets, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, credit facility, long-term debt and other long-term liabilities. The Company’s valuation techniques to measure the fair
values of assets and liabilities are described in the subsequent disclosures.

Fair Value Measurement

The following table presents the Company'’s fair value measurements of its financial instruments as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022: 2023:

As at December 31,

2023 2022
(Thousands of U.S. Dollars)
Level 1
Assets
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PEF - current (1) $ 5,630 $ 5,981

PEF - long-term (2) — 9,975
$ 5,630 $ 15,956
Liabilities
6.25% Senior Notes $ 22,994 $ 243,801
7.75% Senior Notes 20,744 241,455
9.50% Senior Notes 429,018 —
$ 472,756 $ 485,256
Level 2
Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents - long-term (2) $ 7,750 $ 5,343
7,750 $ 5,343
As at December 31,
2024 2023

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars)

Level 1
Assets
PEF - currentw $ — $ 5,630
Liabilities
6.25% Senior Notes $ 24,133 $ 22,994
7.75% Senior Notes 21,451 20,744
9.50% Senior Notes 688,262 429,018
$ 733,846 $ 472,756
Level 2
Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents - long-term (2) $ 6,816 $ 7,750
Commodity derivatives - current() $ 712 $ —
7,528 $ 7,750

(1) Included in the other current assets on the Company’s balance sheet

(2 The long-term current portion of restricted cash and PEF are commodity derivatives was included in the other long-term assets on the Company'’s into accounts receivable balance sheet

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, current restricted cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and credit facility
approximate their carrying amounts due to the short-term maturity of these instruments.

Restricted cash - long-term
The fair value of long-term restricted cash and cash equivalents approximate its carrying value because interest rates are variable and reflective of market rates.
PEF

To reduce the Company’s exposure to changes in the trading price of the Company’s common shares on outstanding PSUs and DSU's, As at December 31, 2024, the Company
entered into PEF. At the end of the term, the counterparty will pay the Company an amount equivalent to the had no outstanding PEF shares (As at December 31, 2023 - 1.0 million
notional amount of the shares using the price of the Company’s shares of Common Stock at the valuation date. The Company has the discretion to increase or decrease the
notional amount of the PEF or terminate the agreement early. As at December 31, 2023, the Company’s PEF had a notional amount of 1.0 million shares andwith a fair value of
$5.6 million.). During the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, the Company recorded settled all outstanding notional PEF shares and received net proceeds on
disposition of $5.1 million, resulting in a $0.3 million loss of $5.0 million on the PEFrecorded in G&A expenses (December 31, expenses. During the years ended December 31,
2023 and 2022, the Company recorded - $5.0 million loss and $1.3 million gain, and 2021 - $0.9 million). The fair value respectively, on valuation of PEF asset was estimated using
Company’s share price quoted shares in active markets at the end of each reporting period. G&A expenses.
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Senior Notes

Financial instruments recorded at amortized costs at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, include the Senior Notes (Note 7)10). The Senior Notes are publicly traded on
Singapore Exchange and the fair value is determined using the Senior Notes trading prices at the end of each reporting period.

At December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, the carrying amounts of the 6.25% Senior Notes, 7.75% Senior Notes and 9.50% Senior Notes were $24.624.8 million, $23.8
million $23.9 million and $444.6 million $677.9 million, respectively, which represents the aggregate principal amounts less unamortized debt issuance costs and discounts.

Derivative asset and derivative liability

As at December 31, 2023, The fair value of derivatives is estimated based on various factors, including quoted market prices in active markets and quotes from third parties. The
Company also performs an internal valuation to ensure the reasonableness of third party quotes. In consideration of counterparty credit risk, the Company did not have assessed the
possibility of whether the counterparty to the derivative would default by failing to make any outstanding contractually required payments. Additionally, the Company considers that it

has the ability to meet its potential repayment obligations associated with the derivative positions. transactions.

The following table presents the nature of our financial instruments gains or losses for each of the three years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024:

Year Ended December 31,

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2023 2022 2021
Commodity price derivative loss $ — $ 26,611 $ 48,723
Foreign currency derivative loss — — 115
$ — 3 26,611 $ 48,838
Unrealized investment loss $ — 3 — $ 2,032
Loss on sale of investment — — 1,355
Other financial instruments loss (gain) 15 @) (18)
$ 15 $ 7 $ 3,369
Year Ended December 31,
(Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2024 2023 2022
Commodity price derivative loss $ 2,271 $ — 3 26,611
Commodity Price Risk

The Company may at times utilize commaodity price derivatives to manage the variability in cash flows associated with the forecasted sale of its oil production, reduce commodity
price risk and provide a base level of cash flow in order to assure it can execute at least a portion of its capital spending. As at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, the
Company had no outstanding commodity price derivative positions. positions in Canada and Colombia as follows:

CANADA - OIL

Purchased Put Sold Call
Type of Volume, Price (C$/bbl or (C$/bbl, Weighted (Cs/bbl, Weighted
Instrument Start Period End Period bblid Reference $/bbl) Average) Average)
Collar January 01, 2025 January 31, 2025 450 WTI CMA — C$ 100.00 C$ 110.22
Collar February 01, 2025 February 28, 2025 250 WTI CMA — C$ 100.00 C$ 112.25
Collar March 01, 2025 March 31, 2025 250 WTI CMA — C$ 100.00 C$ 110.45
Call option January 01, 2025 December 31, 2025 250 WTI CMA — C$ — C$ 95.00
Swap January 01, 2025 January 31, 2025 1,050 WTICMA C$ 99.03 — —
Swap January 01, 2025 March 31, 2025 200 WTICMA C$ 101.20 — —
Swap February 01, 2025 February 28, 2025 900 WTICMA C$ 101.12 — —
Swap March 01, 2025 March 31, 2025 900 WTICMA C$ 99.82 — —
Swap April 01, 2025 April 30, 2025 1,750 WTICMA C$ 102.56 — —
Swap May 01, 2025 May 31, 2025 1,750 WTICMA C$ 98.81 — —
Swap June 01, 2025 June 30, 2025 1,250 WTICMA C$ 98.55 — —
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Swap July 01, 2025 July 31, 2025 1,100 WTICMA C$ 99.23 — —
Swap August 01, 2025 August 31, 2025 500 WTICMA C$ 94.67 — —
Swap February 01, 2025 February 28, 2025 400 WTICMA $ 76.55 — —
Swap March 01, 2025 March 31, 2025 400 WTICMA $ 75.95 — —
Swap April 01, 2025 April 30, 2025 250 WTICMA $ 72.73 — —
94
CANADA - NATURAL GAS
Sold Swap
(C$IGJ, Purchased Put Sold Call
Type of Volume, Weighted (C$IGJ, Weighted  (C$/GJ, Weighted
Instrument Start Period End Period GJiday Reference Average) Average) Average)
Swap April 01, 2024 March 31, 2025 15,000 Aeco 5A 2.52 — —
Swap November 01, 2024 March 31, 2025 5,000 Aeco 5A 3.20 — —
Swap January 01, 2025 March 31, 2025 10,000 Aeco 5A 2.93 — —
Swap April 01, 2025 April 30, 2025 2,500 Aeco 5A 2.77 — —
Swap April 01, 2025 December 31, 2025 7,500 Aeco 5A 3.12 — —
Swap May 01, 2025 June 30, 2025 2,500 Aeco 5A 2.50 — —
Swap June 01, 2025 December 31, 2025 5,000 Aeco 5A 3.00 — —
Swap October 01, 2025 December 31, 2025 10,000 Aeco 5A 3.20 — —
CANADA - PROPANE
Sold Swap Purchased Put Sold Call
Type of Volume, ($/gal, Weighted  ($/gal, Weighted ($/gal, Weighted
Instrument Start Period End Period boeld Reference Average) Average) Average)
Swap January 01, 2025 March 31, 2025 250 Conway 0.83 — —
COLOMBIA - OIL
Purchased Put Sold Call Premium ($/bbl,
Type of Volume, ($/bbl, Weighted ($/bbl, Weighted Weighted
Instrument Start Period End Period bbl/d Reference Average) Average) Average)
Put Option January 01, 2025 March 31, 2025 3,000 Brent 70.00 — 3.23
Put Option April 01, 2025 June 30, 2025 3,000 Brent 70.00 — 3.23
Collar January 01, 2025 March 31, 2025 1,000 Brent 65.00 77.00 —
Collar April 01, 2025 June 30, 2025 1,000 Brent 65.00 77.00 —
Collar July 01, 2025 September 30, 2025 1,000 Brent 65.00 77.00 —
Collar October 01, 2025 December 31, 2025 1,000 Brent 65.00 77.00 —
Subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company entered into the following commodity price derivative positions:
95
COLOMBIA - OIL
Purchased Put Sold Call
Type of Volume, ($/bbl, Weighted  ($/bbl, Weighted Premium ($/bbl,
Instrument Start Period End Period bbl/d Reference Average) Average) Weighted Average)

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us

©2025 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

93/137

REFINITIV [<


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

Put Option February 01, 2025 March 31, 2025 1,000 Brent 68.50 — 3.34
Put Option April 01, 2025 June 30, 2025 1,000 Brent 68.50 — 3.34
Put Option July 01, 2025 September 30, 2025 1,000 Brent 68.50 — 3.34
Put Option October 01, 2025 December 31, 2025 1,000 Brent 68.50 — 3.34
Collar February 01, 2025 March 31, 2025 3,000 Brent 65.00 80.42 —
Collar March 01, 2025 July 31, 2025 500 Brent 65.00 80.75 —
Collar March 01, 2025 July 31, 2025 500 Brent 65.00 80.78 —
Collar April 01, 2025 June 30, 2025 3,000 Brent 65.00 80.42 —
Collar July 01, 2025 September 30, 2025 3,000 Brent 65.00 80.42 —
Collar October 01, 2025 December 31, 2025 3,000 Brent 65.00 80.42 —
CANADA - OIL
Purchased Put Sold Call
Type of Volume, ($/bbl, Weighted (C$/ or $/bbl,
Instrument Start Period End Period bblid Reference Price ($/bbl) Average) Weighted Average)
Collar March 01, 2025 March 31, 2025 500 WTI CMA — 65.00 77.40
Collar April 01, 2025 June 30, 2025 500 WTI CMA — 65.00 77.40
Collar July 01, 2025 September 30, 2025 500 WTI CMA — 65.00 77.40
Collar October 01, 2025 December 31, 2025 500 WTI CMA — 65.00 77.40
Call Option January 01, 2026 December 31, 2026 500 WTI CMA = — C$ 107.00
CANADA - NATURAL GAS
Sold Swap
(CsIGY, Purchased Put Sold Call
Type of Volume, Weighted (C$IGJ, Weighted  (C$/GJ, Weighted
Instrument Start Period End Period GlJiday Reference Average) Average) Average)
Put Option April 01, 2025 September 30, 2025 6,500 Aeco 7A — 2.00 —

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk in relation to its Colombian and Canadian operations predominantly in operating and transportation costs and G&A expenses. To
mitigate exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange, the Company may enter into foreign currency exchange derivatives. As at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, the
Company had no outstanding foreign currency exchange derivative positions.

Unrealized foreign exchange gains and losses primarily result from fluctuation of the U.S. dollar to the Colombian peso and Canadian dollar due to Gran Tierra’s accounts payable,
tax and deferred tax assets and liabilities which are monetary assets and liabilities mainly denominated in the local currencies. As a result, foreign exchange gains and losses must
be calculated on conversion to the U.S. dollar functional currency. A one percent strengthening in Colombian peso against the U.S. dollar results in foreign exchange loss of
approximately $0.4$0.3 million of U.S. dollars on accounts payable, gain of approximately $0.3$0.1 million of U.S. dollars on taxes receivable and payable and loss of
approximately $0.4 $0.2 million of U.S. dollars on deferred tax assets and liabilities. This effect was calculated based on the Company’s December 31, 2023, December 31, 2024
balances of accounts payable, deferred tax assets, and taxes payable. The translation of assets and liabilities of Canadian operations from Canadian dollar functional currency does
not impact consolidated statements of operations foreign exchange gains and losses.

For the yearsyear ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 97% 93% of the Company Company'’s oil, natural gas and NGL sales were generated in Colombia, 4% of oil,
natural gas and NGL sales generated in Ecuador and 3% of oil, sales generated natural gas and NGL in Ecuador (2022 Canada for two months of
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operations (2023 and 2021 2022, respectively, 97% and 100% of the Company's oil sales were generated in Colombia). In Colombia and Ecuador, the Company receives 100% of
its revenues in U.S. dollars and the majority of its capital expenditures are in U.S. dollars or are based on U.S. dollar prices. In Canada, 100% of oil, natural gas and NGL revenue is
received in Canadian dollars and operating costs and capital expenditures are primarily based on Canadian dollar prices

Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from the potential that the Company may incur a loss if counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its obligation in accordance with agreed terms. The
Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents and accounts
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receivable. The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable reflects management's assessment of credit risk.

At December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents included balances in bank accounts, term deposits and certificates
of deposit, placed with financial institutions with investment grade credit ratings.

Most of the Company’s accounts receivable relate to sales to customers in the oil and natural gas industry and are exposed to typical industry credit risks. The concentration of
revenues in a single industry affects the Company’s overall exposure to credit risk because customers may be similarly affected by changes in economic and other conditions. The
Company manages this credit risk by entering into sales contracts with only credit worthy entities and reviewing its exposure to individual entities on a regular basis. Additionally, the
Company reduces the credit risk exposure by managing its accounts receivable which are paid on a weekly basis. basis in Colombia and Ecuador and on a monthly basis in
Canada. For the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, the Company had one customer (2022 (2023 - two one and 2021 2022 - three) two) which accounted for over
95% 91% of sales.

To reduce the concentration of exposure to any individual counterparty, the Company utilizes a group of investment-grade rated financial institutions for its derivative transactions.
The Company monitors counterparty creditworthiness on an ongoing basis; however, it cannot predict sudden changes in counterparties’ creditworthiness. In addition, even if such
changes are not sudden, the Company may be limited in its ability to mitigate an increase in counterparty credit risk. Should one of these counterparties not perform, the Company
may not realize the benefit of some of its derivative instruments.

14.17. Supplemental Cash Flow Information
The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents with the Company’s consolidated balance sheet that sum to the total

of such amounts shown in the consolidated statements of cash flows:
As at December 31,

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars) (Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2023 2022 2021 (Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2024 2023 2022
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents - current)

Restricted cash and cash equivalents - long-term (1)

@ The current portion of restricted cash and cash equivalents is included in other current assets and long-term portion of restricted cash and cash equivalents is included in other long-term assets on

the Company's balance sheet.
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Net changes in assets and liabilities from operating activities were as follows:
Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
(Thousands of U.S. Dollars) (Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2023 2022 2021 (Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2024 2023 2022
Accounts receivable and other long-term assets
Derivatives
PEF
Prepaids and inventory
Accounts payable and accrued and other long-term liabilities
Taxes receivable and payable
Net changes in assets and liabilities from operating activities
Net changes in working capital from investing activities were as follows:
Year Ended December 31,

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2024 2023 2022
Additions to property, plant and equipment $ (248,103) $ (218,882) $ (236,604)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 14,623 (7,628) 26,273
Increase in accounts receivable (756) (74) —

$ (234,236) $ (226,584) $ (210,331)

The Company corrected presentation of cash flows associated with additions to property, plant and equipment within net cash used in investing activities in the Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. For the year ended December 31, 2023, additions to property, plant and equipment as previously
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reported of $218.9 million (2022 - $236.6 million) were presented on an accrual basis before the related decrease in cash outflow due to impact of changes in non-cash investing
working capital of $(7.7) million (2022 - $26.3 million). The cash outflow associated with additions to property, plant and equipment has been recasted in accordance with the direct
method. There was no change in amount to the Company’s previously reported net cash used in investing activities.

The following table provides additional supplemental cash flow disclosures:

Year Ended December 31,

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars) (Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2023 2022 2021 (Thousands of U.S. Dollars) 2024 2023 2022
Cash paid for income taxes

Cash paid for withholding taxes

Cash paid for interest

Non-cash investing activities

Non-cash investing activities

Non-cash investing activities

Net liabilities related to property, plant and equipment, end of year

Net liabilities related to property, plant and equipment, end of year

Net liabilities related to property, plant and equipment, end of year
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Supplementary Data (Unaudited)
1) Oil and Natural Gas Producing Activities

In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification Topic 932, “Extractive Activities—Oil and Gas”, and regulations of the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), the Company is making certain supplemental disclosures about its oil and natural gas exploration and production operations.

A. Estimated Proved Net After Royalty (“NAR”) Reserves

The following table sets forth Gran Tierra’s estimated proved NAR reserves and total net proved developed and undeveloped reserves as of December 31, 2021 December 31,
2022, 2022, 2023, and 2023, 2024, and the changes in total net proved reserves during the three-year period ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024.

The net proved reserves represent management's best estimate of proved oil and natural gas reserves after royalties. Reserve estimates for each property are prepared internally
each year and 100% of the reserves at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, have been evaluated by independent reservoir engineering specialist, McDaniel & Associates
Consultants Ltd.

The reserve estimation process requires us to use significant decisions and assumptions in the evaluation of available geological, geophysical, engineering and economic data for
each property, and demonstrate reasonable certainty that they are recoverable from known reservoirs under economic and operating conditions that existed at year end. The
determination of oil and natural gas reserves is complex and requires significant judgment. Assumptions used to estimate reserve information may significantly increase or decrease
such reserves in future periods. The estimates of reserves are subject to continuing changes and, therefore, an accurate determination of reserves may not be possible for many
years because of the time needed for development, drilling, testing, and studies of reservoirs.

Liquids (1) Gas
(Mbbl) (MMcf)
Proved NAR Reserves, December 31, 2020 64,692 1,655
Improved recoveries 2,057 —
Extensions () Colombia Ecuador 7,475 canada —
Technical revisions Crude Oil NaturalGas Crude Oil Crude Oill,00\NaturalGas NGL133
Production (Mbbl) (MMcf) (Mbbl) (Mbbl) (8.668) (mMcf) (Mbbi§-19)
Breved NAR Reserves; Beegmber 31, 2631 66,075 1,669 490 66.565 = 1,669
Extensieng and discoveries (» 3,777 2,496 6.273 — =
Teehnieal revisiens @ 1,713 (208) (155) 1.558 — (208)
Preduetien (9,098) (15) (31) (9.129) _ (15)
Breved NAR Reserves; Becember 31, 2623 62,467 1,446 2,800 65.267 = 1,446
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Extensions and discoveries (2) 16,316 — 1,492 1#808 — —

Technical revisions (2) 175 (1,446) 550 —725 — (1,446)
Production (3) (9,291) — (213) (9;504) — —
Preved NAR Reserves, December 31, 2023 69,667 — 4,629 74;296 — —
Acquisitions (1) — — — 10,100 184,832 21,787
Eraxgeifavsinpat&Rregnes NAR, December 31, 2020 3,064 _ 5,572 38,660 _ 633
réemMaibRe¥sigRsi Reserves NAR, December 31, 2021 (245) _ (143) 41,869 880 _ 880
Bravedifevgloped Reserves NAR, December 31, 2022 (8,789) _ (566) (#6360 858 (2 536) (868)
Praved Rayeieesd-Ras sees NAG fegaglper 31, 2023 63,697 - 9,492 9,389 182,206 21,527
Braved BadeisIeRad-RERRNGT A BeRERAEPSY 3503920 41,869 880 — 26is2 — 022
Braved BadeisIeRad-RERRNGT A BeRERAEPSY 3503921 39,645 858 715 24,696 — 789
Br8Vv&t BagsisieRes RER-NGT A ReRERRIEPSY 3302922 38,942 — 657 2LE07 — BEE
Braved BagsisienstbBERAIY SenlY  BeRESHIBPST 3202023 34,151 — 1,752 574697 93,028 10,038
Proved Undeveloped Reserves NAR, December 31, 2021 24,206 789 490 — — Q9
Proved Undeveloped Reserves NAR, December 31, 2022 22,822 588 2,085 — — —
Proved Undeveloped Reserves NAR, December 31, 2023 30,725 — 3,972 — — —
Proved Undeveloped Reserves NAR, December 31, 2024 29,546 — 7,740 4,178 89,268 10,589

) At December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, liquids reserves are 100% oil.

( Includes the following volumes related to Ecuador: 2023 - 1.5 MMbbI NGL includes immaterial volume of extensions and 0.6 MMbbl of technical revisions; 2022 - 2.5 MMbbl of extensions and (0.2)
MMbbl of technical revisions; 2021 - 0.5 MMbbl of extensions

@ Includes 0.2 MMbbl of production related to Ecuador for the year ended December 31, 2023 Condensate

Changes in proved reserves during the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 20222023 and 20212022 shown in the table above primarily resulted from the
following significant factors:

Acquisitions. Acquisitions relate to Canadian operations acquired through the i3 Energy acquisition on October 31, 2024.

Improved Recoveries. There were no improved recoveries for the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 respectively. There were 2.1 MMbbl of
improved recoveries of heavy oil in the Acordionero field for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Extensions and Discoveries. Added 17.8 8.6 MMbbl of proved reserves during the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, of which 16.3 3.1 MMbbl were extensions
in Colombia and 1.55.6 MMbbl were discoveries in Ecuador. In Colombia, we had 1.2, 3.5,1.1 and 2.0 and 9.6 MMbbl of extensions in the Acordionero, Costayaco and Mogqueta
fields and Suroriente Block respectively, with Acordionero fields. In Ecuador, we had a 1.54.3 MMbbl discovery in the Chanangue Block (2022and a 1.2 MMblI discovery in the
Charapa block (2023 - 6.317.8 MMbbl due to reserve extensions in the Acordionero and Costayaco fields and the Charapa and Chanangue Blocks and a discovery in the Alea-1848
Block and 2021 2022 - 7.5 6.3 MMbbl, due to reserve extensions in the Acordionero and Costayaco Moqueta fields and the Charapa fields) and Chanangue Blocks and a discovery in
the Alea-1848 Block).

Technical and Economic Revisions. Added 0.7 Deducted 0.4 MMbbl of proved oil reserves and removed all gas reserves during the year ended December 31, 2023 December
31, 2024. In Colombia this was we reduced 0.2 MMbbl primarily due to continued waterflood performance the underperformance of Acordionero Forelimb and Costayaco South area
drills relative to previous expectations and reduced 0.1 MMbbl in the Costayaco and Acordionero fields as well as Ecuador due to production type curve increases in the Ecuador
Blocks (2022 decreases (2023 - 1.60.7 MMBOE related to positive technical revisions based on increased drilling and continued waterflood performance in the Acordionero and
Costayaco fields and 20212022 - 1.01.6 MMBOE, related to positive technical revisions based on performance increased drilling and continued waterflood response performance in
the Acordionero and Costayaco fields).

100

B. Capitalized Costs

Capitalized costs for Gran Tierra’'s oil and natural gas producing activities consisted of the following at the end of each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31,
2023 December 31, 2024:
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(Thousands of (Thousands of Proved
U.S. Dollars) U.S. Dollars) Properties

Balance, December
31, 2024

Balance, December
31, 2023

Balance, December 31, 2022
Balance, December 31, 2022
Balance, December 31, 2022
Balance, December 31, 2023
Balance, December 31, 2023

C. Costs Incurred

Unproved
Properties

Accumulated

Depletion,
Depreciation Net
and Capitalized (Thousands of Proved
Impairment Costs U.S. Dollars) Properties

Accumulated

Depletion,
Depreciation Net
and Capitalized

Impairment Costs

The following table presents costs incurred for Gran Tierra’s oil and natural gas property acquisitions and exploration and development for the respective years:
(Thousands of U.S. Dollars) (Thousands of U.S. Dollars)

Year Ended December 31, 2021
Year Ended December 31, 2024
Property acquisition costs
Property acquisition costs
Property acquisition costs

Proved

Proved

Proved

Unproved
Exploration costs
Development costs
Year Ended December 31, 2023
Year Ended December 31, 2023
Year Ended December 31, 2023
Property acquisition costs
Property acquisition costs
Property acquisition costs

Proved

Proved

Proved

Unproved
Exploration costs
Development costs
Year Ended December 31, 2022
Year Ended December 31, 2022
Year Ended December 31, 2022
Property acquisition costs
Property acquisition costs
Property acquisition costs

Proved

Proved

Proved

Unproved
Exploration costs
Development costs
Year Ended December 31, 2023

Colombia Ecuador Total (Thousands of U.S. Dollars)
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Year Ended December 31, 2023
Year Ended December 31, 2023
Property acquisition costs
Property acquisition costs
Property acquisition costs

Proved

Proved

Proved

Unproved
Exploration costs

Development costs
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D. Results of Operations for Oil and Natural Gas Producing Activities
(Thousands of U.S. Dollars) (Thousands of U.S. Dollars) Colombia Ecuador Total (Thousands of U.S. Dollars) Colombia Ecuador Canada Total
December 31, 2024

Oil, natural gas and NGL sales
Oil, natural gas and NGL sales
Oil, natural gas and NGL sales
Production costs

Exploration expenses

DD&A expenses

Inventory impairment

Income tax (expense) recovery
Results of Operations
December 31, 2023

Oil sales

Oil sales

Oil sales

December 31, 2023
December 31, 2023

Oil, natural gas and NGL sales
Oil, natural gas and NGL sales
Oil, natural gas and NGL sales
Production costs

Exploration expenses

DD&A expenses

Inventory impairment

Income tax (expense) recovery
Results of Operations
December 31, 2022
December 31, 2022
December 31, 2022

Oil sales

Oil sales

Oil sales

Oil, natural gas and NGL sales

Oil, natural gas and NGL sales
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Oil, natural gas and NGL sales
Production costs

Exploration expenses

DD&A expenses

Inventory impairment

Income tax (expense) recovery
Income tax expense

Results of Operations
December 31, 2021
December 31, 2021
December 31, 2021

Oil sales

Oil sales

Oil sales

Production costs

Exploration expenses

DD&A expenses

Inventory impairment

Income tax (expense) recovery

Results of Operations

E. Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows and Changes

The following disclosure is based on estimates of net proved reserves and the period during which they are expected to be produced. Future cash inflows are computed by applying
the twelve month period unweighted arithmetic average of the price as of the first day of each month within that twelve month period, unless prices are defined by contractual
arrangements, excluding escalations based on future conditions to Gran Tierra’s after royalty share of estimated annual future production from proved oil, natural gas and gas NGL

reserves.

Twelve month period unweighted arithmetic average of the wellhead price as of the first day of each month within the

twelve month period
2023
2023
2024
2024
2024
2023
2022
2021

Weighted average production costs

2023
2023
2024
2024
2024
2023
2022
2021

Colombia Colombia Ecuador Colombia Ecuador Canada

Future development and production costs to be incurred in producing and further developing the proved reserves are based on year end cost indicators. Future income taxes are
computed by applying year end statutory tax rates. These rates reflect allowable deductions and tax credits, and are applied to the estimated pre-tax future net cash flows.

Discounted future net cash
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flows are calculated using 10% mid-year discount factors. The calculations assume the continuation of existing economic, operating and contractual conditions. However, such
prescribed assumptions have not proved to be the case in the past. Other assumptions could give rise to substantially different results.

The Company believes this information does not in any way reflect the current economic value of its oil and gas producing properties or the present value of their estimated future
cash flows as:

« no economic value is attributed to probable and possible reserves;
« use of a 10% prescribed discount rate; and
« prices change constantly from the twelve-month period unweighted arithmetic average of the price as of the first day of each month within that twelve-month period.

The standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows from Gran Tierra’s estimated proved oil and gas reserves is as follows:
(Thousands of U.S. (Thousands of U.S.
(Thousands of U.S. Dollars) Dollars) Colombia Ecuador Total Dollars) Colombia Ecuador Canada Total

December 31, 2024

Future cash inflows

Future cash inflows

Future cash inflows

Future production costs

Future development costs

Future asset retirement obligations
Future income tax expense

Future net cash flows

10% discount

Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash
Flows

December 31, 2023
December 31, 2023
December 31, 2023
Future cash inflows

Future cash inflows

Future cash inflows

Future production costs
Future development costs
Future asset retirement obligations
Future income tax expense
Future net cash flows

10% discount

Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash
Flows

December 31, 2022
December 31, 2022
December 31, 2022
Future cash inflows

Future cash inflows

Future cash inflows

Future production costs
Future development costs
Future asset retirement obligations
Future income tax expense
Future net cash flows

10% discount
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Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash
Flows

December 31, 2021
December 31, 2021
December 31, 2021
Future cash inflows

Future cash inflows

Future cash inflows

Future production costs
Future development costs
Future asset retirement obligations
Future income tax expense
Future net cash flows

10% discount

Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash
Flows

Changes in the Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows
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The following table summarizes changes in the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows for Gran Tierra’s proved oil and natural gas reserves:

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars)

Balance, beginning of year

Sales and transfers of oil and gas produced, net of production costs

Present Value as of December 31, 2021

Sales and transfers of oil and natural gas produced, net of production

costs

Net changes in prices and production costs related to future
production

Extensions, discoveries and improved recovery, less related costs

Previously estimated development costs incurred during the year

Revisions of previous quantity estimates
Accretion of discount

Net change in income taxes

Changes in future development costs

Net increase

Present Value as of December 31, 2022
Net change in income taxes

Net change in income taxes

Sales and transfers of oil and natural gas produced, net of production costs
Sales and transfers of oil and natural gas produced, net of production costs
Sales and transfers of oil and natural gas produced, net of production costs

Net changes in prices and production costs related to future
production

Extensions, discoveries and improved recovery, less related costs

Previously estimated development costs incurred during the year

Revisions of previous quantity estimates
Accretion of discount

Net change in income taxes
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Changes in future development costs

Net (decrease) increase

Balance, end of year

Present Value as of December 31, 2023

Sales and transfers of oil and natural gas produced, net of production costs
Sales and transfers of oil and natural gas produced, net of production costs
Sales and transfers of oil and natural gas produced, net of production costs

Net changes in prices and production costs related to future
production

Extensions, discoveries and improved recovery, less related costs
Previously estimated development costs incurred during the year
Revisions of previous quantity estimates

Accretion of discount

Purchases of reserves in place

Net change in income taxes

Net change in income taxes

Net change in income taxes

Changes in future development costs

Net (decrease) increase

Present Value as of December 31, 2024

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

104

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We have established disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or Exchange Act). Our
management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and
procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report, as required by Rule 13a-15(b) of the Exchange Act. Based on their evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer have concluded that Gran Tierra's disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, to provide reasonable
assurance that the information required to be disclosed by Gran Tierra in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in the SEC rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for Gran Tierra, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, based on the framework in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in 2013 (the “2013 COSO Framework”). Based on this evaluation under the 2013 COSO Framework,
management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024. The effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, has been audited by KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, which also audited our financial
statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K as stated in their report which appears herein.

On October 31, 2024, the Company completed the acquisition of i3 Energy Plc (“i3 Energy”), a publicly traded oil and gas company that was listed on the TSX venture exchange. i3
Energy’s operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements of Gran Tierra since October 31, 2024. However, Gran Tierra has not had sufficient time to
appropriately assess the disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting previously used by i3 Energy and integrate them with those of Gran Tierra.
As a result, the certifying officers have limited the scope of their design of disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting to exclude controls,
policies and procedures of i3 Energy (as permitted by applicable securities laws in U.S.). Gran Tierra has a program in place to complete its assessment of the controls, policies and
procedures of the acquired operations by October 31, 2025. In 2024, the assets previously held by i3 Energy, contributed $19.0 million (representing 3% ) of total Company’s oil,
natural gas and NGL sales and as at December 31, 2024, $310.1 million of total assets were associated with acquired entity.
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Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting during the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect our internal controls over financial reporting.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Gran Tierra Energy Inc.:

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Gran Tierra Energy Inc.’s and subsidiaries’ (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, based on criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our opinion, the Company
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the
Company as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the
years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements), and our report dated
February 20, 2024 February 24, 2025 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

The Company acquired i3 Energy Plc during 2024, and management excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2024, i3 Energy PIc's internal control over financial reporting associated with total assets of $310.1 million and total oil, natural gas and NGL sales of $19.0 million
included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for the year ended December 31, 2024. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of the
Company also excluded an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of i3 Energy Plc.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect
to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control
based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company'’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Chartered Professional Accountants
Calgary, Canada
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Item 9B. Other Information
20242025 Annual Meeting
The Board of Directors of Gran Tierra Energy Inc. has established May 2, 2024 May 2, 2025 as the date of the Company’s 20242025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the
20242025 Annual Meeting”) and March 6, 2024 March 6, 2025 as the record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the 2024 2025 Annual Meeting.

The time and location of the 2024 2025 Annual Meeting will be as set forth in the Company’s proxy materials for the 2024 2025 Annual Meeting.

Credit Facility

The Amendment made various changes to the Credit Facility,including: (i) the initial commitment was adjusted from $100 million to $50 million (maintaining the potential option of up
to an additional $50 million, subject to approval by the lender) (ii) the availability period for the draw under the Credit Facility was extended from August 20, 2023 (extended under
the Amended Credit Facility) until December 31, 2023.

The Credit Facility, as amended and restated, remains secured by Gran Tierra's Colombian assets and economic rights and its remaining commercial terms remain unchanged. The
Credit Facility has a final maturity date of August 15, 2024. As of February 20, 2024, the credit facility has been drawn by $36 million.

Trading Arrangements

During the three months ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, no director or Section 16 officer adopted or terminated any Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangements or non-Rule
10b5-1 trading arrangements (in each case, as defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K).

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections
Not applicable

PART Ill
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
The information required regarding our directors is incorporated herein by reference from the information contained in the section entitled “Proposal 1 - Election of Directors” in our
definitive Proxy Statement for the 2024 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (our “Proxy Statement”), a copy of which will be filed with the SEC within 120 days after December 31,
2023 December 31, 2024. For information with respect to our executive officers, see “Information About Our Executive Officers” at the end of Part | of this report, following Item 4

“Mine Safety Disclosures”.

The information required regarding Section 16(a) beneficial ownership reporting compliance, if applicable, is incorporated by reference from the information contained in the section
entitled “Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports” in our Proxy Statement.

The information required with respect to procedures by which security holders may recommend nominees to our Board of Directors, the composition of our Audit Committee, and
whether we have an “audit committee financial expert”, is incorporated by reference from the information contained in the section entitled “Proposal 1 - Election of Directors” in our
Proxy Statement.

Adoption of Code of Ethics
Gran Tierra has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the “Code”) applicable to all of its Board members, employees and executive officers, including its President and
Chief Executive Officer, Director (Principal Executive Officer), Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President, Finance (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) and Chief

Operating Officer (Principal Operating Officer). Gran Tierra has made the Code available on its website at www.grantierra.com.

Gran Tierra intends to satisfy the public disclosure requirements regarding (1) any amendments to the Code, or (2) any waivers under the Code given to Gran Tierra’s Principal
Executive Officer, Principal Financial and Accounting Officer and Principal Operating Officer by posting such information on its website at http://www.grantierra.com/governance.html
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within four business days of such amendment or waiver. Information on our website is not incorporated into this Annual Report or otherwise made part of this Annual Report.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required regarding the compensation of our directors and executive officers is incorporated herein by reference from the information contained in the section entitled

“Executive Compensation and Related Information” in our Proxy Statement, including under the subheadings “Director Compensation,” “Compensation Committee Report,” and
“Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation”.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The information required regarding security ownership of our 10% or greater stockholders and of our directors and management is incorporated herein by reference from the
information contained in the section entitled “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” in our Proxy Statement.

The following table provides certain information with respect to securities authorized for issuance under Gran Tierra’s equity compensation plans in effect as of the end of December
31, 2023 December 31, 2024:

(c)
Number of securities

remaining available for
future issuance under

@ (b) equity compensation
Number of securities to Weighted average plans, excluding
be issued upon exercise exercise price of securities reflected in
Plan category of outstanding options (1) outstanding options column (a)
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 2,027,807 9.93 1,640,219
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders — — —
2,027,807 9.93 1,640.219
(c)

Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under

@ (b) equity compensation
Number of securities to Weighted average plans, excluding
be issued upon exercise exercise price of securities reflected in
Plan category of outstanding options (1) outstanding options column (a) 2
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders — — 3,189,403
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders — — —
— — 3,189.403

@ Includes This does not include shares reserved to be issued pursuant to stock options granted pursuant to the 2007 Equity Incentive Plan (“the Plan”), which is an amendment and restatement of our
2005 Equity Incentive Plan. Plan as during the year ended December 31, 2024 management's intent to cash settle is reflected in the financial statement classification of these awards as financial
liabilities. This also does not include any shares reserved to be issued relating to performance stock units (‘PSUs"), and deferred share units (“DSUs"), which may be settled in cash or in shares of
our Common Stock at our election, and for which management's intent to cash settle is reflected in the financial statement classification of these awards as financial liabilities.

@ In accordance with Item 201(d) of Regulation S-K, the figure in this column represents the total number of shares of our Common Stock remaining available for issuance under the Plan as of
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, minus the awards reported in column (a), above. Note, pursuant to the terms of the Plan, the pool of shares available for grant thereunder is not actually
reduced until an award is settled in shares of our Common Stock (as opposed to reducing the pool at the time of grant). At December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 4,672,966 7,835,800 shares were
issued and outstanding relating to Options, PSUs and DSUs and would represent a reduction to the securities remaining available for future issuance under the Plan if such awards were to be equity
settled. Consistent with accounting treatment that reflects management's intent to cash settle, these amounts are not included in the above table as a reduction in the securities remaining available

for future issuance. Pursuant to the provisions of the Plan, the number of securities remaining available for issuance is reduced by the aggregate balance of (i) stock options exercised and
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outstanding at a fungible factor of 1.0 shares and (ii) unit based awards at a fungible factor of 1.0 shares for each share of our Common Stock issued pursuant to any equity settled awards granted

under the Plan. Accordingly, the number of shares available for future awards under the Plan may be different than the amount shown in this column.

The only equity compensation plan approved by our stockholders is our 2007 Equity Incentive Plan, which is an amendment and restatement of our 2005 Equity Incentive Plan.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required regarding related transactions is incorporated herein by reference from the information contained in the section entitled “Certain Relationships and Related
Transactions” and, with respect to director independence, the section entitled “Proposal 1 - Election of Directors”, in our Proxy Statement.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required is incorporated herein by reference from the information contained in the sections entitled “Principal Accountant Fees and Services” and “Pre-Approval
Policies and Procedures” in the proposal entitled “Ratification of Selection of Independent Auditors” in our Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
(1) Financial Statements

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 5363
Consolidated Statements of Operations 5666
Consolidated Balance Sheets 5767
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow 5868
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity 5969
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 6070
Supplementary Data (Unaudited) 7999
(2) Financial Statement Schedules
None.
(3) Exhibits
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Exhibit No.
2.1

Description

Cooperation Agreement, dated August 19, 2024, between Gran Tierra
Energy Inc. and i3 Energy Plc.

Reference

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on August 20, 2024 (SEC File No. 001-34018).

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the
SEC on November 4, 2016 (SEC File No. 001-34018).
3.2 Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation of Gran Tierra Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the
Energy Inc., effective May 5, 2023. SEC on May 5, 2023 (SEC File No. 001-34018).
3.3 Bylaws of Gran Tierra Energy_Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the
SEC on November 4, 2016 (SEC File No. 001-34018).
3.4 Amendment No.1 to Bylaws of Gran Tierra Energy_Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the
SEC on August 4, 2021 (SEC File No. 001-34018).
4.1 Subscription Receipt Agreement, dated July 8, 2016, by and between Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the
Gran Tierra Energy._Inc. and Computershare Trust Company of Canada.  SEC on July 14, 2016 (SEC File No. 001-34018).
4.2 Indenture related to the 6.25% Senior Notes due 2025, dated as of Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Eebruary 15, 2018, between Gran Tierra Energy_International Holdings SEC on February 16, 2018 (SEC File No. 001-34018).
Ltd., the Guarantors named therein and U.S. Bank National Association.
4.3 Eirst Supplemental Indenture related to 6.25% Senior Notes due 2025, Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed
dated as of July 23, 2019, among_Gran Tierra Energy. Inc., the with the SEC on August 8, 2019 (SEC File No. 001-34018).
guarantors named therein, and U.S. Bank National Association.
4.4 Form of 6.25% Senior Notes due 2025. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 (included as Exhibit A to Exhibit 4.1) to the
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 16, 2018 (SEC File No. 001-
34018).
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Indenture related to the 7.750% Senior Notes due 2027, dated as of May
23,2019, among_Gran Tierra Energy. Inc., the guarantors named
therein,and U.S. Bank National Association.

Eirst Supplemental Indenture related to 7.750% Senior Notes due 2027,
dated as of July 23, 2019, among_Gran Tierra Energy. Inc., the
guarantors named therein, and U.S. Bank.

Form of 7.750% Senior Notes due 2027 (included as Exhibit A to Exhibit
4.1).

Indenture related to the 9.50% 9.50% Senior Notes due 2029, 2029,

dated as of October 20, 2023 October 20, 2023, among_Gran Tierra
Energy Inc., the guarantors named therein, and U.S. Bank National

Association.

Form of 9.500% Senior Secured Amortizing_Notes due 2029 (included as
Exhibit A to Exhibit 4.1)

Description of securities.

Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan*

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement Under the 2007 Equity.
Incentive Plan.*

Form of Option Agreement Under the 2007 Equity Incentive Plan.*

Form of Indemnity Agreement.*

Form of Deferred Stock Unit Award Agreement Under the 2007 Equity
Incentive Plan.*

Form of Deferred Stock Unit Grant Notice.*

Tierra Energy Canada ULC, Gran Tierra Energy_Inc. and Gary Guidry.*

Executive Employment Agreement effective May 11, 2015, between
Gran Tierra Energy Canada ULC, Gran Tierra Energy_Inc. and James

Evans.*

Executive Employment Agreement effective November 6, 2023, between
GTE Alberta Inc, Gran Tierra Energy._Inc. and Sebastien Morin.*

Form of Performance Stock Unit Award Agreement Under the 2007
Equity Incentive Plan.*

Form of Performance Stock Unit Grant Notice.*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on May 23, 2019 (SEC File No. 001-34018).

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed
with the SEC on August 8, 2019 (SEC File No. 001-34018).

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on May 23, 2019 (SEC File No. 001-34018).

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on October 24, 2023 (SEC File No. 001-34018).

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on October 24, 2023 (SEC File No. 001-34018).

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.11 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with
the SEC on February 27, 2020 (SEC File No. 001-34018).

Incorporated by reference to Appendix of the Definitive Proxy Statement filed with the
SEC on March 25, 2022 (SEC File No. 001-34018).

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with
the SEC on August 7, 2013 (SEC File No. 001-34018).

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with
the SEC on August 7, 2013 (SEC File No. 001-34018).

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.5 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on November 4, 2016 (SEC File No. 001-34018).

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with
the SEC on February 29, 2016 (SEC File No. 001-34018).

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with
the SEC on February 29, 2016 (SEC File No. 001-34018).

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed
with the SEC on November 4, 2015 (SEC File No. 001-34018).

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed
with the SEC on November 4, 2015 (SEC File No. 001-34018).

Filed herewith.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed
with the SEC on May 4, 2016 (SEC File No. 001-34018).

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed

with the SEC on May 4, 2016 (SEC File No. 001-34018).
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10.7510.74 Executive Employment Agreement effective May 11 2015, between Gran Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed
Tierra Energy Canada ULC, Gran Tierra Energy_Inc. and Ryan Ellson.* with the SEC on May 4, 2016 (SEC File No. 001-34018).
10.7610.75  Credit Agreement, dated as of August 18, 2022, by and among_Gran Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with
Tierra Energy. Inc., Gran Tierra Energy_Colombia GMBH, Gran Tierra SEC on August 23, 2022 (SEC File No. 001-34018).
Operations Colombia GMBH and Trafigura PTE Ltd. as a lender
10.7710.76 Deed of Amendment and Restatement to Credit Agreement dated Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with
September 19, 2023 by and among_Gran Tierra Energy, Inc., Gran Tierra  the SEC on November 1, 2023 (SEC File No. 001-34018).
Energy Colombia GmbH, Gran Tierra Operations Colombia GmbH. and
Trafigura PTE Ltd. as a lender.
10.7810.77 Colombian Participation Agreement, dated as of June 22, 2006, by and Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.55 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed
among_Argosy_Energy International, Gran Tierra Energy Inc., and Crosby with the SEC on August 11, 2008 (SEC File No. 001-34018).
Capital, LLC.
10.7910.78  Amendment No. 1 to Colombian Participation Agreement, dated as of Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.56 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed
November 1, 2006, by and among_Argosy_Energy International, Gran with the SEC on August 11, 2008 (SEC File No. 001-34018).
Tierra Energy Inc., and Crosby Capital, LLC.
10.8010.79  Amendment No. 2 to Colombian Participation Agreement, dated as of Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A, filed
July 3, 2008, between Gran Tierra Energy Inc. and Crosby Capital, LLC.  with the SEC on November 19, 2008 (SEC File No. 001-34018).
10.8110.80  Amendment No. 3 to Participation Agreement, dated as of December 31, Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with
2008, by and among_Gran Tierra Energy Colombia, Ltd., Gran Tierra the SEC on January 7, 2009 (SEC File No. 001-34018).
Energy Inc. and Crosby Capital, LLC.
10.8210.81  Amendment No. 4 dated June 13, 2011, to the Colombian Participation Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with
Agreement dated June 22, 2006, between Gran Tierra Colombia Ltd and the SEC on May 7, 2012 (SEC File No. 001-34018).
Crosby Capital, LLC.
10.8310.82  Amendment No. 5 dated February 10, 2011, to the Colombian Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with
Participation Agreement dated June 22, 2006, between Gran Tierra the SEC on May 7, 2012 (SEC File No. 001-34018).
Colombia Ltd and Crosby Capital, LLC.
10.8410.83 Amendment No. 6 dated March 1, 2012, to the Colombian Participation Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with
Agreement dated June 22, 2006, between Gran Tierra Colombia Ltd and the SEC on May 7, 2012 (SEC File No. 001-34018).
Crosby Capital, LLC.
10.84 Form of Deed of Irrevocable Undertaking. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on August 20, 2024 (SEC File No. 001-34018).
10.85 Term Loan Facility Agreement, dated as of August 19, 2024, between Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with
Gran Tierra Energy. Inc., as borrower, and Trafigura PTE Ltd., as lender.  the SEC on November 4, 2024 (SEC File No. 001-34018).
10.86 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2024, Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with
between i3 Energy Canada Ltd., as borrower, the lenders party thereto, ~ the SEC on November 4, 2024 (SEC File No. 001-34018).
and National Bank of Canada, as administrative agent, and National
Bank Financial Markets, as lead arranger.t
19.1 Insider trading_policy Filed herewith.
112
21.1 List of subsidiaries. Filed herewith.
23.1 Consent of KPMG LLP. Filed herewith.
23.2 Consent of McDaniel & Associates Consultants Ltd. Filed herewith.
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1273441/000114420408045272/v122655_ex10-56.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1273441/000114420408065459/v132937_ex10-3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1273441/000114420409000709/v136372_ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1273441/000114036112023165/ex10_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1273441/000114036112023165/ex10_2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1273441/000114036112023165/ex10_9.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1273441/000110465924091017/tm2422097d1_ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1273441/000127344124000036/a20240930-ex102.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1273441/000127344124000036/a20240930-ex103.htm

24.1 Power of Attorney. See signature page.

311 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a- Filed herewith.
14(a)/15d-14(a),_as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a- Filed herewith.
14(a)/15d-14(a),_as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

321 Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer  Furnished herewith.
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley_ Act of 2002.

97.1 Gran Tierra Energy Inc. Clawback Policy, Filed herewith.

99.1 Gran Tierra Energy Inc. Reserves Assessment and Evaluation of Oil and  Filed herewith.
Natural Gas Properties Corporate Summary, effective December 31
2023December 31, 2023.

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL
document

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104. Cover Page Interactive Data File - the cover page XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
1 Certain confidential information contained in this agreement has been omitted because it is both (i) not material and (i) the type of information that the Company treats as private
or confidential.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.

GRAN TIERRA ENERGY INC.
Date: February 20, 2024 February 24, 2025 /sl Gary S. Guidry

By: Gary S. Guidry
President and Chief Executive Officer, Director

(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: February 20, 2024 February 24, 2025 /s/ Ryan Ellson

By: Ryan Ellson
Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President, Finance

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Gary S. Guidry and Ryan Ellson, and each of them, as
his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and re-substitution, for him and in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and
all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection
therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and
every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming
all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of them, or their or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities
and on the dates indicated:

Name Title Date

/sl Gary S. Guidry President and Chief Executive Officer, Director February 20, 2024 24, 2025
Gary S. Guidry (Principal Executive Officer)

/sl Ryan Ellson Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President, Finance February 20, 2024 24, 2025
Ryan Ellson (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/sl Peter Dey Director February 20, 2024 24, 2025
Peter Dey

/sl Evan Hazell Director February 20, 2024 24, 2025
Evan Hazell

/sl Alison Redford Director February 20, 2024 24, 2025

Alison Redford

/s/ Robert B. Hodgins Director February 20, 2024 24, 2025

Robert B. Hodgins

/s/ Ronald Royal Director February 20, 2024 24, 2025
Ronald Royal
/s/ Sondra Scott Director February 20, 2024 24, 2025

Sondra Scott

/s/ David P. Smith Director February 20, 2024 24, 2025
David P. Smith

/sl Brooke Wade Director February 20, 2024 24, 2025
Brooke Wade
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Exhibit 10.72 EXHIBIT 19.1
EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
BETWEEN:
GTE ALBERTA INC., an Alberta corporation (“‘GTE INC") andGRAN TIERRA ENERGY INC., a Delaware corporation (“Gran Tierra”)
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INSIDER TRADING POLICY
I. INTRODUCTION

(GTE ULC Federal and Gran Tierra are collectively state laws in Canada, the United States of America and United Kingdom laws and regulations, including the
Disclosure and Transparency Rules and the UK Market Abuse Regulations (altogether referred to herein as the “Laws”), prohibit buying, selling or making other
transfers of securities by persons who have material information that is not generally known or available to the public (“inside information”). These Laws also
prohibit persons with such information from disclosing it to others who trade. During the course of your employment, directorship or consultancy with Gran Tierra
Energy Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively “Gran Tierra” or the “Company”), you may receive inside information about the Company or about other publicly-traded
companies with which the Company has or may be considering business dealings.

Use of inside information to gain personal benefit, or pass on, or “tip,” the inside information to someone who uses it for personal benefit (a “tippee”) is illegal,
regardless of the quantity of shares, and -is therefore prohibited. You can be held liable both for your own transactions and for transactions effected by a tippee, or
even a tippee of a tippee. Furthermore, it is important that the appearance of insider trading in securities be avoided.

SEBASTIEN MORINIn light of the foregoing, the Company has adopted the following policy (the “Policy”) regarding trading in securities by our employees,
directors and consultants and the persons closely associated with them. We designed this Policy to promote compliance with the various Laws and to protect the
Company and you from the serious liabilities and penalties that can result from violations of these Laws. You are, however, responsible for ensuring that you do not
violate Laws or this Policy.

The policies and procedures included herein apply to all directors, officers, employees and consultants of the Company. These policies and procedures also apply to
family members who reside with you (including a spouse, a child, a child away at college, stepchildren, grandchildren, parents, stepparents, grandparents, siblings
and in-laws), anyone else who lives in your household (other than household employees), any family members who do not live in your household but whose
transactions in Company securities are directed by you or are subject to your influence or control, such as parents or children who consult with you before they trade
in Company securities, corporations or other business entities controlled or managed by you, and trusts for which you are the trustee or otherwise influence or
control (collectively, “Covered Persons”). The Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), the UK Financial Conduct Authority and federal prosecutors may
presume that trading by Covered Persons is based on information you supplied and may treat any such transactions as if you had traded yourself.

There is no exception for small transactions or transactions that may seem necessary or justifiable for independent reasons, such as the need to raise money for an
individual ordinarily residentemergency expenditure. You are responsible for ensuring that Covered Persons with whom you have a relationship comply with this
Policy.

Il. DEFINITIONS

A. Definition of Inside Information.

“Inside information” is information that is both (i) material and (ii) not generally known or available to the public.

1. Material Information.

As a practical matter, it is sometimes difficult to determine whether information is material. The key to determining whether information is “material” is whether
dissemination of the information would likely affect the market price of the company’s stock or would likely be considered important by investors who are considering
trading in Bragg Creekthat company’s stock.

Certainly, if the information makes you want to trade, it would probably have the same effect on others. Both positive and negative information can be material. If
you possess material information about a company, you may not trade that company’s securities, advise anyone else to do so or communicate the information to

anyone else until you know that the information has been disseminated to the public. Information that could be “material” about the Company includes information
about:
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(a) financial or operational results or forecasts;
(b) major new projects;
(c) acquisitions or dispositions of assets, divisions companies, etc.;
(d) pending public or private sales of debt or equity securities or declaration of a stock split, dividend or changes in dividend policy;
(e) major contract awards, farm-ins, farm-outs or cancellations of contracts;
(f) drilling or seismic results;
(g) major environmental incidents;
(h) top management or control changes;
(i) possible tender offers or proxy fights;
(j) significant writeoffs or impairments;
(k) significant litigation;
(I) material defaults under agreements or actions by creditors, customers or suppliers relating to a company’s credit rating;
(m) extraordinary borrowing or liquidity problems or impending bankruptcy;
(n) major data security breaches; and
(o) gain or loss of a significant customer or supplier.

2. Nonpublic Information.

“Nonpublic” information is information that is not generally available to the investing public. You may not trade based on material nonpublic information until it has
been disseminated to the public. For information to be considered publicly disseminated, it must be (i) widely disclosed through a press release or filing with the
SEC, and (ii) a sufficient amount of time must have passed to allow the information to be fully absorbed and evaluated by the marketplace. Generally, we consider
information to be nonpublic until one full trading day has elapsed following public disclosure. For example, if an announcement of inside information of which you
were aware was made prior to the trading market open on Wednesday then you may execute a transaction in the Province Company’s securities on Thursday
(assuming you are not aware of Albertaany other inside information at such time). If, however, announcement of such information was not made until during trading
hours on Wednesday, then you could not execute a transaction in the Company’s securities until Friday.

B. Definition of Trading.
For purposes of this Policy, references to “trading”, “trade” and “transactions” include, among other things:

* purchases and sales of Company securities in public markets;
(+ discretionary exercise of employee stock options granted by the “Executive”)
(GTE INC, Gran Tierra and the Executive Company, including if no shares are collectively referred to herein as the “Parties”

and individually referred to herein asbe sold or if there is a “Party”)
RECITALS:
A. The Executive has been employed by GTE INC since November 6, 2023, in the position of Chief Operating Officer (COO) “net exercise”;

B.« GTE INC wishes broker-assisted cashless exercises, which involves the broker selling some or all of the shares underlying the option on the open market;

« sales of Company securities obtained through the exercise of employee stock options granted by the Company;

« gifts of Company securities (including charitable donations) if you have reason to continue believe that the recipient intends to employ sell the Company
securities while you have inside information;

« short sales and transactions in put or call options;

« hedging transactions or other inherently speculative transactions with respect to the Company’s stock at any time;

« using Company securities to secure a loan;

« an election to take deferred stock units (DSUs) instead of cash.

Note that a “net exercise” is the use of the underlying shares to pay the exercise price and/or tax withholding obligations.
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Conversely, references to “trading” and “transactions” do not include:
« the automatic vesting of restricted stock, restricted stock units, DSUs, performance stock units or stock options;
« an employee stock option becoming exercisable;
« the automatic exercise of employee stock options;
» the sale of shares under an automatic cashless exercise facility; or

« the automatic withholding of shares to satisfy a tax withholding obligation upon the vesting of restricted stock or restricted stock units.

INSIDER TRADING POLICY
A. General Policy.
1. WindowPeriod.

You may buy, sell or trade securities of the Company only during a specified “Window Period”. The Window Period will open at the start of the trading day that is
one full trading day after general public release of the Company’s annual or quarterly revenues. The Window Period will close on the earlier of (i) 30 calendar days
before the release of the Company’s next set of annual or quarterly revenues and (ii) the last day of the quarter. The Window Period may be closed early or may not
open at all if, in the judgment of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, there exists undisclosed information that would make trades
generally or by certain individuals inappropriate. In such events, the Company may notify generally or if relating to particular individuals, that they should not engage
in any transactions involving the purchase or sale of Company securities, and should not disclose to others the fact that the Window Period as applicable to such
person has been closed. Generally, all pending purchase and sale orders regarding Company securities that could be executed while the Window Period is open
must be executed or cancelled before it closes.

Directors, officers and other designated persons are subject to the additional requirements specified in Section I11.B.
2. No Trading While Aware of Inside Information.

Even if the Window Period is open, you may not trade in the stock or other securities of any company when you are aware of inside information about that company.
This policy against “insider trading” applies to trading in Company securities, as well as to trading in the securities of other companies, such as the Company’s
customers, suppliers or companies with which the Company may be negotiating a major transaction. As such, if you become aware of inside information about a
business partner of the Company, you may not trade in that company’s securities until such information ceases to be material or becomes public.

3. No Tipping.

You may not convey (whether through traditional means, social media or otherwise) inside information about the Company or another company to others, or suggest
that anyone purchase or sell any company’s securities while you are aware of inside information about that company. This practice, known as “tipping”, also violates
the Laws and can result in the same civil and criminal penalties that apply if you engage in insider trading directly, even if you do not receive any money or derive
any benefit from trades made by persons to whom you passed inside information. This policy against “tipping” applies to information about the Company
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and its securities, as well as to information about other companies. Persons with whom you have a history, pattern or practice of sharing confidences - such as
family members, close friends and financial and personal counsellors - may be presumed to act on the basis of information known to you; therefore, special care
should be taken so that inside information is not disclosed to such persons. This policy does not restrict legitimate business communications to Company personnel
who require the information in order to perform their business duties. Inside information, however, should not be disclosed to persons outside the Company unless
you are specifically authorized to disclose such information and the Executive wishes person receiving the information has agreed, in writing, if appropriate, to
continue keep the information confidential.

4. Prohibited and Discouraged Transactions.
(a) Speculative Transactions.

You may not engage in speculative transactions in Company securities, including trading in puts or calls in Company securities, or selling Company
securities short. A put is a right to sell at a specified price a specific number of shares by a certain date and is utilized in anticipation of a decline in the stock
price. A call is a right to buy at a specified price a specified number of shares by a certain date and is utilized in anticipation of a rise in the stock price.
Selling short is the practice of selling more shares than you own, which is a technique used to speculate on a decline in the stock price.

(b) Hedging Transactions.

Because certain forms of hedging transactions, such employment;as zero cost collars and forward sale contracts, in certain instances involve the
establishment of a short position (or an equivalent position) in Company securities and limit or eliminate the ability to profit from an increase in the value of
Company securities, you may not engage in any hedging transactions involving Company securities (i.e., the purchase of any financial instrument that is
designed to hedge or offset any decrease in the market value of equity securities of the Company, whether granted as compensation or held directly or
indirectly. Financial instruments include, but are not limited to, prepaid variable forward contracts, equity swaps, collars and exchange funds).

(c) Pledging and Trading on Margin.

Because securities held on margin (or margined) or pledged as collateral may be sold without your consent if you fail to meet a margin call
or if you default on a loan, a margin or foreclosure sale may result in unlawful insider trading. Because of this danger, you are prohibited from
margining Company securities or pledging Company securities as collateral for a loan.

B. Additional Guidelines and Requirements for Officers, Directors and other Designated Persons.

1. Overview.

The Executive has also been employedBoard of Directors of the Company believes that officers, directors, and employees of the Company
should have a meaningful investment in the Company. However, hindsight can be remarkably acute, and an accusation can always be made that at
any particular time a purchase or sale of securities by Gran Tierra and servedan insider was motivated by undisclosed favorable or unfavorable
information. In such circumstances, the appearance of impropriety can be almost as problematic as an actual abuse, both to the Company and to the
insider involved. Thus, there are additional guidelines and requirements which apply to directors, officers and other designated persons involved with
the Company because they may become aware of information that could be material to a stockholder’s investment decision.

2. Definition of Director, Officer and Other Designated Persons.

Section I11.B applies to officers, directors and other designated persons; however, even if you are not an officer, director or other designated person, following
the procedures listed below may assist you in complying with this Policy. For purposes of this Policy, “directors” will mean any director of Gran Tierra; “officers” will
mean any employee of Gran Tierra since November 6, 2023.

In consideration of the above and for other good and valuable consideration, including enhancements to the Executive’s entitlement to an annual
bonus and increasing the amount payable to the Executive in the event the Executive’s employment is terminated without cause or terminated
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contemporaneously with a Change of Control (as defined below), the Parties agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1
DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

1.1 Position

On the terms and subject to the conditions hereinafter contained, reporting requirements of Section 16 of the United States Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) together with any other employees with the title of Vice President; and “other designated persons” will mean
such other persons affiliated with the Company as the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer may designate from time to time because of their access
to sensitive Company information. Such other persons will continue in employmentreceive written notice of such designation. Directors, officers and other
designated persons will be required to certify their understanding of and intent to comply with GTE INC as its Chief Operating Officer and as Chief Operating Officer
of Gran Tierra. The Executive shall reportthis Policy periodically. Generally, Covered Persons with whom you have a relationship should be considered to and be
subject to the general direction of same restrictions in this Section I11.B to the President and Chief Executive Officer of Gran Tierra (the “President”) and shall
undertake those duties customarily performed by a person holding the same or equivalent position in entities of a similar size, engaged in a similar
business, as well as such other related duties that may be reasonably assigned by the President.

1.2 Exclusive Service & Other Engagements extent applicable to you.

The Executive will faithfully serve the Company 3. Pre-Clearance or Advance Notice of Transactions.

Directors, officers and will devote his full time and attention to the business and affairs of the Company and the performance of the Executive's duties and
responsibilities hereunder.

The Executive shallother designated persons may not engage in any transaction in the Company’s securities without first obtaining pre-clearance
of the transaction from the Company’s Chief Executive Officer or the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, or either of their designates (any, a “Clearing
Officer”). A Clearing Officer will then determine whether the transaction may proceed and, if so, will direct the Company’s Corporate Secretary to assist in
complying with any reporting requirements under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act and Article 19 of the UK Market Abuse Regulation (or any other business,
profession or occupation which would conflict with the performance of his duties and responsibilities under this Agreement, either directly or indirectly, including
accepting any appointment reporting requirements).

All requests must be submitted to the board of directors of another company without the prior written consent Clearing Officer at least two full business days in
advance of the board proposed transaction. The Clearing Officer will then determine whether the transaction may proceed. This preclearance policy applies even if
you are initiating a transaction while a Window Period is open.

If a transaction is approved under the preclearance policy, the transaction may be executed as soon as such pre-clearance is obtained, and must be completed
within five business days (or, such shorter period of directorstime as specified by the Clearing Officer) of Gran Tierra (the “Board”).receiving approval to engage
in the transaction, but regardless may not be

1.3 Reassignment

executed if you acquire inside information concerning the Company during that time. If the transaction is not completed within such timeframe,
you must re-seek pre-clearance under the provisions of this Section I11.B.3. If a proposed transaction is not approved under the pre-clearance policy,
you should refrain from initiating any transaction in Company securities, and you should not inform anyone within or outside of the Company of the
restriction.

Pre-clearance may be given subject to conditions and where this is the case, these conditions must be observed when transacting. The Executive
agrees Company will maintain a record of its response to any trade request and of any pre-clearance given and provide a copy to the person seeking
the pre-clearance.
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As soon as the transaction has completed and no later than three business days after the transaction, the Company’s Corporate Secretary must
be advised by the director, officer or other applicable designated person of the details (date, share price and number of shares acquired/sold),
including where an investment manager (whether discretionary or not) is used, such investment manager must notify the director, officer or other
applicable designated person promptly of any transactions conducted on their behalf to allow notification to the Company within the above time frame.

To the extent possible, advance notice of gifts, an intent to exercise an outstanding stock option, or upcoming transactions effected pursuant to a
Plan in Section 111.B.4 will be given to a Clearing Officer. Upon the completion of any transaction, the officer, director or other designated person must
immediately notify the appropriate persons as set forth in Section 2 of the Company’s Section 16 Compliance Program so that the Company may
modify assist in the Section 16 reporting obligations

4. Rule 10b5-1 Automatic Trading Programs.

Purchases or remove the Executive’s assigned duties; or change the place sales of the Executive's employment without additional compensation Company’s
securities made pursuant to, and in compliance with, a written plan (a “Plan”) established by a director, officer or other designated person that meets the
requirements of Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act may be made provided that (i) the Plan was established in good faith, in compliance with the requirements of
Rule 10b5-1, at the time when such individual was not in possession of inside information about the Company and such individual was permitted to trade under this
Policy (i.e., it was during an open window period and the Company had not imposed any trading blackout period on such individual), and (ii) the Plan allows for the
cancellation by the Company. Purchases or sales of the Company’s securities made pursuant to, and in compliance with, the Plan may not be made while a Window
Period is closed. The Company must be notified of any amendments to the Executive, Plan or the termination of the Plan.

Under Rule 10b5-1(c), if you enter into a binding contract, an instruction or a written plan that specifies the amount, price and date on which
securities are to be purchased or sold, and these arrangements are established at a time when you are not aware of inside information. A plan
effected in accordance with the rule may specify amount, price and date through a formula or may specify trading parameters which another person
has discretion to administer, but you must not exercise any subsequent discretion affecting the transactions, and if your broker or any other person
exercises discretion in implementing the trades, you must not influence his or

her actions and he or she must not be aware of any inside information at the time of the trades. Trading plans can be established for a single
trade or a series of trades.

It is important that you properly document the details of a trading plan. Note that, in addition to the requirements described above, there are a
number of additional procedural conditions to Rule 10b5-1(c) that must be satisfied before you can rely on a trading plan as an affirmative defense
against an insider trading charge. These requirements include that you act in good faith, that you do not modify your trading instructions while you are
aware of inside information and that you not enter into or alter a corresponding or hedging transaction or position. Because this rule is complex, the
Company recommends that you work with a broker and be sure you fully understand the limitations and conditions of the rule before you establish a
trading plan.

5. Short-Swing Trading/Section 16 Reports.

Directors, officers and greater than 10% beneficial owners of the Company’s common stock (each, a “Section 16 Insider”) will also be required to comply with
the reporting obligations and limitations on short-swing transactions set forth in Section 16 of the 1934 Act. The practical effect of these provisions is that (a) Section
16 Insiders will be required to report transactions in Company securities (usually within two business days of the date of the transaction) and (b) Section 16 Insiders
who both purchase and then sell Company securities within a six-month period will be required to disgorge all profits to the Company whether or not they had
knowledge of any inside information.

If you are a director or officer, you may be deemed to be an “affiliate” of the Company. Consequently, shares of Company common stock held by
you may be considered to be “restricted securities” or “control securities”, the sale of which are subject to compliance with Rule 144 under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (or any other applicable exemption under the federal securities laws). If this is the case, note that Rule 144 places
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limits on the number of shares you may be able to sell and provides that certain procedures must be followed before you can sell shares of Company
common stock.

Officers and directors subject to the reporting obligations under Section 16 of the Exchange Act should take care not to violate the prohibition on
short-swing trading (Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act) and the restrictions on sales by control persons (Rule 144), and should file all appropriate
Section 16(a) reports (Forms 3, 4 and 5), all of which have been enumerated and described in a separate Section 16 Compliance Memorandum.

C. Unauthorized Disclosure.

All directors, officers, employees and consultants must maintain the confidentiality of Company information for competitive, security and other
business reasons, as well as to comply with securities laws. All information you learn about the Company or its business plans is potentially non-public
information until we publicly disclose it. You should treat this information as confidential and proprietary to the Company. You may not

disclose it (whether through traditional means, social media or otherwise) to others, such as family members, other relatives, or business or social
acquaintances.

In addition, legal rules govern the timing and nature of our disclosure of material information to outsiders or the public. Violation of these rules
could result in substantial liability for you, the Company and its management. For this reason, we permit only specifically designated representatives of
the Company to discuss the Company with the news media, securities analysts and investors and only in accordance with the Company’s needs. The
parties acknowledge and agree that any such change Disclosure Policy. If you receive inquiries of duties and responsibilities will not amount to, or
constitute a constructive dismissal at common law, nor provide the Executive with Good Reason, so long as the change in duties and responsibilities
are comparable this nature, please refer them to the Executive’s existing duties and commensurate with the position then held by the Executive.

1.4 Travel

The Executive shall work Chief Financial Officer, at GTE INC'’s offices in Calgary, Alberta. The Executive shall be available for such business-
related travel as may be required for the purposes of carrying out the Executive's duties and responsibilities hereunder. Such travel shall be in
accordance with+1 403-265-3221 (extension 2223), or the Company’'s travel policy as amended from time Compliance Officer by email at:
complianceofficer@grantierra.com or by telephone at +1 403-265-3221 (extension 2010).

D. Non-Compliance.

Each director, employee or consultant who fails to time.
ARTICLE 2
BASE SALARY

The Company comply with this Policy will pay the Executive an annual salary of $400,000Canadian Dollars, be subject to applicable statutory
deductions (the “Base Salary”). The Executive’s Base Salary will be payable in accordancedisciplinary action, which could include termination of
employment. In addition, violation of the insider trading laws is subject to both civil liability and criminal penalties, which could include a jail sentence of
up to 20 years. If you have any questions about these matters you should speak with the Company’s practices and procedures as they may exist from
time to time. Base Salary will be reviewed and may be increased on an annual basis.

ARTICLE 3
BONUS

1.1 Bonus Eligibility

The Executive shall be eligible to receive a target annual bonus of 80% of Base Salary in additionyour own attorney or to the Executive’'s Base
Salary and other compensation for each year of the Executive’s employment (the “Bonus”) Chief Financial Officer, at 403-265-3221 (extension 2223).
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1.2 Bonus Payment

The Bonus shall be payable by the Company shortly after the finalization of year end financials and will be based upon factors determined by the
Board, including but not limited to financial, operating, and strategic goals, and the Executive’s performance during the preceding year.

ARTICLE 4
BENEFITS

The Executive will be entitled E. Post-Termination Transactions.

This Policy continues to participate in and apply to receive all rights and benefits under any life insurance, disability, medical, dental, health and
accident plans maintained by the Company for its employees and for its executive officers specifically. The Company will continue to pay the
Executive’s Base Salary in the event that the Executive becomes disabled until such time as the Executive begins to receive short-term or long-term
disability insurance benefits or a final decision is made that there is no such entitlement.

ARTICLE 5
VACATION

The Executive will be entitled to twenty-five (25) days’ paid vacation per year. This vacation entitlement shall be earned over the course of each
year that the Executive is employed, and the Executive shall be entitled to a proportionate period of vacation for any period of less than a full year of
employment. The Executive will arrange vacation time to suit the essential business needs of the Company. Unused vacation entitlement in any year
will be carried over into the following calendar year to a maximum entitlement of thirty (30) days in any one year. Upon termination for any reason, the
Executive will be paid out any accrued but unused vacation entitlement.

ARTICLE 6
LONG TERM INCENTIVE PROGRAM (“LTIP")

The Executive will be eligible to participate your transactions in the Company’s Long Term Incentive Plan. The Executive’s Long Term Incentive
target will be 320% of Base Salary, in accordancesecurities even after your employment, directorship or consultancy with the terms and
conditions Company ends. If you are in possession of Gran Tierra’s 2007 Equity Incentive Plan, to be amended from time to time (the “Plan”). The
Executive will be eligible to participate inside information when your employment, directorship or consultancy terminates, you may not trade in the Plan
and in all applicable future stock option plans and/or incentive award plans as approved by the Board. In the event that the Executive’s employment is
terminated for any reason, the Executive’s equity in the Company as well as any option grants (vested and non-vested options) in the Company, shall
be governed by the terms and conditions of the Plan, without regard to any termination notice, payment in lieu of notice, or combination thereof that
may be required pursuant to this Agreement or the common law.

ARTICLE 7
PERQUISITES AND EXPENSES

The Executive shall be reimbursed for all reasonable out of pocket expenses incurred in the course of his employment, upon providing
reasonable substantiation and appropriate receipts for such expenditures.

ARTICLE 8
TERM AND TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT

1.1 Term
The Executive’s term of employment commenced on November 6, 2023 and will continue until terminated in accordance with this Article 8.
1.2 Termination Without Notice

This Agreement and the Executive’s employment hereunder may be terminated, without advance notice of termination or pay in lieu of such
notice, whether under contract, statute, common law or otherwise, in the following circumstances:

(a) Voluntary Resignation

In the event that the Executive voluntarily resigns, except where the Executive resigns for Good Reason, the Executive will give
ninety (90) days’ advance written notice. The Executive will not be entitled to receive any further compensation or benefits whatsoever
other than those which have accrued up to the Executive’s last day of active service. The Company may, at its discretion, waive in whole
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or in part such notice by providing the Executive with payment in lieu equal to all amounts that would have been paid to the Executive for
the remainder of such notice period;

(b) Cause

The Company may terminate the employment of the Executive at any time without notice for Cause. The Executive will not be
entitled to receive any further compensation or benefits whatsoever other than those which have accrued up to the Executive’s last day
of active service.

"Cause" means any act or omission of the Executive which would, at common law, permit an employer to, without notice or payment
in lieu of notice, terminate the employment of an employee.

(c) Death

In the event of the death of the Executive during the term of this Agreement, the Parties agree and acknowledge that this
Agreement and the Executive’'s employment hereunder will be deemed to be terminated and the Company will not be obligated to
provide the Executive, or his estate, with any additional compensation excepting that which had already accrued to the Executive up to
and including the date of termination, and any other death benefits that may be payable pursuant to the terms of applicable insurance
coverage.

1.3 Termination by the Company without Cause

The Company may terminate the Executive’s employment without Cause at any time by providing the Executive with a separation package (the
“Separation Package”) equal to one and a half (1 12)times the Base Salary and the Bonus that was paid or was payable to the Executive during the
twelve (12) month period prior to the termination date.

The Separation Package shall be payable in a lump sum within thirty (30) days of the termination date. The Executive shall not be required to
mitigate any portion of the Separation Package by seeking other employment nor shall it be reduced by any remuneration or compensation earned by
the Executive after the termination date.

1.4 Termination by the Executive for Good Reason.

Should the Executive terminate his employment for Good Reason, as hereinafter defined, he shall receive the Separation Package set out in
section 8.3. Failure of the Executive to terminate his employment on the occurrence of any event which would constitute Good Reason shall not
constitute waiver of his rights under section 8.4 or section 8.3, provided that the Executive tenders his resignation within thirty (30) days after the
occurrence of the event that forms the basis for the resignation for Good Reason and provided, however, except in the event of a Change of Control
(as hereinafter defined), that the Executive has provided written notice to the Company describing the nature of the event that the Executive believes
forms the basis for the resignation for Good Reason, and the Company shall thereafter have ten (10) days to cure such event.

“Good Reason” is defined as the occurrence of any of the following without the Executive’s express written consent:

(a) an adverse change in the Executive’s position, titles, duties or responsibilities (including new, additional or changed formal or
informal reporting responsibilities) or any failure to re-elect or re-appoint him to any such positions, titles, duties or offices, except in
connection with the termination of his employment for Cause;

(b) a reduction by the Company of the Executive’s Base Salary except to the extent that the annual base salaries of all other executive
officers securities of the Company are similarly reduced or any change in the basis upon other publicly-traded companies with which the
Executive’s annual compensation is determined or paid if the change is or will be adverse to the Executive except that an award of any
annual performance bonuses (including the Bonus) by the Company’s Compensation Committee (and approved by the Board) are
discretionary Company has business, and in no instance shall be considered adverse to Executive if such performance bonus is reduced
from a prior year or if an annual performance bonus is not paid;

(c) both a Change in Control and a Triggering Event occur:
(d) any breach by the Company of any material provision of this Agreement.
“Change in Control” is defined as:

(a) a dissolution, liquidation, sale, lease or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of Gran Tierra or GTE INC;
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(b) a majority of the voting securities of GTE INC ceasing to be controlled, directly or indirectly, by Gran Tierra, where “voting securities”
means any securities carrying a right to vote in respect of the election of directors under all circumstances or under circumstances
thatyou have occurred and are continuing; or

(c) an amalgamation, arrangement, merger or other consolidation of Gran Tierra with or into any one or more other corporations
pursuant to which any person or combination of persons thereafter hold a greater number of voting securities or other securities of the
successor or continuing corporation having rights of purchase, conversion or exchange into voting securities of the successor or
continuing corporation (assuming the purchase, conversion or exchange of such other securities whether then purchasable, convertible
or exchangeable or not into the highest number of voting securities of the successor or continuing corporation such persons would be
entitled to) than the number of voting securities of the successor or continuing corporation held directly and indirectly by former
shareholders of Gran Tierra, where “voting securities” means any securities carrying a right to vote in respect of the election of directors
under all circumstances or under circumstances that have occurred and are continuing.

“Triggering Event” means the occurrence of any of the following:

(a) the Employer’s material diminution of the Employee’s position, authority or scope or scale of duties or responsibilities as in effect
immediately prior to the Change of Control;

(b) a material reduction by the Employer of the Employee’s annual base salary as in effect immediately prior to the Change of Control;

(c) any failure to maintain reasonable and adequate insurance or indemnification in respect of the Employee’s services as an officer or
director of the Employer; or

(d) the failure of the Employer to require any successor (by purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise) to all or substantially all of
the business and/or assets of the Employer, by agreement in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Employee, to expressly
assume and agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent that the Employer would be required to
perform it if no such succession had taken place.

1.5 Resignation of Offices Held

In the event that this Agreement or the Executive’s employment hereunder is terminated for any reason, the Executive agrees to resign effective
the termination date from any office or directorship held with or on behalf of Gran Tierra or a subsidiary, affiliated or related corporate entity ("Member
Company” or “Member Companies”). The Executive agrees that he shall execute any and all documents appropriate to evidence such resignations
and that he will not be entitled to any additional payments or compensation of any kind as consideration for doing so.

ARTICLE 9
DIRECTORS/OFFICERS LIABILITY

1.1 Indemnity

Gran Tierra shall provide to the Executive indemnification in accordance with the Indemnification Agreement dated as of November 6, 2023,
entered into between Gran Tierra and the Executive.

1.2 Insurance

(a) Gran Tierra shall purchase and maintain, throughout the period during which the Executive acts as a director or officer of Gran
Tierra or a Member Company and for a period of six yearsafter the date that the Executive ceases to act as a director or officer of Gran
Tierra or a Member Company, directors’ and officers’ liability insurance for the benefit of the Executive and the Executive’s heirs,
executors, administrators and other legal representatives, such that the Executive’s insurance coverage is, at all times, at least equal to
or better than any insurance coverage that Gran Tierra purchases and maintains for the benefit of its then current directors and officers,
from time to time.

(b) If for any reason whatsoever, any directors’ and officers’ liability insurer asserts that the Executive or the Executive’s heirs,
executors, administrators or other legal representatives are subject to a deductible under any existing or future directors’ and officers’
liability insurance purchased and maintained by Gran Tierra for the benefit of the Executive and the Executive’s heirs, executors,
administrators and other legal representatives, Gran Tierra shall pay the
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deductible for and on behalf of the Executive or the Executive’s heirs, executors, administrators or other legal representatives, as
the case may be.

1.3  Survival

The provisions of sections 9.1 and 9.2 of this Agreement shall survive the termination of this Agreement or the employment of the Executive and
such provisions shall continue in full force and effect in accordance with such Indemnification Agreement and the provisions of this Agreement for the
benefit of the Executive.

ARTICLE 10
NON-COMPETITION AND CONFIDENTIALITY

1.1 Fiduciary Duties & Non-Competition

The Executive recognizes and understands that in performing the duties and responsibilities as outlined in this Agreement, he will occupy a
position of high fiduciary trust and confidence, pursuant to which he has developed and will develop and acquire wide experience and
knowledgeinside information with respect to all aspects ofsuch companies, until the services and businesses carried on by Gran Tierra and its
Member Companies and the manner in which such businesses are conducted. The Executive agrees that such knowledge and experience shall be
used solely and exclusively in the furtherance of the business interests of Gran Tierra and its Member Companies and not in any manner detrimental
to them. The Executive further agrees that so long as the Executive is employed pursuant to this Agreement, the Executive shall not engage in any
practice or business in competition with the business of Gran Tierra or any of its Member Companies. The Executive further agrees that the
Executive’s fiduciary duties shall survive the termination of this Agreement in accordance with applicable law.

1.2 Confidentiality

The Executive further recognizes and understands that he is a key employee and willinformation has become knowledgeable, aware and
possessed of confidential and proprietary information, know-how, data, strategic studies, techniques, knowledge and other confidential information of
every kind or character relating to or connected with the business or corporate affairs and operations of Gran Tierra and its Member Companies, which
may include, without limitation, geophysical studies and data, market data, engineering information, shareholder data, compensation rates and
methods and personnel information (collectively “Confidential Information”) concerning the business of Gran Tierra and its Member Companies. The
Executive therefore agrees that, except with the consent of the President, he will not disclose such Confidential Information to any unauthorized
persons; provided that the foregoing shall not apply to any Confidential Information which is or becomes known to the public or to the competitors of
Gran Tierra or its Member Companies other than by a breach of this Agreement.

1.3 Following Termination of Agreement

Subject to this Article 10 and without otherwise restricting the fiduciary obligations imposed upon, or otherwise applicable to the Executive as a
result of the Executive having been a senior officer and key employee, the Executive shall not be prohibited from obtaining employment with or
otherwise forming or participating in a business competitive to the business of the Company after the termination of this Agreement and the
Executive’s employment hereunder.

1.4 Business Records

The Executive agrees to promptly deliver to the Company, upon termination of his employment for any reason, or at any other time when the
Company so requests, all documents relating to the business of Gran Tierra or its Member Companies, including, without limitation: all reports and
related data, such as summaries, memoranda and opinions relating to the foregoing, contract files, notes, records, manuals, correspondence, financial
and accounting information, client lists, statistical data and compilations, patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade names, methods, processes,
agreements, contacts or any other documents relating to the business of Gran Tierra or its Member Companies, and all copies thereof and therefrom
(collectively, the "BusinessRecords"). The Executive confirms that all the Business Records which are required to be delivered to the Company
pursuant to this Agreement constitute the exclusive property of Gran Tierra or its Member Companies. The obligations of confidentiality set forth in this
Agreement shall continue notwithstanding the Executive’s delivery of any such documents to the Company.

ARTICLE 11
CHANGES TO AGREEMENT

Any modifications or amendments to this Agreement must be in writing and signed by all Parties or else they shall haveis no force and effect.

ARTICLE 12
ENUREMENT

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 123/137
©2025 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

This Agreement shall enure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Parties and their respective successors and assigns, including without
limitation, the Executive’s heirs, executors, administrators, and personal representatives.

ARTICLE 13
GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION

This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the Province of Alberta and the federal laws of Canada applicable therein. Any
action arising from or relating any way to this Agreement, or otherwise arising from or relating to Executive’s employment hereunder, shall be tried in
the Court of Queen's Bench situated in Calgary, Alberta. The Parties consent to jurisdiction and venue in those courts to the greatest extent possible
under law.

ARTICLE 14
NOTICES

1.1 Notice to Executive

Any notice required or permitted to be given to the Executive shall be deemed to have been received if delivered personally to the Executive or
sent by courier to the Executive’s home address last known to the Company.

1.2 Notice to Company

Any notice required or permitted to be given to the Company shall be deemed to have been received if delivered personally to, sent by courier, or
sent by facsimile to:

Gran Tierra Energy Inc.
500 Centre Street S.E
Calgary, Alberta, Canada, T2G 1A6
Fax: +1 403 265-3242
Attn: President

ARTICLE 15
WITHHOLDING

All payments made to the Executive hereunder or for the benefit of the Executive shall be less applicable statutory withholdings and deductions.

ARTICLE 16
INDEPENDENT LEGAL ADVICE

The Executive acknowledges that the Executive has been advised to obtain independent legal advice with respect to entering into this
Agreement, that he has obtained such independent legal advice or has expressly deemed not to seek such advice, and that the Executive is entering
into this Agreement with full knowledge of the contents hereof, of the Executive’s own free will and with full capacity and authority to do so.

ARTICLE 17
COMPANY POLICIES

The Executive will comply with all Company policies and procedures (certain of which may be found on the “Corporate Responsibility” page at
www.grantierra.com), as may be amended by the Company from time to time (the "Company Policies"). The Executive agrees to review and provide
written acknowledgement on an annual basis of his acceptance of the Company Polices, including policies with respect to business conduct and
ethics, insider trading, complaints reporting, foreign corrupt practices, information security, computer use, and disclosure.

ARTICLE 18
WAIVER

No failure or delay by any Party in exercising any right, power or privilege under this Agreement will operate as a waiver of those rights, powers or
privileges, nor will any waiver in one instance be deemed to be a continuing waiver in any other instance.

ARTICLE 19
SEVERABILITY AND ENFORCEABILITY
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If any court of competent jurisdiction declares any provision of this Agreement invalid, void or unenforceable in whole or in part, for any reason, it
shall be deemed not to affect or impair the validity of the remainder of this Agreement, which shall remain in full force and effect. To the extent that any
court of competent jurisdiction concludes that any provision of this Agreement is void or voidable, the court shall reform such provision(s) to render the
provision(s) enforceable, but only to the extent absolutely necessary to render the provision(s) enforceable.

ARTICLE 20
PRIVACY

The Executive acknowledges and agrees that he will take all necessary steps to protect and maintain the Personal Information (information about
an identifiable individual) of the employees, consultants or customers of the Company obtained in the course of the Executive's employment with the
Company. The Executive shall at all times comply, and shall assist the Company to comply, with all applicable laws relating to privacy and the
collection, use and disclosure of Personal Information in all applicable jurisdictions, including but not limited to the Personal Information Protection Act
(Alberta) (“Applicable Privacy Laws”).

The Executive acknowledges and agrees that the disclosure of the Executive’s Personal Information may be required as part of the ongoing
operations of the Company’s business, as required by law or regulatory agencies, as part of the Company’s audit process, as part of a potential
business or commercial transaction or as part of the Company’s management of the employment relationship (the "Personal Information
Disclosure"), and the Executive hereby grants consent as may be required by Applicable Privacy Laws to the Personal Information Disclosure.

ARTICLE 21
ENTIRE AGREEMENT

This Agreement, together with the documents referenced herein, constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties with respect to the subject
matter hereof and supersedes all prior agreements, understandings, negotiations and discussions, whether oral or written.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank. Signature page follows.]

ARTICLE 22
COUNTERPART EXECUTION

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and each such counterpart shall be deemed an original Agreement for all
purposes; provided that no Party shall be bound to this Agreement unless and until all Parties have executed a counterpart. Delivery of a copy of a
counterpart by facsimile or email by one Party to the other Party shall be deemed to be delivery of an original by that Party.

IN WITNESS OF WHICH the Parties have duly executed this Agreement on the dates set forth below, with an effective date of October 5, 2023.
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GTE Alberta INC, an Alberta
corporation

By: [s/Gary Guidry
Name: Gary Guidry
Title: President & CEO

Date: October 1, 2023

SIGNED, SEALED & DELIVERED

In the presence of:

Is/Warren Bell

Witness

Warren Bell

Print Name

longer material.

11

GRAN TIERRA ENERGY INC., a Delaware corporation

By: [s/Gary Guidry
Name: Gary Guidry
Title: President & CEO

Date: October 1, 2023
EXECUTIVE

By: [s/Sebastien Morin
Sebastien Morin

Date: October 1, 2023

SUBSIDIARIES OF GRAN TIERRA ENERGY INC.

Exhibit 21.1

The table below sets forth all subsidiaries of Gran Tierra Energy Inc. and the state or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization of each as of February 15,

2024 February 20, 2025.
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Subsidiary

Jurisdiction of Incorporation

GTE Alberta Inc.
Gran Tierra Energy N.V. ULC

Gran Tierra Energy International Holdings Ltd.

Gran Tierra Energy Resources Inc.
Petrolifera Petroleum (Colombia) Limited

Palomino Insurance Ltd.

Alberta, Canada
Alberta, Canada
Cayman Islands Canada
Cayman Islands
Cayman Islands

Cayman Islands

Gran Tierra Energy Mexico Holdings 1 LLC Delaware
Gran Tierra Energy Mexico Holdings 2 LLC Delaware
Gran Tierra Mexico Energy. S.A. de C.V. UK Holdings Limited Mexico United Kingdom
Gran Tierra UK Holdings Limited United Kingdom
Gran Tierra North Sea Limited United Kingdom
Gran Tierra Resources GmbH Switzerland
Gran Tierra Energy International Holdings GmbH Switzerland
Gran Tierra Energy Cl GmbH Switzerland
Gran Tierra Energy (Africa) GmbH Switzerland
Gran Tierra Operations Colombia GmbH Switzerland
Gran Tierra Energy Colombia GmbH Switzerland
Southeast Energy GmbH Switzerland
Suroco Energy Venezuela Venezuela
Palomino Rentals Rental S.A.S. Ecuador

Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statement Nos. 333-146815, 333-156994, 333-171122 and 333-183029, on Form S-8, and Registration
Statement No. 333-258433333-281161 on Form S-3 of Gran Tierra Energy Inc. of our reports dated February 20, 2024 24, 2025, with respect to the consolidated balance
sheets financial statements of Gran Tierra Energy Inc. as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows
for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,

2023, which reports appear in the December 31, 2023 annual report on Form 10-K of Gran Tierra Energy Inc.for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023. reporting.
/sl KPMG LLP
Chartered Professional Accountants

Calgary, Canada
February 20, 2024 24, 2025

Exhibit 23.2
Consent of Independent Reserve Engineers
Mr. Ryan Ellson
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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Gran Tierra Energy Inc. ("Gran Tierra")
500 Centre Street S.E.,
Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2G 1A6

Re: Gran Tierra Registration Statement:
Form S-8 (Reg. Nos. 333-146815, 333-156994, 333-171122 and 333-183029)
Form S-3 (Reg. No. 333-258433) 333-281161)

Filed with the United States Securities Exchange Commission

Dear Mr. Ellson:

As the independent reserve engineers for Gran Tierra, McDaniel & Associates Consultants Ltd. ("McDaniel"), hereby confirms that it has granted and not withdrawn its consent
to the filing of McDaniel reserve report and to the reference to McDaniel's evaluation of Gran Tierra's reserves as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, in the form and context
disclosed by Gran Tierra in its Annual Report on Form 10-K submission filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission on approximately February 20, 2024 24,

2025, for the period ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, and to the incorporation by reference thereof in the registration statements listed above.

Please do not hesitate to contact us if you have any questions.

McDaniel & Associates Consultants Ltd.

/s/ Cam Boulton

Cam Boulton

Executive Vice President

Dated: February 20, 2024 February 24, 2025
Calgary, Alberta
CANADA

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(A) AND RULE 15D-14(A)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED

I, Gary S. Guidry, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Form 10-K of Gran Tierra Energy Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:
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(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 20, 2024 February 24, 2025 /s/ Gary S. Guidry
By: Gary S. Guidry
President and Chief Executive Officer, Director

(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(A) AND RULE 15D-14(A)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED

1, Ryan Ellson, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Form 10-K of Gran Tierra Energy Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:
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(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 20, 2024 February /s/ Ryan Ellson
24, 2025

By: Ryan Ellson
Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President, Finance

(Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code)

Pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) and Section 1350, Chapter 63

of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C-8§1350), each of Gary Guidry, President and Chief Executive Officer of Gran Tierra Energy Inc., a Delaware corporation (the
“Company”), and Ryan Ellson, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, does hereby certify, to such officer's knowledge that:

The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 (the “Form 10-K") to which this
Certification is attached as Exhibit 32.1 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act. The information contained

in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have set their hands hereto as of the 20th 24th day of February 2024.2025.
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/sl Gary S. Guidry
By: Gary S. Guidry
President and Chief Executive Officer, Director

/sl Ryan Ellson

By: Ryan Ellson
Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President, Finance

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Section 1350, Chapter
63 of Title 18, United States Code) and is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission as part of the Form 10-K or as a separate
disclosure document and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the
Exchange Act (whether made before or after the date of the Form 10-K), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

Exhibit 97.1
GRAN TIERRA ENERGY INC.

EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION CLAWBACK POLICY

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Gran Tierra Energy Inc. (the “Company”) believes that it is in the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders to create and maintain a culture that emphasizes integrity and accountability and that reinforces the Company’s pay-for-performance compensation
philosophy. The Board has therefore adopted this executive remuneration clawback policy which permits the recovery of certain executive compensation in
accordance with the terms herein (this “Policy”).

A. ADMINISTRATION. This Policy shall be administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board (the “Compensation Committee”), subject to
ratification by the independent members of the Board of Directors with respect to application of this Policy to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, and is
intended to comply with, and as applicable to be administered and interpreted consistent with, and subject to the exceptions set forth in, Listing Standard
303A.14 adopted by the New York Stock Exchange to implement Rule 10D-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (collectively, “Rule
10D-1"). Any determinations made by the Compensation Committee shall be final and binding on all affected individuals.

B. COVERED EXECUTIVES. This Policy applies to any “officer” of the Company as defined under Rule 16a-1(f) under of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (collectively, the “Covered Executives”).

C. RECOUPMENT OF INCENTIVE COMPENSATION. This Policy requires that, in the event the Company is required to prepare an accounting
restatement of the Company’s financial statements due to the Company’s material non-compliance with any financial reporting requirement under the federal
securities laws (including any such correction that is material to the previously issued financial statements, or that would result in a material misstatement if
the error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the current period), the Company will recover on a reasonably prompt basis the amount of
any Incentive Compensation Received by a Covered Executive during the Recovery Period that exceeds the amount that otherwise would have been
Received had it been determined based on the restated financial statements.

D. CERTAIN DEFINITIONS.
For purposes of this Policy:

* ‘“Incentive Compensation” means any compensation granted, earned, or vested based in whole or in part on the Company’s attainment of a financial
reporting measure that was Received by a person (i) on or after October 2, 2023 and after the person began service as a Covered Executive, and (ii) who
served as a Covered Executive at any time during the performance period for the Incentive Compensation.
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* A “financial reporting measure” is (i) any measure that is determined and presented in accordance with the accounting principles used in preparing
the Company’s financial statements and any measure derived wholly or in part from such a measure, and (ii) any measure based in whole or in part on the
Company'’s stock price or total shareholder return.

* Incentive Compensation is deemed to be “Received” in the fiscal period during which the relevant financial reporting measure is attained, regardless of
when the compensation is actually paid or awarded.

The “Recovery Period” means the three completed fiscal years immediately preceding the date that the Company is required to prepare the
accounting restatement described in this Policy, all as determined pursuant to Rule 10D-1, and any transition period of less than nine months that is within or
immediately following such three fiscal years.

E. ENFORCEMENT OF THIS POLICY. The recoverable amount under this Policy shall be the amount of Incentive Compensation Received by the
applicable Covered Executive that exceeds the amount of Incentive Compensation that otherwise would have been received had it been determined based
on the restatement. For Incentive Compensation based on stock price or total shareholder return, where the amount of erroneously awarded compensation
is not subject to mathematical recalculation directly from the information in an accounting restatement, the Compensation Committee will determine the
amount based on a reasonable estimate of the effect of the accounting restatement on the relevant stock price or total shareholder return. In all cases, the
calculation of the excess amount of Incentive Compensation to be recovered will be determined without regard to any taxes paid with respect to such
compensation.

The Company may effect any recovery pursuant to this Policy by such means as Compensation Committee will determine, in its sole
discretion, which may include, without limitation: (a) requiring reimbursement of cash incentive compensation previously paid; (b) seeking
recovery of any gain realized on the vesting, exercise, settlement, sale, transfer or other disposition of any equity-based awards; (c) offsetting
the recovered amount from any compensation otherwise owed by the Company to the Covered Executive; (d) cancelling outstanding vested or
unvested equity awards; or (e) such other means or combination of means permitted by law and determined appropriate by the Compensation
Committee.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company need not recover the excess amount of Incentive Compensation if and to the extent that the
Compensation Committee determines that such recovery is impracticable, subject to and in accordance with any applicable exceptions under
the New York Stock Exchange listing rules, and not required under Rule 10D-1, including if the Compensation Committee determines that the
direct expense paid to a third party to assist in enforcing this Policy would exceed the amount to be recovered after making a reasonable
attempt to recover such amounts. The Company shall not indemnify any Covered Executive against any loss of Incentive Compensation
resulting from the recovery or reimbursement of Incentive Compensation sought or obtained pursuant to this Policy (or provide any
advancement of expenses in such instance), including any payment or reimbursement for the cost of third-party

insurance purchased by any Covered Executives to fund potential recovery obligations under this Policy. For the avoidance of doubt, no
recovery of Incentive Compensation under this Policy will constitute an event giving rise to a right to resign for “good reason” or a “constructive
termination” (or similar term) under any agreement between any Covered Executive and the Company or any of its affiliates.

The Company is authorized to take appropriate steps to implement this Policy with respect to Incentive Compensation arrangements with
Covered Executives and will maintain and will provide to the New York Stock Exchange documentation of all determinations and actions taken
in complying with this Policy. Any determinations made by the Compensation Committee under this Policy shall be final and binding on all
affected individuals.

F. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Policy shall be effective as of October 2, 2023 (the “Effective Date”) and shall only apply to Incentive Compensation that is
Received by Covered Executives on or after the Effective Date. As a condition to be eligible to receive Incentive Compensation on or after the Effective Date,
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the Company shall have each Covered Executive sign an acknowledgement and agreement concerning compliance with this Policy.

G. OTHER LAWS. Any right of recoupment or recovery pursuant to this Policy is in addition to (and not in lieu of) any remedies or rights of recoupment,
repayment, forfeiture or right of offset may be available to the Company pursuant to the terms of any other policy, any employment agreement or plan or
award terms, and any other legal remedies available to the Company; provided that the Company shall not recoup amounts pursuant to such other policy,
terms or remedies to the extent it is recovered pursuant to this Policy.

H. AMENDMENT; TERMINATION. The Board may terminate or amend this Policy at any time and from time to time in its sole discretion pursuant to
applicable law.

Exhibit 99.1
THIRD PARTY REPORT ON RESERVES
By McDaniel & Associates Consultants Ltd. ("McDaniel") - (Independent Qualified Reserves Evaluator)
This report is provided to satisfy the requirements contained in Item 1202(a)(8) of U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission Regulation S-K with respect to Gran

Tierra Energy Inc's (“Gran Tierra”) oil and gas reserves as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, and to provide the qualifications of the technical person primarily responsible
for overseeing the reserve estimation process.

The numbering of items below corresponds to the requirements set out in Item 1202(a)(8) of Regulation S-K. Terms to which a meaning is ascribed in Regulation S-K and
Regulation S-X have the same meaning in this report.

i. We have prepared an independent estimate of the oil and gas reserves of Gran Tierra for the management and the board of directors of Gran Tierra. The primary

purpose of our evaluation report was to provide estimates of reserves information in support of Gran Tierra's year-end reserves reporting requirements under U.S. Securities
Regulation S-K and for other internal business and financial needs of Gran Tierra.

ii. We estimated the reserves of Gran Tierra as at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024. The completion date of our report is January 23, 2024 January 23, 2025.

iii. McDaniel evaluated 100% of the reserves of Gran Tierra.

The following table sets forth the net after royalty reserves of Gran Tierra which were 100% oil: Tierra:

Crude :Z::C:sf Crude Natural NaGt:;al Oil ';:::Ceosf
Category Category oil Evaluated, Category oil Gas Liquids Equivalent Evaluated,
Mbbl % Mbbl MMcf Mbbl MBOE (3 %
Proved Proved Proved
Developed Developed Developed
Colombia Colombia 38,942 100 Colombia 34,151 — — 34,151 100
Ecuador Ecuador 657 100 Ecuador 1,752 — — 1,752 100
Canada Canada 5,730 93,028 10,938 32,173 100
Undeveloped  Undeveloped Undeveloped
Colombia Colombia 30,725 100 Colombia 29,546 — — 29,546 100
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Ecuador Ecuador 3,972 100 Ecuador 7,740 — — 7,740 100

Canada Canada 4,178 89,268 10,589 29,645 100
Total Proved  Total Proved 74,296 100 Total Proved 83,097 182,296 21,527 135,007 100
Probable Probable Probable

Developed Developed Developed

Colombia Colombia 12,000 100 Colombia 8,860 — — 8,860 100

Ecuador Ecuador 138 100 Ecuador 455 — — 455 100

Canada Canada 1,512 29,791 3,323 9,800 100
Undeveloped = Undeveloped Undeveloped

Colombia Colombia 28,243 100 Colombia 25,195 — — 25,195 100

Ecuador Ecuador 5,866 100 Ecuador 8,135 — — 8,135 100

Canada Canada 7,665 170,053 17,408 53,415 100
Total Probable Total Probable 46,247 100 Total Probable 51,822 199,844 20,731 105,860 100
Possible Possible Possible

Developed Developed Developed

Colombia Colombia 11,211 100 Colombia 7,228 — — 7,228 100

Ecuador Ecuador 151 100 Ecuador 563 = = 563 100

Canada Canada 1,983 31,880 3,555 10,851 100
Undeveloped  Undeveloped Undeveloped

Colombia Colombia 30,292 100 Colombia 27,382 — — 27,382 100

Ecuador Ecuador 6,852 100 Ecuador 8,517 — — 8,517 100

Canada Canada 2,967 64,599 6,350 20,084 100

Total Possible Total Possible 48,506 100 Total Possible 48,640 96,479 9,905 74,625 100

iv. As noted in item iii., our evaluation covered 100% of the reserves of Gran Tierra. The assumptions, methods, and procedures followed in the evaluation reflect the
standards set out in the Canadian Oil and Gas Evaluation Handbook (the "COGE Handbook") modified as necessary to conform to the standards under the U.S. Financial

Accounting Standards Board policies (the “FASB Standards”) and the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission Regulations (“SEC requirements”).

Data used in our evaluation of Gran Tierra's reserves was obtained from regulatory agencies, public sources, and Gran Tierra personnel
and Gran Tierra files. In the preparation of our report, we have accepted as presented, and have relied, without independent verification, upon a
variety of information furnished by Gran Tierra such as interests and burdens on properties, recent production volumes, product transportation,
and marketing and sales agreements, historical revenue, capital costs, operating expense data, budget forecasts and capital cost estimates
and well data for recently drilled wells. If in the course of our evaluation, the validity or sufficiency of any material information was brought into
question; we did not rely on such information until such concerns were resolved to our satisfaction.

Gran Tierra warranted in a representation letter to us that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, all data furnished to us was accurate in
all material respects, and no material data relevant to our evaluation was omitted.

A field examination of the evaluated properties was not performed, nor was it considered necessary for our report.

In our opinion, estimates provided in our report have, in all material respects, been determined in accordance with the applicable industry
standards, and results provided in our report and summarized herein are appropriate for inclusion in filings under Regulation S-K.
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v. As required under SEC Regulation S-X, reserves are those quantities of oil and gas that are estimated to be economically producible under existing economic
conditions. The primary economic assumptions relate to pricing, capital and operating costs, recoverable volumes and production forecasts.

As specified, in determining economic production, constant product benchmark prices are to be based on a 12-month average price,
calculated as the unweighted arithmetic average of the first-day-of-the-month price for each month within the 12-month period prior to the
effective date of our report unless prices are defined by contractual or other regulatory arrangements. The relevant benchmark prices for Gran
Tierra's reserves isare Brent Blend Crude Oil FOB North Sea at $82.51 USD/USD$80.42/bbl, Edmonton Light Crude of C$98.01/bbl , Alberta
AECO spot price of C$1.46/MMBtu, Edmonton Propane C$30.46/bbl, Edmonton Butane C$48.39/bbl and Edmonton Condensate
C$100.83/bbl.

The product prices that were used to determine the future gross revenue for each property reflect adjustments to the benchmark prices for
gravity, quality, local conditions, and/or distance from market, referred to herein as “differentials.” The differentials used in the preparation of this

report estimated from received price information provided by Gran Tierra.

The average realized prices for Gran Tierra's reserves in the report are:

Oil ($/boe) - Colombia $ 68.07
Oil (USD/bbl) ($/boe) - Colombia Ecuador |$ 69.91 |
(I)il (USD/bbl) ($/boe) - Ecuador Canada ($77.4467.16 |
Natural Gas ($/Mcf) - Canada $ 0.93
Condensate ($/boe) - Canada $ 72.55
NGLs ($/boe) - Canada $ 21.94

In our economic analysis, operating and capital costs are those costs estimated as applicable at the effective date of our report, with no
future escalation. Where deemed appropriate, the capital costs and revised operating costs associated with the implementation of committed
projects designed to modify specific field operations in the future may be included in economic projections. Capital costs used in this report
were provided by Gran Tierra and actual costs from recent activity. Capital costs are included as required for workovers, new development
wells, and production equipment. Based on our understanding of future development plans, a review of the records provided to us, and our
knowledge of similar properties, we regard these estimated capital costs to be reasonable. Abandonment costs were assigned to the
abandonment of wells assigned reserves, including future wells.

Reserves were assigned by volumetric, material balance, decline analysis or analogy where considered appropriate. In many cases, where
sufficient data were available, a combination of the methods were applied.

Test data and other related information were used to estimate the anticipated initial production rates for those wells or analogous locations.
For reserves not yet on production, forecast sales were estimated to commence at an anticipated date furnished by Gran Tierra. Wells or
locations that are not currently producing may start producing earlier or later than anticipated in our estimates due to unforeseen factors
causing a change in the timing to initiate production. Such factors may include delays due to weather, the availability of rigs, the sequence of
drilling, completing and/or recompleting wells and/or constraints set by regulatory bodies.

The future production rates from wells currently on production or wells or locations that are not currently producing may be more or less
than estimated because of changes including, but not limited to, reservoir performance, operating

conditions related to surface facilities, compression and artificial lift, pipeline capacity and/or operating conditions, producing market
demand and/or allowables or other constraints set by regulatory bodies.

vi. Our report has been prepared assuming the continuation of existing regulatory and fiscal conditions subject to the guidance in the COGE Handbook and SEC
regulations. Notwithstanding that Gran Tierra currently has regulatory approval to produce the reserves identified in our report, there is no assurance that changes in
regulation will not occur; such changes, which cannot reliably be predicted, could impact Gran Tierra's ability to recover the estimated reserves.
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vii. Oil and gas reserves estimates have an inherent degree of associated uncertainty the extent of which is affected by many factors. Reserves estimates will vary due to
the limited and imprecise nature of data upon which the estimates of reserves are predicated. Moreover, the methods and data used in estimating reserves are often
necessarily indirect or analogical in character rather than direct or deductive. Furthermore, the persons involved in the preparation of

reserves estimates and associated information are required, in applying geosciences, petroleum engineering and evaluation principles, to
make numerous unbiased judgments based upon their educational background, professional training, and professional experience. The extent
and significance of the judgments to be made are, in themselves, sufficient to render reserves estimates inherently imprecise. Reserves
estimates may change substantially as additional data becomes available and as economic conditions impacting oil and gas prices and costs
change. Reserves estimates will also change over time due to other factors such as knowledge and technology, fiscal and economic conditions,
contractual, statutory and regulatory provisions.

viii. In our opinion, the reserves information evaluated by us have, in all material respects, been determined in accordance with all appropriate data, assumptions, methods and
procedures applicable for the filing of reserves information under U.S. SEC Regulation S-K. All methods and procedures we considered necessary under the circumstances
to prepare the report were used.

ix. A summary of Gran Tierra's reserves evaluated by us is provided in item iii.

McDaniel is a private firm established in 1955 whose business is the provision of independent geological and engineering services to the petroleum industry. McDaniel is among the
largest evaluation firms in North America with over 60 professional and technical support personnel. Mr. Boulton coordinated the evaluation and is a qualified, independent reserves
evaluator as defined in COGE Handbook, and a registered Practicing Professional Engineer in the Province of Alberta. Mr. Boulton has over 10 years of experience in the evaluation
of oil and gas reserves and resources and has been employed at McDaniel as an evaluator/auditor since 2006.

McDaniel & Associates Consultants Ltd.
2000, Eighth Avenue Place, East Tower,
525 — 8 Avenue SW,

Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2P 1G1

Dated: February 20, 2024 February 24, 2025

/s/ Cam Boulton

Cam Boulton

Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer
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DISCLAIMER

THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES DELTA REPORT™ IS A COMPARISON OF TWO
FINANCIALS PERIODIC REPORTS. THERE MAY BE MATERIAL ERRORS, OMISSIONS, OR INACCURACIES IN THE REPORT INCLUDING
THE TEXT AND THE COMPARISON DATA AND TABLES. IN NO WAY DOES REFINITIV OR THE APPLICABLE COMPANY ASSUME ANY
RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY INVESTMENT OR OTHER DECISIONS MADE BASED UPON THE INFORMATION PROVIDED IN THIS
REPORT. USERS ARE ADVISED TO REVIEW THE APPLICABLE COMPANY'S ACTUAL SEC FILINGS BEFORE MAKING ANY INVESTMENT
OR OTHER DECISIONS.

©2025, Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Patents Pending.
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